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Chapter 1

Abject panic permeated every nery
uncomprehendingly at the instrument
seen the artificial horizon look like that before. The altimeter wasgohg and a
warning light was flashing a ruby red. He thought he had recovered from the roll,
but he could feel the centrifugal force pressing him sideways. He had to level off
and do it quickly. This was no flight simulator. A wrong move could nuesath
Instinctively he looked up to orient himself through the windshield but saw
nothing but white.

His twin engine Seminole was almost brand new. It $tate of the art
avionics andan excellent reputation assturdy, reliable performett should, for
what it cost himi ov e r hal f a million bucks.
aircraft, he knew, but with him. He had to correct this. They were descending at a
rapid pace. Too rapid. He wanted to pull back on the stick to gain altitude, but he
wasnot s utheg were lright dide up or upside down as they were still
rolling. If he pulled back on the stick he might actually accelerate the downward
speed. He had no time to reason it out. He pulled back on the stick and felt the
plane lurch.

AiYoubre gwsngy s or karmmedd the voice
of fear filled the cockpit.

*k*k

Ralph Morgan stood before the Vice President of Sales wondering

whet her he was about to be fired. A s
profits had sunk to arllatime low.
ifiHave a seat, Ral ph, 60 the V. P. S

was short and tending toward matronly in her appearance. Some Indian womer
her age still wore saris and lots of gold jewelry, but she was dressed in a smar
slacks and fuse outfit of western design. Small stud earrings were the only
jewels she wore besides her wedding
Legal . o

This remark did not reassure Morgan. He had a contract. Were they
trying to find a way to break it? He sdthe V.P. offered him coffee or tea. This
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was a good sign. That 6s not somet hi
someone. He declined with a polite
Legal turned out to be Sally Brolin, a senior counsel from their own legal
departmentAdvanced Photolithics Inc. was a Fortune 500 company and could
have hired outside counsel, but they considered this an internal matter. Brolin
arrived i n a rush, somet hing char ac
| at e ,said wihiowt further eplanation and took a seat without it being
offered. She had a coffee cup in one hand and a sheaf of papers in th éther,
| 6m Bralih,loy she said to Mor gtsitentiwi t h a r
nLetds get right to it, shall we?
making eight million a year in profits from sales of spare pafte chip
companies are buying elsewhere. Our systems are still selling well, but not the
replacement partdjustgot | ast quarterds numbers
to be less than five million for the year. And the trend is downward. It will be
even less next year unless we figure out how to stop the Blatfle.gross sales
and profit margin are dowrR a | pJe empha8ized to you the importance of
i mproving your uni tés performance f
done to address this?0
Morgan was on the spot. He had e
sure why Legal was there. This threw him off hasrge a bit. He looked at Brolin
before replying. He assessed her age as early forties. She was an attractiv
brunette with a trim figure nicely displayed in designer jeansastbeveless
turtleneck topLarge glasses, probably also a designer label, ddedrher face.
ilébve talked to every customer p
same everywhere. Our prices arenot
theydébre getting their spare parts. I
youifyoucoud match the prices of our curr
t he bone. We 0 almosthalf bun marttsdt gostrowe | [biuntg we 6 r
losing market shar€On mostof thoseparts we sell abnly ten percent over our
productioncosts. Thatl o e ®werficover our engineering costs, commissjars
over head. We 6 r eMary partd dre stillcsallinghag thesr adrneak .
prices and markups, but it seems like fewer and fewer fall in that category every

mont h. [ d anyobet cansaikeeour Ipartsvand make a profit at lower
prices. The costs to reverse enginee

The V. P. interrupted. il 6ve brou
Ral ph. Youbdbve done all you can do f

ripping us off. | suspect the Chinese. Maybe they hacked our system and got our
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engineering drawings. We know their labor costs are much |dWerneed to
find out where our customers are get
i No way, O Mor ganométt ohagd. t AEhen

capability. Our systems need a preci
one company that can match us in quaktyp d  tRhbadn &rgyineering. He
turned to Brolin. iTheydre runethey f

were increasing their market share at our expense, but we had one of thei
engineers come to Uast weelooking for his old job back. He said Rabcon was
losing sales too, and had to lay off some emplogees.

Brolin noddedapprovingly it hat 6 s wus elféuvle taol rkenaody
to our Security Directoan bout a pri vate investigat
knows a guy who used to specialize in this kind of stuff. Cliff Knowles. You
know hi m?0

Morgan shook his head no.

il ¢ h e c ltedd haba good ceputation. He has a law office not far
from herei in Los AltosHe 6 s agreed to meet with
join us. I 61 1 have the Security Dire

AFine. 16l1 be there,d Morgan rep

*k*k

AThat has to be it, o ClifdlHewasd ¢
referring toa plastic tube, a short length of PVC pipe, Ellen had found a few
minutes earlier. The tube was painted a mottled brown color to blend in to the
coloring of the tre¢runk on which it was fastened.

Ellen rolled the stroller a foot deeper into the shade. Tommy fussed if he
got direct sunlightonhimi Di d you see anything on |
No, just an .edmpty painted tube
You think weovree istuZpoposed t o mo
No,fiixeédds sol i dly to the tree tru

Cliff and Ellen were geocaching, a hobby they sha@sbcachers hide
containers, called caches, and postGRScoordinates on a website. Each cache
has its own web page. The hider, or owner of theaagbsts a description and
usually some hints on the page. Other geocachers then go out to try to find thes
caches and sign the | ogbooks i nfThe de
caches are left in place for others to fiG@ocaches can be easyhard, small or

1 S 1 S 1}
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large. They could be a Hidk-Key under a mailbox or a surplus army
ammunition box tucked in rocks on a mountain top.

The cache they were looking for today was a rudtihe, a type where
only the initial coordinates are posted on théwage.Findersare required to go
to that location and find somethifigsomething not described on the page in this
casel and use that to locate the next stage. The description said it was a two
stage multi and in the attribute section had an icon for @ fiezzle. A typical
multi would normally havehe coordinates to the next stage in or on the first
stage, or else the description on the web page would tell you how to derive therr
from stage one, such as by taking the difyisn a plaque. This one requiteéhe
geocacher to figure out how to getthe seconddiage di dnét s.ay
Hence, the puzzle.

iStay with Tommy. Il 6m going to ta
to the tree while CIiff stayed by the stroller.

Cliff beamed down at his somd reflected on how lucky he was. After

hisfirst wife had been killed by a dr
cloud, heéd thought he would never f
Becoming a firstime father in his fifties had never bepart of the plan, but

t hen, t here hadnot been a pl an. Life

He watched as Ellen poked a stick through the tube then withdrew it. He
admired her athleteds body as she p
trophy wife 7 not in the traditioal male chauvinist pig sense. She was much
younger than heyes,but naturally broad in the shoulders and thick in the middle
with well-defined muscles. Her hair, once a light brown, was now almost entirely
a premature gray. With her height and bulk she was sometimes mistaken for &
man i f she wasnét dressed in obvious
was beautiful ad more of a trophy than he ever thought he deserved.

Ellen climbed down and circled the tree once more. The tube was about
four feet off the ground and mounted atay slight downward angleShe bent
over and looked into the tube. Maybe there were mgskion the inside. Of

course it was dark on the inside of
Suddenly she realized what she was supposed to do.

il 6ve got i til @o ngeh eo veexrc | had rimee.do.

Al candét get the stroller through

fi Lage it on the path and put Tommy in the Snugli. | need you to see
this. o
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Cliff pulled the Snugli baby carrier from the basket on the stroller and
strapped it on. Then he lifted his son from the stroller, causing him to wake, and
placed him into it, chesbtchest. The boy fell asleep again as he usually did in
the Snugli. Cliff made his way the fifty feet to the tree.

Ell en addressed him | ike a scienc
to a c¢cl ass. ALook thr ough telsanething bre .
that tree down the slopa clump of somekind I t hi nk t hatdos
is both a clue and an instrument. Yo
it.o

Al candt be sure.o Cliffds eyes v
thick glasses throughout his FBI <car

which freed him from those. The result, though, was visiondbatetimesvas
not quite as good asshcorrected vision had been.

AiDo you stil!]l have that | aser poi
they had bought after finding another cache recently. That cache had beer
cleverly hidden high in a tree on a motorized pulley. The pulley was tattiva
lowering the cache, by shining a laser light into an electronic receptacle by the
motor. They had had to find the laser first, hidden nearby, then use it to lower
and raise the cache. After that experience, Cliff had bought his own laser in case
they ever encountered another one like it. Geocachers like to keep all sorts of
tools and aids in their geocaching bags.

Cliff pulled the laser from his bag and handed it to Bée turned it on
and lad it in the tube pointing downhill. She adjusted it urtilwas pointed
exactly right. AThere, 0 she said. i
daylight, the light illuminated a dark clump enough to make it stand out from the
heavily shaded foliagaround it, at least when theld of view wasconstraired
by the tube.

Cliff looked through the tube again and this time could easily make it
out. AGot it.o

il dm going to go down there and c
keep | ooking at it. Once | mo v eYoaway
keep watching and tel]l me which way t

fOkay. Go ahead. 0o

Ellen pushed him aside to get one more quick look and pointed one hand
in the direction she wanted to go. She looked up and started walking that
direction. Almost immediatelghe lost sight of théarget Everything blended
into one big collection of foliage. She paused.
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ifiKeep going, o0 Cliff ur ged, peer.
your back, S0 Yy ouborShe looked like she hadva dniper t
rifle trained on her back as she continued downfillle clump was no longer
illuminated since her back blocked the lag&ter twenty yards she veered off
course and Cliff corrected her. i Go
you find it.edavadomnide wtamaol Iteor |. 0 1|t
stroller.No sooner had he said that when he looked over to make sure it was still
on the path. It was.

After a few more corrections Ellen spotted the clump and moved in on it.
It was indeed the secorahd final stage, the geocache, a Decon container
camouflaged with plastic leaves glued to its exterior. She opened it, signed the
log sheefor both of themand returned it to its place.

Back on the trail with Cliff, s h
signed his geocaching name, CliffNotes. He nodded approvingly. He enjoyed
geocachingbut Ellen was absolutely crazy about it and very competitive in
pursuing her geocaching goals. This one was a qualifier for a challenge cache sh
was pursuing. She couldd t l og the final chall encg
many other cache finds meeting certain criteria.

Satisfied with her accomplishment, she turned her thoughts to the next
day. Today was her last day of maternity leave. It would seem strange to be
strgpping on her gun for the first time in six months and walking into the Palo
Alto FBI office.

AiYou sure youbre okay wi t?hcadhavev i r
Matt pick me up on the way. o6 EIll en h
leave, but wagpromised that she would get it back when she returned. Matt
Nguyen was a squadmate she could carpool with for one day.

i No, no, itos fine. | told you |
| &m going to have to drop Tommy off

AWherebs the appointment?0

ifAdvanced Photolithics, l ncorpor e
right direction. o
AAPI . You didndét ment i dortune BOAHalf b e f

the chips in the world are made with their machiegs. you going to send me
another cri mi naQl icfafsées? owosrhke htaeda sperdo.d
for her beforeHigh-tech crime was her specialty, especially theft of trade secrets
and economic espionage.
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il have no idea. | adtonmdt éveoubnoc
criminal . o6 He had no way of knowing

* % %

iLet go! Il 6m taking over control
position in the right seat he quickl

wings parallelto the ground, but the plane was still losing altitude rapidly. He
pulled back on the stick and leveled off only 1500 feet above the ground. The
mountains around them were much higher than that. Then he removed the pane
from the windshield so that he cdudee outside again. Looming directly in front

of him was kolob Mountain.

He was too close to go over the mountain, he realized. He banked hard
right and managed to avoid the pe#iien climbed to a safer altitude. He had
waited too long before taking oveFhat was a mistake he would never make
again, he vowed silently.

iokay, |l et6s go back wup and try
know | can do this. I was | wskihed shirtl i t
disproved this sel§erving desription.Ner vous, yiemrdly.ia | it
Aldm sorry, iitds time to put it &

airport. o The clock wasnoét t he real
instructor hedd | ear ne dtilthey tveretback an¢he |
ground.This jokercould still fly his plane under VFR Visual Flight Rules but

he was never going to get his instrument ratifagk about pearls before swine:
Rot hmandés own plane cost Some mopletjusta n
werenot meant to be pilots. Unfortu
and free time could eventually become one.

As he directed the exquisite craft through the southern Utah skies he
soaked in the view, a view he never tired Dhe Virgin Rver snaked lazily
through Zion National Park to his right and Kolob Canyons to hisTéafis was
so much better than surveillance duty in Oakland or San Jose, drilling doughnuts
in the sky and trying to pick out ortan Hyundai Tucson from all the other
SUVAés crammed | i ke sardines on the B

It was time to give up instructing. With clients like this one, it was more
dangerous than anyt hiighgyedansdnitiie FBI.dHe lkad i n
his pension. He di diwddf hisrbeddies wanted te buy r €
into his plane modest asitwas He d6d have to give up
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when to flyif he shared ownershjput he could afford to keep the plane if they
split the cost three ways.
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Chapter 2

This was the first time Cliff hac
have floppy ears or a puffy tail. It was fabricated from Higth lintfree non
porous material and covered him from head to toe. He was required to wear it if
he wanted to enteregh c | eanr oo m. Actually, it w
suggested it. They stood together and watched as the technicians produce
another batch of integrated circuits on a single wafer.

Cliff had seen videos of the process during his days on the High T
squad in the San Jose office ofthe BBUt h e 6 d n e-aedrStillstee n
tour gave him an unexpected jolt of excitement. This is what Silicon Valley is all
about.

What are these chips used for?59o
Just for our own nntephiaéd.pufiRe
testing. They arenodt assembled into
producer. We just make the machines that make the chips.batch is just
going through the quality assurance process. The chips will be examined and
inserted into test unitéf the chips are good, then the systemisgbod.6 | | t h
delivered to the customer.

A Wh at are those tanks there?0 CI
varying proportions, all resembling tall scuba tanks, with brigbtlpred tubes
slithering sleekly up the side of the enormous device.

iThe various chemicals we use. |
used for etching, others for depositing or removing material. Wafers go through
the process multiple times to produagers of circuitry. The chemicals are often
exotic and expensive materials. Very

Cliff was having a hard time hearing hever the roar of thehigh-
powered fans sucking the air through the most expensive fibersn to man. A
semiconductor cleanroom was a thousand times cleaner than a surgical operatin
roomThe bunny suit didndt make it any

AThis has been great. Thanks for
down t o busi ne slyenpyedthedourChutitife wasnoney ferr e
both of them and he hadndét agreed to
the job was, exactly. For that matt e
He might not get paid.

Twenty minutes later, bugnsuits gone, they found themselves in
Brolinbs office. Ral ph Morgan was t
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security for API. Dyer had worked with Cliff in the FBI and the two had already
caught up on old times earlier that morning. His function waslynéo make
introductonsand assure Brolin and Morgan
worked hightech or white collar matters in the Bureau. He was there to oversee
plant security, the guard force, cameras, badging, fire and emergency exit plans

andte | i ke, and to serve as | iaison w
when the meeting was over, hedd bow
iSo if | have it right, o Cliff we

underselling you on the spare parts for thesehines of yours. You want me to
find out where your customers are ge

ARi ght , o Brolin answered, ibut m
they can produce parts of acceptable quality at prices lower than ours. On some
ofthese partswer e actually selling below oul

iCould someone | ust be manufactu
asked.

Morgan spoke up. AWe arendt | osir
ourselves. We can even keep a high margintoo & e . I'tds the
vendors make that are getting hard h

iSo are your vendors cutting you
your customers. o

iWebve thought of t hat , of cour s
Morgan ran his handervously @er the top of his nearly bald pate as he spoke.
He wore light wool slacks and an expensive tan Henley shirt, a bad choice for a
man with a concave chest and convex
Scores. Ceramics, rubber, metal, plastic, glass. Asedaheonspiring with each
other? And how do they know who our customers are? We have hundreds of
customers worldwide. Over a thousand, in fa&inost every company that
makes integrated circuits uses at least one of our sysid@s. d on 6t t
compane s t hat make our parts who we se
nondisclosure and nebn o mpet e agr eement s. Theyo6d
of many other companies if it ever wavealedthat hey 6d vi ol at ed

AfHave you thowgghthealmawntuflarcitugi mg

Morgan acted irritated at the que
materials, skills, and equipment needed to make some of the Paete have
incredible tolerances. The machining equipment alone would be proéipiti
expensi ve. And the furnaces fWer ctamed
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possibly do it all. We used to in the old days, the 1960s, of cobvseything
was simpler then. That was before my

AiWe think itédsinhef€Cbhbirdsefi®rBpos
Asian countries. Japan and Korea have the capability, but China has lower labol
costs anglentiful natural resources. With access to all the necessary equipment,
they could do it. o

fiYout hi n kwet hbo b kdg &an Mobj ect ed. NnThe
the technical ability yet and the J
low. Not only that, but the costs to reverse engineer the parts alone should make
it more expensive for them than our co¥t&e only haveproduction costs on the
spare parts,since the engineering is already donege t weodr e st
undersol d. o

AHow much money are we talking at

Brolin jumped in again. AMIi |l 1l ior
numbers, butsor e parts are a pr of iovertheeosts.er .
Or was . As Ral ph said, now wedre ac

Some of our clients think we&g8ystemsati pp
very tight margins. These syste go through parts like crazy, what with the
temperatures, chemicals, and radiation used internally. Even solid metal and
gl ass donodt | ast l ong in those <chan
replaced daily. We make a good part of our profit supglyint hos e .
appreciate it if you athautdur profit ntaminsopr e a

ARnThatdos a tried and true business
ashamed of. Polaroid sold its cameras at cost and made all their profits on the
f i | ne.read tlhaty Amazon sells its Kindles below cost in the hope people buy
ebooks and music and apps and sign up for the annual services.

il f you want me to solve this, [
continued trying to s ohave tb uralerstahdothieiedormomicsylie .
someone can make the parts for the same cost as you, for example, and you ma
up ten percent, then they could sell them at five percent over their costs and still

sell at five percent under your price. So how muchrofear gi n i s t her
Morgan looked nervously at Brolin. She nodded with a tigited look

clouding her features. AFour hundred

remember, we cut prices to the bane

orbd ow cost . 0O
Cliff whistled. A part that cost API one hundred dollars would sell for
five hundredIf someoné& an insider, for examplé knew the margins were that
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high, they would have an incentive jtanp into the business. There was money
to be made. Adt of money.

Dyer , the Security Director, had
make a decision. Are you willing to take on the investigation? And what are your
rates?o

nYes. o CIliff reached into his br
He handed it to Brolin. Lawyers are always the ones with the final say on a
contract, even though a manager may negotiate the price.

She read over the agreement briefly and showetidbdy rate to Dyer
and Morgan, whose budgets would have to share the burden. Both of them

whi spered objections i n heoutthewords, heAl t
could tell they werenodt happy.
Brolinspokeagan A Thi s seems hiegh.éo0Woul d
ANo. O
Cliff stood, closed his briefcas
want my services, sign it and fax it. You have my number. Or scan it and email
it. Ités been a pleasure. o

He expected to be called back before he reached the door, andl tturne
|l ook back at the trio as he opened i
be in touch. o6 Dyer stood to show CIi

* * %

Brigham Sullivan | iked his |job. |
academics anyway, b u with hi® [kadds. &lé¢ wes prdy b
twenty and already was as accomplished a lathe operator as anyone at the factor
He had a steady i ncome. Soon hebéd be
good Mormon girls in the areand he had his eye on one in patécuRachel
Wright. Theydd b e enlythe®months| butghe Wwas pretty sure she
was the one.

He climbed into his truck, a usdd150 with 120,000 miles on,iand
drove south on-15 one exitthenmade his way to the high school. He liked to
play basketbalvith his former high school teammat&ince this was Thursday
and the weather was nice, there would be a pickup game going. He almost alway
made it to theThursdaygame. He parked in the neampty lot and walked
briskly toward the gate tilve playground.
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The Toyota Tundra had been idling, its driver waiting for this moment.
He put it in gear, floored it, and let his foot off the braKéwe truck lurched
forward andstruck Sullivan at shin level. His body slid over the hood and his
head shaered the windshieldhen passethrough itinto the dashboard area in
front of the passenger sediis body still sprawled on the hao8in instant later
the truck hit a large speed bump placed at the entrance to the school parking lot
intended asa deterrent to the kidls dr ag r aci ng. The vi
downward movement of theehiclehad t he ef fect of to
across the ragged sdike opening in the windshield, severing his head from his
body.

Police later estimated the tek had been doing almost fifty when it hit
Sullivan. There were no skid marks or other signs of braking, not at the point of
impact at any rate. Tire marks and the position of the body, what was left of it,
suggested the driver had stopped suddeerhorsdslater, throwing the body
forward onto thepavement The head, however, hadmained inside the truck
when the body was flung forward. The driver had then driven over the body and
departed the scene. The Toyota was foabdndoneda few blocks away,
Sulivanés head wupside down i blood andbraifi r o n
matter scattered liberally about the cab as thougRoy Neiman had been
commissioned to decorate it with organic mediarental, the truck had been
reported stolen the previous eveminy a tourist from Sweden staying in a local
bed and breakfastThe driver was never seen again. The police chalkeg ats
yetanothe unsolved hit and run accident, probably by some joyriding kids. They
dusted for prints but found only those of theristuand his girlfriend, both of
whom had alibis, or, rather, one alibi as they were having drinks together at a
local bar on camera at the time of the death.

* *x %

Ell en Kennedy had kept her maide
was such a pain to ggour Bureau name changed. New credentials had to be
made and innumerable records had to be altered. Besides, all her professione
contacts knew her by her Bureau name of Kennedy. So she was not surprise
when she arrived at work and found a cake withithes cr i pt i on f We
EK. 0 Of course, she would have the sa
to Knowles.
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The name had been abbreviated to make room for the decoration
underneath the inscription. It showed a cartoonymadeof frosting with a
woman driver | eaning out of the driwv
the | abel AHel | on wheels. 0 This w
Ellenwheelz since by now all her squadmates knew of her passion for the sport.
Along candle haddben stuck in the cake where
dangling from the top of the candle was a set of car keys.

AiMy Bucar! o0 she squeal ed, grabbi
onto the frosting. i YsDhgeaptalyy sbh a dHleyg t

Hugs were exchanged all around, with men and women congratulating
her both on her return and on the birth of her baby. Of course she was obligatec
to show pictures, and so everyone crowded around her smart phone as she pag
through the photos. Bhy 6 d al | seen them before.
cloud and sent the link around weeks ago, but they all oohed and atahtd
Tommyjust the same.

Someone called to her to cut the cake and a knife was produced. She dic
the honors, still laughingVhen she took a very small piece for herself, one of
the women agents asked her jokingly if she was alright. Ellen, at five ten and
built solidly, had a reputation for chowing down with the best of the men. But
after Tommyods birtheshédewwsi dbt esmied
the pregnancy. It was easier than sl
and hedd |iterally sucked the calori
until the fourth month when shedd weanedehi mhe
undertaken a fierce exercise and diet plan that had brought her weight down to ¢
level even below her target. She was reofew poundd i ght er t han

when sheod entered t he Bur eau, al tfr
swimsuit model.

It really hadnodt been hard for h
insisted he | ose weight, t oo. Aihe, er

heéd dropped thirty pounds and gotte
back on over the lascouple of years. If he was going to stay around until
Tommy was gr own, sheod t ol d hi m, he
agai n. Heb6d reluctantly agreed, and
for the first ti me si n ghlftirgiamghripledcdib o ol
running mileage Hebéd even trimmed hi slondishl |
stubble to get those last few ounces off. She was prouder of her success in gettin
Cliff healthy than her own personfiiiness accomplishments
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Ellenwalked through the bullpen to her old desk and was happy to see it

cleared off, just as shedd | eft it
t hought someone was using my desk, 0
desks away.

AYeah, tmheF®Awadhere, o he replied,
first officcagent t he FBIlI &6s e quifivieel ewnats oufs ian gr
car to handle your cases while you were gone. They rotated him back to the City
to do terrorist work when you gave thehe date you were returning. He says
heés glad to be done with the commut
Commuting into and out of Palo Alto from anywhere wase of theworst
commute in the Bay Area.

Ellen licked the last of the frosting fofier fingers and sat at her desk
wiping her hands with svet wipe She booted up her computer and was greeted
with a boatl oad of cases, | eads, and
she exclaimed, letting out a sigh. It was half in dread efayalanche of work
and half in joy at being able tiit her lance at the forces of evil once again. Sure,
it was hard work, but it was the work she loved.
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Chapter 3

By the time CIiff got back to the office, the fee contragigned by
Morgan, had been received and printed out for Cliff to sign and return. Maeva,
his assistant, was always very efficient. She had a pot of coffee ready for him,
t oo, but hedéd ha dNowaHat the hgeeement waseanchand he /
could start to think abdinow he would approach the case.

After he signedt, Maeva made copies and put one in the outgoing mail
pile addressed to API. She also sastanned email copto Sally Brolin. Cliff
sat down at his computer and saw that Morgan had already sent hitistsvo
marked confidential. The first was of major vendors for the parts that were being
undersold. These were the companies that actually manufactured those part
according to blueprints provided by API. The second list was a customer list,
with a chart shwing the purchases of spare parts two years earlier and the ones
for the last quarter. The list was orddby the size of the dollar difference
between those two dates. In short, the companies at the top of that list were thos
causing the biggest loss API, the ones who used to be top customers, but no
longer were.

Cliff di dnot recogni,zhe vendorsThinvease s
not surprising since they didnodot sel
items. The second list, howeyecontained the name of almost every chip
manufacturer hedd ever heard of, ano
Intel. Qualcomm. Maxim. The companiasthe topall appeared to be American,
or at least the shipping addresgiven were all in theUnited StatesThat
seemed like it must be important. If the Chinese or Koreans were making these
parts, youb6d think Samsung or SMI C,
near the top. But those companies, big customers to be sure, were near th
bottomof the list because they continued to buy at the same rate.

Although all of the listed companies had a presence in Silicon Valley,
even headquarters in some cases, the fabrication ptarftshs,were all in other
states. California, at least this part of it, was too expensive in land, labor, and
environmental rules for chip manufacturing now. Intéle jewel in Silicon
Vall eybé6s crown and | ar ge made itslintegratea k e
circuits in Oregon and Arizona as well as overseas.

Cliff had an appointment with his tax accountant and would have to put
this off until he could do some pressing work from other clietats, but he
wanted to get the ball rolling. He replied to Morganthwa cc to Brolin and
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Dyer, asking for the specific individual contacts at the top three customers on the
list and a detailed description of the three parts at those customers where the los
was the biggesthe part numbers, vendor names for those padspictures of

the parts. Blueprints would also be useful. He also asked who was going to be
directing this on APIG&6s end, who ne
approve his expenses. He mentioned that he would probably have to travel to the
out-of-state IC fabs.

He went through his other email and checked his business account online
before | eaving for the CPAG6s office
vendors on Maevaods desk and asked he
could find on he top vendors online: location, officers, general background,
anything that looked interesting.

* % %

Noah Sullivan put down his power saw when he noticed the property
owner approaching. AMorning, Mr . Rot

iPl ease, mdlodahm. cilbiwds t he phaving ect
repairs done to his barn aedpanding it so he had room for two more horses.
His twin daughters were old enough to have their own horses now. If they were
going to go on family rides, théydeed four horse

AnFi ne. As |l ong as the weather h
schedul e. 0

Tim nodded approvingly and started to fill the feed troughs in the corral.
When the girls got their own horses, this would be their job, he thought to
himself. They did the afteschool feeding now, but he still did the morning one,

i Mr . Rot hman, uh, Ti m, you were a
AThatds right, Noah. o
AfUmm, | 6m not sure how to ask thi

Tim stopped what he was doing and waited for Sullivan toecout with
whatever it was, but the carpenter continued to hem and haw. Finally he

prompted him. Altds okay, Noah, just
iwell, you heard about my son Bri
iOf course. A real tragedy. How i
iltoés hoafr duso,n badtl mainly on my wi |
Al dm sorry to hear it. How can |

to do with his FBI experience.
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ifiSee, the police arendt doing any
an accident. But | dondét think it wa
Tmdi dnot l' i ke the direction this
and certainly didndot want to get i n\
But the grizzled carpenter hadnoét as
themangetitalloffhis hest . AWhat makes you thi

ifiThey said the truck was going ov
parking lot. The driver had to have his foot on the gas the whole way to even get

it going that fast. He never braked.
AMaybe he wasumlkci@rg.omrdrugs. 0
iMebbe so. | f he was, then the po

think it was intentional. No one saw

trucks anyway. 0

Timdisagreed,but i dnét want to ar gluehdalhm?

AfnCano6t y o, urofocalkike? Yot know the detectives over
t her e, donét you?o

This was not a total surprise to Tim. The whole areaouthwest Utah
was a retirement haven for former law enforcem&he cost of living was low
and sowre Utahés taxes. The | arge Mor
conservative, law and order lifestyle that appealed to former peace officers. Tim
knew at least adozen retired cops, deputies, and fédmg nearby The two
detectives in Cedar City wereoth former police detectives, one from Los
Angeles, and one from Las Vegase played poker with both of them every
other Friday. This was a small, tigkihit community, and everyone seemed to
know who was friends with whom.

AHave you tal kyeodurt oc otnfteem nalP@u tTi m
the question.

nAl I they say is that theyodore wor
hi ghest priority. I asked them about
except the Swedish couple who rented it. Whoevewa s dr i vi ng n
gl oves. It was eighty degrees that e
Tim thought t hat over . He may ha
citizen. |l 6m not ®ven a private inve
ACand6t you just talk to them?0
iAAl right, | 61 It ilmei hgsiete Gt pmpetmhe bue
t el l me anything. You know, catchi n¢

back. o0 He started to add s omeluhtheng
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thought better of it. Tim was as atheistic as they comeitanduld have been

hypocritical to be quoting scripture
should just |l et it go so you can ach

AWhoever did this is stildl out t
accident, it could still happen®®o meone el se unt il heos
not seeking retribution. OPublic saf

Tim chuckled at the remark. Sullivan had done a dsadnpersonation
of MannyMoreng one of the Cedar City detectives. He was also bemus#tk
fact that right after he had refrained from quoting scripture to Sullivan, the
carpenter had had no qualms about quoting cop platitudes to him. It was alsc
something of a relief that the carpenter had not seemed obsessdtenitise
and had not &e&d for anything more onerous.

iOkay, Noah. Li ke | sai d, I 61 1 S €
|l et you know whatever | can. o

AThank you, sir.o

iSure. o Tim finished filling the

into the corral

* % %

cliff |l eft work early to pick wup
you were in gridlocked traffic for an hour. Once Ellen had gotten through the
first tough mont hs, hedd been abl e t
she was back working ful t i me, hedd agreed to b
Tommy. His hours were going to have to changee coul d see t
putting in a | ot fewer hours than h

salary would fill most of that hole.

He showedupatTheesad6s house right on ti
After some playtime, a diaper change, and a serving of formula, Cliff got him
down for a nap. He logged onto his home computer and checked his work email.
He started working and when he heard Tommycrylieg e al i zed hedc
for an hour. He repeated the plajiapereat sequence. This produced an
impressively substantial spit up response, requiring more fatherly ministrations.

Then his phone alarm rang to remind him to turn on the stove and put the
lef t over s i n t he oven. Tommyo6s er upt
eventually managed to get the dinner started. Just in time, too, because not te
minutes later Ellen arrived home. Cliff could tell she was jazzed at being back at
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work, notwithstandinghe fact that she complained nonstop about all the cases,
both new and old, in her inbox. It was the complaint of theyéarold about
how hard it was to choose a flavor at the ice cream store.
After dinner Ellen resumed parental duties and Cliff finalhd a chance
to buckle down on his work agaiile saw that Morgan had replied to his
request . The three biggest profit d
pl ants and Texas Instrumentds Houst
stopped buying frorAPI were aceramicnozzle, aguartzring, and avespel seal,
whatever that wag\ll three sites had stopped buying those same three parts.
Ellen came up behind him, holding Tomnwho was having no luck
trying to get at her boob through her tee shirtlard a . Heb6d been w
t wo months but old habits die hard.

iAWor k. o

AiNot hel pful .o

AA client wants me to investigat e
just sent me |ist of the parts that

fiDoesoadnd | ike a job f or HeCtbnefvds Kr
playful.

AiThey pay well . 0

AiWwWell, then. Have at it. I s this

ARi ght . o

AWhat are the parts?o

Cliff was becoming mildly annoyed at the questions, but Ellen was
clearly back ininvestigator mode and enjoying . Why ? Ar e you g
hel p?0 he said with a touch of sarca

AYou never know. Try me. 0 She plt
coll ar. He 6 d thenscoop meekd thet way dowrdidewaysbelow
her breastexposing one bra cup and almost choking her in the process. She
shifted him to the other side and adjusted thdo&mk to normal

i Aceramic nozzle,guartz ring €0

Al 6ve got one of tethhasdandavigdet & fanger h €
to display heengagement ring, which sported a diamond that could have choked
a Burmese python.

AYouob6r e agslddykga yf,ors ma s & Vespsls ,s ewnahl a?t 06

AHMmM. 6 Ell en thought about that f
virgin, havendét you?o0

AUh huh. o
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fAfter their seals are broken, thiey e no | ongaminoe st
vespels. So they call that a vespel
Theydébre no |l onger virgin, either,

AExactl y! o
Cliff imitated the blat of a game show buzzer and held up his arms in an

X shape. Thevoi se startled Tommy, who grab
Ellen both | aughed at his reaction.
iokay, I 61 1 thest ard thobesseals Gdt coyne @uthduring

evening prayers and balance beach ba

Cliff, notbei ng Cat holic, took a beat t
chance. d By this time hebébd typed Ave

AOkay, I gi ve umaturddly B3 dhe leanesl averdhis g ¢
shoul der to read the entryVespdlsethe b e ¢
trademark of a range of durable higbrformance polyimidéased plastics
manufactured by DuPontt combinesheat resistangelubricity, and creep
resistance®

ALubricity? TOKCHfftsais Heabrougld wp aoditt®mnary
reference tdubricity on the screen.

f6é something that arouses | asci
read aloud. fnSee! | was right the fi
defl ower the vestal virgins. o

fi | can actwually r ead tormeg svighl af mocky o L
severityi That 6 s meaning number four. Fir:s

iSounds pornographic to me. I [
could have used that when | was sing

AYoubre sl owitmmg me down here.
fiGood.You chargebythb our dondét you?o

a

fiFor productivehours.l 6 m not on the gover nme

have toactuallywor k f or a | i ving now. 0

AOoh, that hurts. o EIlIl en plunged
her free hand. Al f youbre goi slegpdno ¢
the sofa tonight. l 61 | |l eave you al o
hi s head. afiQoiht,t Igee ttthiinng t here, arenot

Cliff prided himself on still having a full head of dark brown hair, in
contrast t o EI |degpite being fifteem ydans mis jungitea y
couldnét help but f e dskedmn onbe sleiwas olt afn d
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the room. Was she just joking, or was that really getting a little thin there? He

decided to check it with a handheld mirror when he got into the bathroom later.
He returned to the email Morgan had sent. The full specificataom

prices were there, both the original prices and what APl was having to charge

now. Also listed were the vendors for each of the martsthe unit costs API had

to pay for those parts. Two of the vendors wer8iliton Valley. The third the

one tha made the ceramic nozzleas in Cedar City, Utah.
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Chapter 4

The next morning CIliff drew up a
form a dummy company thatu ppl i ed spare parts for
website and flyers advertising these key paddook like a startugo the big
customers at prices well bel ow manuf
interest from them. He would then request a meeting with buyers from those
companies to show them samples so they could verify the quaktlywauld
supply him with original parts for this purpose. The idea was that once he got the
intervi ews, heéd wangle informati on
gettingtheir spares and go from there.

He called Brolin to set up an appointment to déschis plan. When he
got through to her, she suggested a telephone conference would be fine. She pi
him on hold and got Morgan on the line.

AWhat about Dyer?o¢6 Cliff asked af

iHe said to | eave him oupl iodfab. t hfe
many cooks and allthdie 6 s payi ng the freigomy f o
involvementfrom here on 0

AFine. Her eds my pl antengtandtplhsiarfekv |
parts for sampled. 6 | | need odrHewilnagisdgh auwtite of his
approach, although the details were a little sketchy at this point.

AThe agnéddrawingsar e no problem, 6 Morg

guarantee is there that theyoll tell
them andeffusydveo teldl us. 0
ANo guarantee, but if | price the

door, I think I canget a name or two out of them. Do you keep a list of the
companies you know supply knockoff parts, and their prigasr competitors, in
other word® 0

iWe do, at | east what we find wit
al |l have prices higher than ours on
hear d, the reliability and quality
screw fora chamber door hi nge that i snbét

contaminate every chip they make at least reduce the yiel@here must be
someone else out there keeping a low profideon our list 0

i Wel | give me a | i st along withkheir piica e s
l'ists so | can refute any BS they gi
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AfiHol d on, 0 BLetds bobkgetnahéad
right. Thereds no guarantee of resul
i nvest ment to md. nmn@emegr eareGte. maldiest o |
company €éo

Cliff cut her off. Ailf you want
more certain. Why donodt you just su
something and depose thalrthayersouf

iNot a chance in hell. Webve alr

farther than the first brainstorming session. The V.P. of Sales put the kibosh on
that immediately. Suing your customers is not a good way to engender good will
orincrease sales Not t o mention the facforawe

sui t. Ités not against the | aw to bu
dondét | i ke frivolous | awsuits either
may b e meedungbusinessf t herebdbs sometohing d

nOkay, so as | see it, you canbot
t heir parts and you canbot |l egal ly f

This is my planlf you have a betterone | 6 m al lonéar & el An an
going to balk atenthousand dollarlus travel, of course.

Alédm a | ittle worried about | i abi
these parts at these extremely low prices? And then what, default? Yowgebuld
sued for breach of contract or fal
ulti mately that would come back to wu

AiLook, you have to do something.
wonot make any | egal commi t méwotkdor a n d
you, not to your customers, anywaly o6 company o wi | | e X i
wonot be traceabl e badtkyouwhatim&l, | mstcar
thevendors My shel | company wi || be repr
havet o | et t he v endo ans redquineahem fo @doperatb ia a ¢
quality control inspectionThe vendors depend on your business and will do
whatever you ask. Maybe | can find out if someone else is buying API parts from
themo

Al say Magarreplied. He figused if the plan went haywire, he
mi ght be fired, but heéd be fired ail
nothing to lose.

Sally Brolin sighed audibly but acquiesced. The plan was in motion.

* %k %
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The next day Wwen Ellentook a closelook at her caseload, there were
few surprises. Most of her cases, that is, the ones where she had been the ca
agentprematernity leavehad been resolved while she was goseveral were
still there waiting for her to finish the investigat or get a prosecutive opinion
from the U.S. At t or ney 0 s newledds aneother T h
agentsod6 cases, too. That was to be e
when she would be returning to work, or even if she would be returning to work,
becauserigaye¢e @d d him she wasndét sure,
Once shedd given him her return idat
some shortleadlinel eads from ot her | ocations.
assign her as case agent on anytbiggvhile she was out on leavmaybe never
to return.

But there was one new case in her queue where she was the case ager
opened and assigned that very morning: an applicant case. When she saw it, st
was taken by surprise, not because she had an appy, as applicant cases we
known, since that was normal. Paldté\was a small office and did not have an
agentdedicated taothing but applicaniknown as appys in Bureau slafithe
local appy work was spread around among all the agémsappy could be
anything from a Supreme Court nominee to a prospective icl¢hle FBI.

What surprised her wdts classification: a pardon caseh e dd s e e |

number first, a 73 file number, and
began with theype classification, 7 for a kidnapping, 91 for a bank robbery, and
soon Shé& d n e v e a 73orcevek kedrd of one before. The offictalse
title wasfiMaureen Little, Application for Pardon After Completion of Sentance.
As always, appys were shateéadline caseand pardon cases were no exception
FBI headquarters would be mtoring her reporting in real time and demand
quick progress. She knew she would have to put this one at the top ofdwer to
list.

She pulled up the Manual of Investigative Operations Guidelines, or
MIOG, and read through the required steps. They wesdypmuch the same
stuff that was done with other appy csisecriminal background checks,
interviews with employers, associates, checks for substance abuse problems, an
so forth. Of course, reading about the original case, that is, the crime for which
Little had beeronvicted and is how seeking pardon, was one big difference. The
most important step, though, was the interview with the applicant herself. That
would be done last, after the agent had a good fe¢héapplicant and knew of
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any troublingareas. It was to be a quasiversarial interview. Generally, pardons
are not looked on favorably and only the most deserving convicts are granted
pardons the MIOG explained The agentés job is to
trying to dodge responsibility fotheir prior crimes, trying to avoid the
consequences of their life choicdsist because someone has completed his or
her sentence does not mean they are entitled to a clearBglatang the burden

of a criminal record is one of the consequences of caimmicrimes.

As she read, Ellen thought that this would certainly be something
di fferent from any ot her appy imshere 6d
office were associated with Stanford University in some,wayally presidential
appointees fedeal judges who went to law school thergtate or Defense
Department personnel from Hoover Institute, scientists or engineers entering the
Department of Energy or even NSA. By the time the case got to the FBI the
applicant had already been chosen. You yeallw e expectingdirt in those
cases and almost never found any.

There was another difference. Most of the associates and employers to be
interviewed in typical appgases were also associated with Stanford or one of
the defense contractors in the area like Loral or SRI International. They lived in
posh neighborhoods, or in the case of Stanford faculty, in toallkm faculty
ghetto on campus, whose milliglollar lomes were considered near slums
compared taghe surrounding areas of Palo Alto, Los Altos Hills, Menlo Park and
Woodside Ms. Little lived in a trailer park at thiar eastern edge of town, one of
the few lowcost housing areas Palo Alto.

Ellen next tuned to the serials that set forth the charges for which Little
had been convicted, and the summary done by the pardon attdimeyJ.S.
Department of Justice had a unit that reviewed all such applications and made
recommendations to the White House, siocdy the president could grant a
pardon. The president also had one or more staff members who looked at pardo
seekers with a different eye, a political eye. Voters generally did not like
presidents who were soft on crime. Giving criminals a free passwvado be a
hindrance come campaign time, which is why niederalpardons were granted
by seconderm presidentsThe ability to grant a pardon was one of the few
powers presidents and governors had
government ad thus it was highly political. In fact, Ellen knew, many governors
in earlier decades had openly sold pardangen for criminals convicted of
heinous crimesespecially as thgovernorsgot close to their departure from
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office. It was an absolute poweand everyone knew how that corrupted
absolutely.

The file said Maureen Little had been convicted of dealing drugd, ha
drugs. She was also a heroin addanhd an alcoholicThe list of her wares
included heroin, LSD, and meth among others, and in largaties. She had
also been convicted of conspiracy related to some gun charges. Apparently he
boyfriend at the time had been involved in a shooting while she was at the wheel
ofthe carth e 6 d bNoeme hadreen shot, but it was probably because the
drugaddled boyfriendc o u | shoob dtraight. This hadall taken place in

Berkeley twentyoddy ear s ear |l i er. Shedd been c
a federal prison. It would have been
and gotten a reduced sentence.

Her educational hi story was inte
University d California, Berkeley, as a freshman, which meant she had brains
and a good high school record, but s
prison, sheb6éd gone back to school w h

coll ege shedd tgteana gotten a degrae inausseklmgSa
teaching certificateShe now worked as a drug counselor in East Palo Alto, a
neighboring town known for its ethnic gangs and high crime rate. The file said
she was a widow with a son, aged thirteen.

Great, Ellen thought,a single monboozerdoper raising a kid on the
edge of a ghetto and counseling drug abusers. Why is it that you have to be ar
addict in order to counsel ot her add
optometrists with Coke bottle glsess.Some people are just drawn to occupations
that appearto offer help for their own afflictionsn the case of psychiatrists and
dopers at any rate it di dn OEllen was @an  t
inclined to give Ms. Little the benefit ¢fie doubt.

Ellen wrote out some leads for criminal checks in the various places
where Little had lived. She also ran the names of her listedockers and
references through FBI records and sent out criminal record checks grtdbem
It would be usefulto know if the applicant was still associating with known
criminal s. Shedéd worry about intervi
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Chapter 5

Tim Rothman pulled the pot in, his three nines beating the two pair
across the table. He was up about forty buckshe evening. He usually won, at
least when he kept his alcohol intake to one beer. His fellow players were not so
judicious.

ASo Manny, 0 he said caswually, A wl
read in the paper that it was a hit and run. You thiaktthd s a | | it wa
NfKeada st , j ust |l i ke a fed, o came tl|
you want to muscl e i n ,thenholdeuof thectwospairs . 0

looked to his left for support from his fellow detective, Bob Whitfield.

Whitfield gave a nod and a snort to signify concurrerné responded
more helpfully. He, too, was up a fe
be? The boy was a good Mormon and good worker. -\i¢elll. Probably some
drunk, or, more likely, someveakerhighon met h. 0o

Tim chuckl ed dut i f uaboutythe BBlin thaspirit y 6 S

of being a good sport, al though he
t horoughly wuncharmed by it. il hear
driver leftnoprints. Tha sounds | i ke maybe it was

AWheredd you hear that?0 Moreno a
father?0

AHedéds hel ping build out my barn, o

Al t és shamerdoeaWhi t fi el d a cdutnkadwHhaedd g e |
working family all aroundWe feel for thegparentsBut who would have a motive
to kil him? Sul l i van wasndét into drugusk an:
either He wasnodt in debt and there wasn
could find. No probdems at work. The tourists who rented the truck were on
camera in a bar when it happened and had reported the theft &8dieid look
into it. The excessive speed and lack of braking botheredTs. missing
fingerprints to

fiGang initiation maybe? Ki | a random stranger ?0
AiNah, not around here. Vegas, ma y
We donét have | ocal gangs and the Vi

way up here. o0 Mor enoashedsmissgdé¢hathgorg an o
AHow about someone at wor k? Was
someone el se wanted? Or maybe he jus



BEHEAIME 31

Whitfield continued to be the hel
Like | said before, he was a good workedaveltliked. He was a lathe operator
and not up for promoti on. The only
Trane. 0 He made air gquotes and an e»
maybe some conspiracy of the news media, had forced hine theusxpression
as a replacement for the word d6dsuspe

ACrazy Eddie Trane?06 Tim |l eaned f
table. In addition to the two detectives, there was a retired Secret Service agen
and a retired Nevada state gaming andradtoontrol officer. The latter stopped
dealing and looked at WhitfieldChere was a promise of a good story in the
name.

i H e gt andsometime drunk who works at the plant. He works in the
warehouse and shipping area. He packs the machine paitsadsdcand unloads
anything coming or going from the loading docks. He was in a hit and run two
years ago, and we suspect another one just three montBuad® had an alibi
and no motivdor this one 0

AOh he had a motive al | exaggemted , O
expression of shock. He paused for dramatic effect and looked around until he
saw that he had everyone on the ho
mo t i v éndoted addlammed his beer bottle down so hard on the poker table
a shot of foansprayed out the top, wetting his chips.

The collective audience seemed to find then almost as funny as
Moreno did as the raucous groans andc
room. Alcohol no doubt contributed the hilarity.

fiTrane with a locomotived he repeated in case there were any dim

bulbs.

fiYeah, w e got it, o t he gaming C (
chuckle gooehaturedly.

iSeriously, though, o Tim broke i
Just the prior hitand run? Didhe haave beef wi th Sullivan-

AiNo, 0 Whitfield said. i Not at al |

They both liked to shoot hoops in the parking lot during lunch. We thought

maybeTranewas in that Thursday night game at the school, too, but the guys

there said he nevefrfiftepnyretair si pd tdeed . ahha
school with them. o
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ils that normal ? A drunk hangi ng
Secret Service agensked. He was the newest member of the group and still
wasndt very attuned to the |l ocal cul

AOoh, Eddie was a Jack Mormon, O
explained everything. A Jack Mormon was a slang term for a lapsed church
member, someone raised Mwmn but not following the teachings, yet still on
good terms with his Mormon friends a

The gaming agent finished dealing as Whitfield turned to Rothman.

ATi m, the truth is, we have naeeislsilads
of ficially open. I f something comes
going to get closed as just another hit and run by someone unknown. You can tel
Noah that you asked about it and wed
to him just to | et him know itéds sti

Tim nodded in agreement and picked up his cards. Four diamonds and a
club, jack high. Hedéd go for the flu

* * %

Two days later Cliff was the CEO &E Solutions LLC, his shell
company. He chose the name because he knew he could give different
explanations for the initialas needed. The first such name expansion would be
as Knowledge Enablers, a consulting company. He arranged for API to contact
the three key vendors and, exercisingause in their contract, tell them that a
consultant would soon be visiting to
was foll owing APl &6s specifications.
were complaining about the quality of some of the panit$ switching to other
vendors. Cliff would be that consultant. The vendors had to give him full access.

Cliff di dnot e X p e clankyt with this step.vTae é
vendors knew he was coming, after all. Higin purpose was to familiarize
himselfwi t h t he pr oduct s Heanaeded toceg if thdreewer@ r ¢
any obvious short cuts to cheaper manufacture thahA##dverlooked, although
he didndédt expect to find any of t hosc
good game when he vied Intel and TI later. He still thought it was possible
some of the vendors were selling dilpgt o APl 6s customer s,
costs.Obviously they would not have any engineering costs since API provided
them the drawings and specs for the pais. If APl ordered a hundred parts,
they could just make two hundred and sell the extra hundred themddbkves.
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probably woul dno6t be able to find di
they were hiding anything, he thought his experience in mgapeople would
pay dividends.

He provided his new shell company information to Morgan and asked
him to notify all three vendors, the companies that made the quartz ring, the
ceramic nozzle, and the Vespel seal, that a consultant from KE would be
inspectiry their production process. They were to expect to be contacted within
the next two days.

Cliff had business cards printed in the name of David Anderson,
president, KE Solutions, LLC, Kingston, Jamaica. The officers listed on the
corpoamte registration damnents in Jamaica were actually retired FBI agents he
knew, a married couple now sailing the Caribbean and using a permanent addres
in the Cayman Islands. He had a standing arrangement with them. He paid them
nominal sum to use their names and they &wded any mail to himThis

arrangement woul dnodét fool the FBI or
the companies he would be dealing wi
real identity.

So far, everything was going according to plan. Maead completed
the criminal checks on the primary contacts at these vendors. The only criminal
record she had found was a drunk driving arresRichardBelcher, the owner
and general manager of Belcher Industries in Cedar City, Utah, the company tha
produced the ceramic nozzleSliff thought that if he had a name like that, he
woul dnot use it Balcheh had pled guilty & myreduted me
charge of misdemeanor reckless driving.

All three companiegppeared in corporate directories and many other
pl aces online. Their websites all/l I o
and pop operations. All of them westizeablelegitimate companies serving
major business client3he two vendors who were Idoaould be his first visits
he decidedThe quartz company was in San Jose. The Vespel seal company was
in Menlo Park. Both were in easy driving distance.

Brolin had asked to be kept abreast of any developments, so Cliff called
her on the phone to let hkenow his shell company was all s&hey agreed to
meet at B.J. ds, a trendy tegooverthjeplant
in detail

* %k %
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Tim looked over the array dfarnesses, reins, and other tack with a note
of di smay. T toibescheam Hencéutd geg agenilg older trail horse
for a few hundred dollars, but the saddle and the rest of it would double the price,
not to mention the cost of the barn expansion and the feed and veT hdls.
double that since both girls would mkeneir own horses.

He sauntered over to the bulletin board. Local ranchers and other horse
owners often posted for sale notices there. The shop owner, a grizatattlex
rancher named Tex, kept the bulletin board up as an accommodation to his
customersTim noticed a flyer fora chestnut mare, nine years old. It said to see
Tex. Since it wagune tourist season was in full swing and the shop was busy.
Tim had to wait for twenty minutes before Tex was free from customers.

AHowdy, Ti m, 0 ab¢€imappreachdd trgeeouritea | | y

AHey, Tex. [ may be interested i
boar d. I's that from your schoolidng Ti
lessons and horseback tours.

AYupaotally trail broke and gentl e

no rancher. Tim had a tecre spread in the mountains, but it was just for
scenery andiding around. Tex figured the horse would be for family rides.

Aiwhat 6s wrong witrhdhef? gbod domadt
ANot hing wrong with her. SheWes |t
candét put anyone over one fifty on h
AFor the girls. I 06m going to have
AHow muchwedaght?heflyheydre I ittle thi
iYeah. Delicate |Iike their mother
iPerfect. Maybell eo does great wit
AShebs not | ame? You have plenty
youbdd | ets htehrergewd sund emet hing wrong Wwi
i No, no, of course not. Not hindé v
chuckl ed at his own |joke, one hedd u

horse. We use her at the school with the kids and sometimes ¢touthe She
just doesnot have the stamina that ¢
need a horse that can go twenty miles with an adult male rider. Last week she dic
t he whole tour with this Swedish gal
At this Tkhendsup.arfSwedds h gal ? An
fivup.I warndét there. Nhe cobpbeycamle etd the h €
store and bought son8tetsorhat s and touri st stuff.
the tour. | saw they wagsr et endi ndé at b ei nogthetouw b o
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She was mebbe one ten or, bigger than your girls, | reckon. | tell you what.
Why donét you bring your girls for o
ride your ohavemhwifepsie s onlebdlolf 6éem on Ma
se for yourself .o

il mi ght do that. Was this the s
stolen? The truck that killed the Su

Tex stepped back and dropped his
Brigham. Damn shame. | thought that was a hitda r u n . I di dnot
stolen truck, t hough. o

ARA Toyota TwWwrndtialstpl Enhéapnpd. some Sw

ANo shit! That was them. They pa
store. I saw that truck myselifY.olu Afr

t hought there was somethindéd fishy ab

AfiHow do you mean?29

AiThey tried to pay for the hats
t hrough. Then they dug through the ¢
two, buttheytale d i n Swedish so I couldnodét wu
card, though. | thought that was odd. | think they knew the other cards were bad,
too. Instead they paid by cash, but they both had to dig through their wallets to
come up with enough. | thirtkey were near broke.

AYou think the card was stolen?o0
inNah. A message comes up if i tos
maxed out on credit or the card was
was odd that a young couple like that wouldbeasapi né by i n a
with no credit and almost no cash. H
buyind Stetsons? t®ihaaalfl odrn 6fto aadch?2edy be wu
ADo you know if theyodre still in
AiNo iThey. wer e st ayB avdi onaMesquitéh Way. B
Why? You arendt i nYoatwld megyautwasrmaliresk hi s a
nNo, no. ltdéds just Sullivands f at
me to | ook into it. He thinks ,bdik ¢
sad |1 6d |l et him know if | heard anyth

At that point a customer came up to the register line with a cart full of
horse feed and someone else was right behind him. Tex smiled to the customer
and said tgootTism mefiWhwdo®s wautibmdng vy
that tour. The next one is Saturday. Let me know by Thursdéycao reserve
spaced
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iSounds

| ater . o

BEHEADME

good,

Tex.

Thanks

f

o

r

t
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Chapter 6

Cliff was finishing breakfast when the phone rangwhls Theresa,

El'l ends sister. El'l en had already | e
AncCliff, itds me. Il 6m sorry to do
today. Ashleyds sick. FI u, I think. o
iOh great. I have an interview to
AiYou donét want hiom Shoe gsedu ntdheids . s
but firm. Cliff knew she didndét want
to have taescheduly our appoi nt ment . 0
il 6l 1 figure something out. Thank
ATel | me i f he comes down with it
Al  wiltlo. ybal K ater. o6 Cliff hung wu

he had made the quartz company general manager change his schedule 1
accommodate him. He decided to take Tommy into the office. Maeva would just
have to babysit.

When he got there, Maeva wastab glad to take care of little Tommy.
She was unmarried, but heavily involved with a Los Altos P.D. detective and
Cliff thought she was anticipating a future of motherhood and applé\fien
shedd been hired, hedd madjastasecretarh@ ar
investigator. His was a ofmaan business and he needed someone to do whatever
needed doing, including serving coffee and running his personal eriiautts/
it was babysitting. She liked the variety that entailed and never objected

For his part, Cliff realized more sharply today how unfair the workplace
ethic was toward women with children. They were always expected to be the one
to deal with the sick child or the s
let that deter him om his job, though. He gathered up his notes on the quartz
ring and headed off to San Jose.

Kimball Quartz was locatedn Baytech Driven north Sa Jose, almost
to Alviso, the small community annexed into San Jose in the 1960s to give that
larger city aconnection to San Francisco Bdye plantwas nestled between an
electrical substation and a dozen or so Hegth companies, big and small. Cliff
drove up in a rental car so that no one could identify him from his personal car,
which was a Tesl a model S. T e Silicens w
Valley, the land ofmegamillionaire entrepreneutsbut his license plate could be
traced.
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Cliff entered wearing a cheap polyester sport coat, slacks, and a polo
shirt, an outfit he thought would convey the right level of formality for a
consultah Kimball himself was waiting in the lobby when he arrived. Kimball
was a firstname as it turned out, Ouyang being his surname.

AHI, | m Dave Anderson, o Cliff an
in the car a half a dozen times just before arrivongd sure he would remember
t he name. Hedéd never done undercover

when | ying about himseipfiaybhbng kéddeg
his private investigator business.

Al dm Ki mball . 0GIKadnbtad | mpetof y @u e d
and reciprocated, silently congratulating himself for having taken that extra step
of having cards made. il am the pre:¢

just ask. o

AWhy dondét we star,to wCltihf fa < wgge sc
guestions as we go. 0

iof course. Very good. o Ouyang er
had made some sort of witticism. He waved toward the double door that led into
the back area.

The first area they walked through wabay of cubicles typical of high
tech firms. Most of the employees there were Asian, Chinese, probably, since
Cliff recognized Mandarin being spoken in one corner. A dozen or so workers
there were working on computers with spreadsheets and similar doswmpeon
their double monitors. One&voman was obviously making a sales call and
anotherworker, a middleaged white man, was looking at a paper engineering
drawingwhile he punched some numbers into a calculator.
What 6s he doing?06 Cliff asked.
P r e p aquoten ge isafiguring out our cost and profit margin for
another customer bid. | candt show vy

Cliff harrumphed as though heod
secretly glad that he didnbédgdalhe di
have.

]
]

Awell, then, would you pthispas & 4$leo
held up a small quartz rinthat Morgan had provided to him. Kimball had
already been told the part number they were investigating.

Al f you | i ke, kousee thath if/ | mdyoasky ¥ou mugta n
have the drawing yourself .o
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iYou notay K . | 6m doing the asking
answering if you want to continue ¢
haughtily in an attempt to intimidate KimballlG f f knew he cou
real reason he was there and al @ di
convincing as a technical expert. Af

complaints about your parts ofder@fomour
you are down this quarter. And the last three quarters. | think you have a quality

control problem here. o
i No, never! o Ouyang huffed. i We
specifications. API hasnot r et ndrthe e d

last time it was only because of a package being dropped in shipping. We
replaced those at no charge. 0

ALet me see that drawi ng! Maybe
Cutting corners. o
nWhat ?! That makes no sense. Wh 'y

scurrying over to a row of gumetal gray lateral files against the far wall. Cliff
followed. Kimball pulled out one of the wide, thin drawers and extracted a large
paper engineering drawing. He adjusted his glasses and bent over to make sure |
had the ght one, then handed it to Cliff.

nSee, thatods the original dr awi n¢
right on thetitle block That és an ol d part. |t h
That 6s not ev eYou en edibe hdndveriting. iISgme iergr
drew that by hand back in the sevent

Cliff looked at it. It looked identical to the one he had been provided by
Morgan. He opened his briefcase and pulled out a folded copy of the drawing. He
began comparing the detail of different sections bub ul dn 6t spot

di fferent or suspicious. OQuyang was
quite recognizable. He folded up the drawing.
nAl I right, |l etd6s move on. o

They moved back farther through some more double doors into the
machine shopOuyang handed him some goggles and ear protectors, explaining
that it was OSHA rules.

iAre you making APl parts right n

ANot at the moment. Other orders.

As they walked, Cliff realized he had no idea what he should be looking
for. There vere huge machines all around, making noise and producing heat.
Men were looking through some sort of window or portal in the machines. He
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gathered that the quartz was being cut or polished. He thought lasers were
involved, but the actual process was cofexavithin the machinedAt the far
end he couldeemore traditional looking shop tools like saws and drills. Most of
the noise seemed to be coming from there.

AnWe machine to a tolerance -iegef o]
t housandt h o fldeclarediwmithcphdefoA KIi mbsad s f us e
the purtyOver 99.995% pure Silicon Dioxid

Cliff noticed onenearbyworker had an engineering drawing spread out
on a table under a glass or plastic cover and was looking bddkdinm from the
drawing to some controls on a machine. He walked over to that station and
started to look at the drawing but Kimball rushed around in front of him and held
a hand up to stop him.

AfiThat 6s another customer, 0 he em
drawi n@s.ryl®m s

ANo problem, o he said, backing
theyéd been walking to indicate they
AQuartz is the perfect materi al
AfLow thermal expansion, | ow | oss die

Ci ff didndét respond to this techn
saw that itdéds better to be thought a

doubt. They left the machining area and entered into what looked like a cleaning
and polishing areaHe watched as a batch of clear tubes was submerged in a
liquid and then fed into a machine of some sort. Ouyang explained that the parts
were being cleaned and vacuum packed to prevent any contamination

The individual tubes emerged encased in pld8tic and then piled by
hand into cardboard boxes, separated by layers of bubble Tirapoxes had a
large KQ logo imprinted on the sides and top.

AfWhen you make an order for these
many do you make?0

Aiwhat do?yWe maeake whatever the or

il mean do you make any more? Do
i mperfections. 0

inOh, | see. Of course we do have
is for five hundred, say, then we might mdike hundredt® nt y j ust i n

too expensive to set up an entire new run just to make a few extra to fill an order,
so we make a bit more. Our quality is so good, though, we never come close tc
needing the extras. o
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iSo you make five twent hreemfdur ma
rejects?o

ifiSomet hing |ike that. Maybe five
giggle. He could see where CIiff, i.e. Dave Anderson, was going with this.

i Wh at do you do with the extra
demanded accusinglliff wondered whether Kimball could be selling extras
direct to the customers.

iWe destroy them, of cour se. Tha
I 61 1 show you. 0 He pointed to a bin
scolded poochCIiff f ollowed.

Within the bin was a mass of shattered quartz in various sliggieses

of what I ooked |Ii ke theydd been di sk
to it was a large machine with a conveyor belt and flat metal component looming
over the bdl . It wasnot runni ng, but it wa !

iSee, we destroy everything. Weboc
Not APIl , not anyone. Wedd go out o f
something |ike that, o r t hawe ¢onbe t®ld whate c t

Cliff had been thinking.

AiDo you have a warehouse? Whereds

Ouyang took him into another room through yet more doors. There were
large rolls of the bubble wrap and bundles of flat cardboard boxes in various
sizes.There were also racks of shelving along one wall. Cliff made a beeline for
that area.

fiThose arendt API p ar tV¢henthe Qugktam g
to Cliff he continued, ARnThese maw al
like that. Youan | ook. 0O

Cliff walked up and down the rows for over twenty minutes looking into
various bins and boxes but didnodt s
ring. One whole wall was devoted to huge quartz cylinders looking like someone
had frozen a baglard aboveground swimming pookolid. Ouyang explained
those were ingots, the raw material they used to make the parts. Other ingot:
were dinner plate size or CD diametdre coul dnét see into
shelf, but he knew that Ouyang, even & h was cheating API
been so stupid as to have any extra API parts on the premises when he knew a
API consultant was comingfle gave up on this effort and turned to Ouyang.

nSo what i s your explanati onwitwhy
your parts?o



42 BEHEAIME

il [ €0 he stammered i n respon
bring me one or two that they say ar
theybébre getting chipped or scratchec
sealandle t hem around to get contaminat

iWe have the | argest chi pmaker s
really think thestdhywassal ¢taraelfdscstd o n”
customers werenodt compl aini ngroahBRl.ut
Cliff tried his best to sound outraged.

il dondét know. Pl ease just bring
AnThey throw them out after theyov
just donoét | a s bers assthey shaulg, ori the failute eate oghtlh m
chips is too high, indicating some <c
Quyang brightened. i Oh, t hat 6s t
chamber. Then it must be some othergdrd.t our rings. Why

our rings causing the problem? It coube their air filters or a thousand other
things. o

Al 6m asking the questions!o CIlif:
get out. He coul dnét hold his own in
answers, but he may at least have put the fearodf i®o Kimball Ouyang. In
any event, he felt better prepared for the next step.

He looked at his watch and saw that it was time to get to his lunch
appointment with Sally Brolin.
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Chapter 7

Ellen reviewed the criminal records checks on the pardon applic
Maureen Little. She had no record after her release from prison, not even a
parking ticket. Before that, though, shad quite a rap sheet. Possession of
marijuana at first, then latdnarder drugs. A gplifting charge that wadropped.

That was whathe state records showed. When she looked at the federal record,
she discovered that the arrest on the drug dealing had been an FBI arrest. She hi
assumed it had been DEX Customssince most federal drug cases were theirs.
She searched the FBI onlinatdbase and got a file number, but the actual serials,
the documents describing the investigation and arrests, wetkemetThis case

had been prior to the computerization of the records. There would be a paper file
stored in the watern state archivasiless it had been destroyed

She requested the FBI file from the archives. Those were stored in
PocatelloJdaho. Some clerk would have to retrigz&om the massive stacks, a
repository that was eerily evocative of the warehoms¢he final scene of
Raiders of the Lost Arlit was important for her to get as much detail about that
case as possible before the applicant interview so that she could detect any lies. |
Little misrepresented her involvement or tried to minimize what she had done, or
flat out lied about anything, Ellen needed to write that up.

She then reviewed the records ct
teenage son, and references. Hehesband had been dead for over two years,
SO0 any minor records, like traffic, would have been téele There were no
felonies or misdemeanors found. He had worked as an elementary school
principal before suffering his heart attack. Telephone interviews with his
coworkers had verified that he had been a caring,-lvarling man who was
well-liked. He dd not use drugs or alcohol according to the interviewees. One of
them said she knew Maureen, who al s
drugs were going to be an important topic to explore in this investigation and this
was the firsi nput s handhdt. T9eosbrt hadchno record, but you could
never be sure with juveniles. Those records could be sealed if there were any.

After reviewing all the records checks and doing another phone interview
she headed out to do neighborhood checks. Little had livefive locations
during the fifteen years shedd been
area and she had already sent leads to other offices to check those. The othe
three were local, all in Palalto: an apartment where she and her husbasmed li
for three years when they first got married, then a house where they lived until
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his death, then shortly after that, the trailer park where she lived now with her
son.

Ellen went to the apartment building first. It was a story eightplex
dating bak to the 1970sPaper cups and similar litter decorated the forlorn
looking shrubbery in the front but the stucco siding had been recently repainted a
cheerysurflower yellow. The driveway to the parking area in the back was
cracked and bumpy from Califarna 6 s ¢ 0 nis &ctvityt probablynstm
repaved in decaddsever. The neighborhood was decent and in a good school
district. Ellen pegged it as middidass but a bit lowent, if that term could ever
be applied to any housing in Palo Alto. Whendine to housing, everything was
relative in Silicon Valley.lt had been ten years since Little had lived there.
Unsurprisingly, t he manager di dnodt
ownership in between and records of prior tenants were not transfemedhfeo
previous owner. Ellen asked if there were any tenants still living there from that
time. The manager said that an elderly wormathe secondloor had been there
since before his time and might know her.

Ellen walked up to the second floor and pustiee doorbell to the
womano6s apartment . The woman came t
remembered Maureen, and even still ran into her once in a while at the store.
This was a stroke of luck for [Isled en.
addesson any application, in fact identify and verify every location where an
applicant had | ived and. Someappcarttsethe e
ones with problems you were charged with ferreting out, would lie alloerte
theydéd | iowmediti mggtéhose spots where
payment of rent or arrested. I f t his
have had to look in old city directories or somehow try to identify apartment
dwellers there from ten years earlier wholdadp so.

AfDo you happen to remember when |
She was a tad annoyed the woman hadn
standing at the door before and would no doubt do it again.

Alt wasnot | ong & it wasrthe hext montheThat i n
woul d Maey &f 2000?70 The ol d womanoés
end.She was pushing eighty but stood erect. She wore a long skirt and crochetec
shawl that made her | ooorke |dfk eGyseerndidds

ifiShe says it was June of 2000. C
woman to state positively what the date was, but she was lucky to get what she
di d, and wasnét going to get picky.
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applicant mighthot have remembered the month that far back. It was likely an
innocent mistake if it was wrong.

il f thatodés what it says .FoutthofJalyne mt
that year. Bob compl ained about the

BobwasLi t t 1 eds h us bemaotlyg confifimatiors butves shey say,
close enough for government work.

RnSo she was |living here with her
ioOh vyes. Just the two of them. H
andthey movedintobeclws t o t he school. They wer

Ellen ran through the litany of standard questions about good character,
debts and financial responsibility, criminal conduct and soTble. woman was
able to remember the month and year Little had matgdwhich mached the
application.Shewasvery complimentary and positive about her neighbor being a
nice person and knew nothing derogatory. This meant less work for Ellen since
there would be no negative incidents to investigate further.

AiDo you knowfwhkhy fThhéey coul d s omet
Ellen was keeping her fingers crossed.

i Oh, t hey bought a house nearby.
store sometimes. She has a son now. 0

Oops. This didndét mesh \vollowthroughe a
AfiHave you been to her house? Do you
il was there when they first move
I stopped by once or twice afterlt the
was over on Louis Road but bch 6 t knowot Dk agddrses & .h
particular reason this woman should know that Little had since moved.

iOne | as tTo ypw &newledge nhas she used illegal drugs or
abused al cohol or prescriptionnglafugs
this question is very specific and always required. Any use of illegal drugs is a
major black mark, even a puff of marijuana, but agents could only ask about
abuse, not mere use, of alcohol and prescription drugs.

AOh sheds been <gilmraem ladvde slobewn elv

El'len gritted her teeth. She got
people just answer with a simple ANO
meant but the reality was that the
evey day and fAsoberd could mean she w
knew of a relapse, and didnot want t
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phrase their answer this way and if caught, claim that they never actually
answered the question as akke

fiSo she has never used illegal d
drugs, | take it. |Is that right?20o

The woman seemed irritated and pulled her shawl together more tightly.
ALi ke | sai d, shedbs been clean and s

Grr. Ellen was getting peeved. Whether Little had relapsed into drug use
even once was important to this investigation. She had to pin it down. r e a |

appreciate the time youbve taken, an
to clarify one thing. Ourheadu ar t er s i s such a bur ec
mi ddl e name, after all .o She forced

specific answer to the question about drugs and alcohol. All | need is a no answe
to my original question. To your knovdge, has she used illegal drugs or abused

al cohol or prescription drugs since

The woman | ooked quite cross now.
an alcoholic. Shebébs very open about
drink any moe . Sheds been clean and sober
t hat ?20

The woman thought shedd been for
her friend but Ellen knew this was the best answer for Little she could have
gotten. Confirmation that Little had beepen about her alcoholism was a good
thing.

ifPl ease donoét be angry. | real ly
Pl ease, can we do it my way? | real |l
you ever seen her use illegal drugs?

ANo! Of ceédrssa motod ot her . o

iOr abuse alcohol or prescription

AiHow woul d | know? | never saw he
i dea what prescriptions she has. o0

Bingo! That took care of that <che
need. 0 Yechihiecalolman still hadnot an e
shedd never seen Little drink, she n

barfing Bushmills in the gutter, but Ellen decided to claim victory on this one and
retreat. The importantthgn was t hat shedéd verified
derogatory information that would derail the application or cause Ellen extra
work.
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Ellen went on to the house on Louis Street. The tenant there said she
di dndét know t he app itl was het langlady. She mailédl y
the check to a real estate compamgt managed the propergso she never dealt
with Little directly. Ellen was able to verify the dates on the application.

There wasnodét much more to betogl ea
to the neighbors. Fortunately neighbors on one side and across the street kne
Bob and Maureen Little to some extent. They thought Bob was a fine man and

what a shame it had been hedd died s
about her and #ir son, too, and the interviews went smoothly. Ellen asked the
neighbors if they knew why Maureen &
found a smaller place, | thinko from

In fact, Ellen was pretty sure she knew why Maureen hadenh out.

Once she found out that Little still owned the houselikatl in the trailer park
she concluded that it was a decision
sal ary, she probably coul dnét , nodestor d
as it was, would bring at leasfour thou a month. Her trailer rental would
probably cost half that or less.

It was nearing lunchtime and she had planned to meet Matt Nguyen and
his wife Gina, an FBI supervisor in San Jose. Matt had texted Ellen that they had
changed the I ocation and asked her
looked at her watch and headed south.

* * %

When Ellen got there, Gina was already there. They decided to get seatec
and Matt could join them when he arrived. Gina took the leméing out the
window. Ellen faced the crowded interior. The noise, if not deafening, was loud
enough to make conversation very difficult. Both women leaned over the table
and kept asking the other to repeat. Matt showed up minutes later and sat next t
Gina.

This was the first time Gina had
from maternity leave. Gina raved about her appearance. Indeed, Elldry had
now managed to get fully ten pounds below herlpaby weight.

Cliff usually joined the group for tlse monthly lunches. He had
mentored both Matt and Ginaas new aggnessar s ear |l i er . He 6
work together on a kidnapping case. They had become a couple during that time
Year s | at er , after Cliffos wi f e di
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schizophrenic pait-forward, payit-b a ¢ k sort of way. T
monthly lunch tradition going, but due to the nature of their work, it was not
unusual for one or more of them to be unable to make it. Today Cliff was the odd
man out . léhddhdd td mektavithia client.

Ell ends antenna, t hen, went up
restaurant with a rather attractive
Of course, she hadnot asked and the
have mentioned it. Probably. Cliff and the woman entered facing away from
Ell endéds table and when they were sea
and Ginadés backs were to Cliff. The
versa two tables away. Theoman made eye contact with Elléar a moment.
Usually Ellen would have broken off eye contact when caught looking at a
stranger , but her curiosity was stroc
scowli she had no reason tobut she maintaineden gaze in what she hoped
was a neutral manner. It was the woman who broke off first, looking over to Cliff
and beginning a conversation.

Ellen continued to check out Cl i
meal. She was probabeveralyears older thanliEn, she judgedmaybe mid
forties, but considerably slimmer and certainly better dressed. The woman did
her makeup well and her auburn hair had a stylish cut with sbhilede
highlights. When the woman smiled at Cliffhich was happening a lot noher
perfect teeth almost sparkled. After some effort Ellen caught a glimpse of the
womano6s | eft hand. There was no ring

El'l en knew she had no r easofeeling o &
the green monster ni p attarihgatrthe waamsb |
much that finally Matt asked her what she was looking at. Embarrassed, she tolc
him that shedd just been trying to ¢
She blushed when she realized her water glassnwes tharthreequaters full.

She quickly guzzled most of what was left.

She forced herself not to look that way for the next ten minutes, and
concentrated on finishing her [l unch
finished and they were waiting for the check, she found herself staring at the
woman again. The woman ghtherd oi ng so once agai n,
break off eye contact. Cliff was laughing and having all too good a time with this
woman, but now she was looking at Ell&ihy was this woman staring back?
EIl | en had her reasons, but t he woma
Eve? Ellen knew that with her height and broad shouldetse could seem
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intimidating to some people ut she di dndét car e.ttryThe
anything with her man.

Cliff and the woman finished up their meal first. The woman picked up
the check. Ellen saw this as a good sign. If Cliff was on the prowl, which of
course he wasnot, she told herseltf,
really be a client. After signing the credit card slip, the woman returned her gaze
to Ellen, who now felt chagrined at the heavy scrutiny she had subjected the
woman t o. This time EIl en broke off
table and theyvere figuring the split when Ellen noticed Cliff and the woman
leaving. Ellen threw her share into the pot, which Gina was calculating.

Suddenly, Ellen saw the woman returning, without Cliff, and making a
beeline for their table. She had something snmateér hand. A piece of paper
maybe. She came right up to Ellen as though they were old friends.

iSo good to see you again, o Brol]
call sometime. Sorry | have to rudere,l 6 ve changed my num
the slip of paper to Ellen, who sat dumbfounded and unmovirite woman

dropped the paper in front of EIl en
ta. o
Afwho was that?0 asked Gina. Mat t

woman retreat.

Ell en di dndét eathepamer .a SbBh el anthsadil.adp k

Heds just a business assyaxubrte .f d
thesameway Call me. 1 6m Sally.

A telephone number completed the message.

El'l en could barely keep f usofmthid au
woman(she finally admitted to herselfr whatever designs she might have had
on Cliff and all this ti me as $omethinp ma
entirely different In the pastEllen had had a bit of a butch look, with very short
hair and a muscular, almost mascujibeu i | d . Shedd been mi
before and always felt insultedut that was always by meB.he 6 d i nt er
as her being unattractive. This was the first time it had bgem woman.Her
own insecurity Bout her femininity had been a bugaboo before, but that had

di sappeared when sheb6éd married CIliff

Cliff must not have picked up on
Hebébd been having too much fun. EIl en
havebeen consciously flirting but heod

with him and he was loving it. That dog! Oh, this was too precious.
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AfEarth to EI'l en, o Gina went on.
woman?o

ASorry. I woul d h a vfergotihartnanted Sattlye d
somebody, a business associate of CI
place her. o EIllen thought about | et
certainly enjoy it, but it was just too personal.

AYou | ookedrVvVedeysheddssbpoena, 0

i No, no. I't was not hi ng Gdmembarcher. | u
I f we all run into ead®h other again,

Matt and Gina accepted the answer and after paying the bill they all split
uptocoopl et e the governmentds business.

* *x %

That evening after dinner when Tommy was qui#len asked Cliff
casually how his business lunch went.

AFine. 0

AnFine? Thatos all ? You wusually 1
Your clients take you to nicdgtes while we government humps have to eat at
the taco stand. o

iSince when have you eaten at a t

Al | i ke tacos. 0

ADon6ét we all . o

iSo are you going to tel!l me mor e

AA tuna sandwi ch, I 61 | h a vegetapleasu k
instead of the &goamogho fries. | 6ve be

AWhod6d you eat with?0 EIll en manag

ilt was a client |l unch 1|ike | sai

A MAammm.LawyersWh at | aw fir m?0o

AThey worked i nNdtouwiet mta tfhier m.Id e

AR6They6? So ther eesesyoBos &Véeal khi
was a stickler for grammar and woul d

ifJust one, actually, o Cliff repl
your interest all of sutle n ? 0

iMaybe itds the fact that youdre

me how many were at the table and wl
emphasi s, fiwere male or female. o
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h come on. You have to be kiddi
nét even know whether it was ma
6m not jleval oustrautstalylou i mpl i ci
oudre blushing and stil!l avoi di
6m not b | u s thshontgd, and dof tourde ffelt laid cireeks
bunas he di d so. AANnd | 6m not avoidin
So what ?0

fdHappened to be a womano. Hmm.
pretty?2o

AYoubre not serious. Now you want

Aivery good. Yo u g osked if $ha was prette. Btill t h
dodging my questions, | see. She mus

iNot at al | . I woul dnodt cal l her
ol der than you. 0

AWhat?!! So now | 6ém an ol delfbpadag ? 0
that. Thiswasndt quite as Sharesohadto fimdilyecolar her n t
hair. She was tired of being mistake

i No, no. That came out wr ong. I
thinking | was out wih a younger woman and | just meant that | already have a
young beautiful wife so why would |

fGoodos&he. paused to see if Clif
di dnot , she went on. N"nSo she weaskhmot
fashionabl e cougars with auburn hair
il wouldnét describe her that way
uncomfortably close to the mark. Was she psychic?
And she didnét flirt witartyea? @
Donét be silly. 1t was stroictly
Some of the biggest s ouleechers tbd v e
Speaking of judges, howdés that c
trailed off when he realized hedol n 6t t hi nk of any of
been back to work a few days and he
still were open and assigned to her.

AUh uh. Not going to wotokrytochlange s h
t he subj e c tuslyhidiongusémethingoGome om. You called her old.
How ol d? Ol der than me, maybe, but a

1 e | S ! S
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AEI Tl en, come on. You know | woul d
a case with a client. That &t papdents.
not me. She asked me to meet for | un

nSo, now weodore finally getting t
guestion, too, about her age. So, this youngish woman asks you to lunch and flirts
with you &andigooudagé her. Tell me |

Cliffdos shoulders descended sl owl
hel p it if she was attracted to me.
talked business | di dnét ask for her number
Yu didndét already have her numbe
Uh, y e HenworkinumibérYdoou know what | me .
But she was flirting with you th
Maybe just a |Littl e, but you kn
flirting. O

i No, I di dnodétt hkenroew.wals tjhuosutg hd n e
think happened. d Ell en drew herself
coul d. frgoihgosthirty éemadley attorneywearing an apricot Tahari
pants suit, gold hoop earrings, and black Coach pumpstakeo u f lmh!B. J
You think that name was a coincidende@nd throws herself at you while you
lap it all up. Then you try to hidef r om me . 0

The ferocity with which she spewed out this accusation had Cliff reeling
at first, sputtering a completeiyn e pt def ense, but as B
more specifiat began to dawn on hirwhat was really happening. Or what he
thought was really happening.

AWait, you were there?0 he st amme
were goi nbgli. ©o Eri koés

AThey changed it. o

iLook, then you know nothing h a |
separate ways. Okagnaybe she came on to me a little, but | totally ignored that
stuff.o

El'l en pulled out the napkin with
She was stilkeeping a straight face.

Cliff looked totally befuddled at first. He turned it around ninety degrees
both directions. He even pulled out
number . I't was hers al/l right. HAWher

ADi d yourygbbadkdnyo th8 medtdurant just as you guys were
leavinl saw you stealing some of her fo

1 B | S} S 1
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Yeah, Heignorad thelgibé about the fries.
She came over to our table to de
Wait! What ?! S h e Amdditon hirh ie frontofths f ¢
wife?That 6 s ctenageass yourtder than she is amol offenseb ut h e 6
skinny little guy.l f s h e 6 dGinh evoulel havehdssassembled her limb by
limb.Or him, if heoéd eainowhateegehdp ptehnee dw oon
nDi pwad. She hit on ME! She gave
lasers at her all lunchtime because | thought she was flirting with you. She took it
the wrong way, apparently. o
AHIit on you?! You mean shebs €0
iGay as a maypolsehe Amads yfolui rtth onugg
began giggling, then laughing out loud. She was only able to talk in half

o} e 1

=1}

sentences she was | aughing so hard.
in. o Finally <catching her br ealff h,
Knowl es i mpersonati on. Aol candt hel
came on toMantet @as |l atlittlde guy; she ¢

Cliff Knowles.@
By this point Cliff wasblushing to his hairline. He was both leanrassed
at this revelation of his own male ego and relieved that Ellen was neither mad nor

di strustful. He tried to find the hu
AfiKennedy, you wil |l pay for this
sadistic. o
nOh, be a sport. It was funny. W
whol e time you were eating? That mus
ADid Gina and Matt see it?0
ifRel ax. No. They never even saw

windows. When Long Tall Sally came owand gave me the note, | told them she
was a business acquaintance of your s
lowered her wice again for the final phrase.

Cliff picked up the note again. After rereading it two more times he
looked up at Ellenwho st i | | had tears in her ey
your l ook and think youdre feeling
kissed her hard on the lips. She yielded to him immediately.

Any thought she might have had of being unattractivehkr brain in an
instant.Sor r vy, Sal ly. Yhe ypddh te thenbedroonmwyas sognp e
littered with items of apparel.
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Chapter8

Cliff spent the next day visiting the Vespmasal manufacturer in Menlo
Park using the identity of Dave Anderson, consultant from KE Solutions. The
visit went much as the previous visit at the quartz part company. The general
manager spent much of the time extolling the virtues of Vedpdlen he
mentioned lubricity Cliff grinned, thinking of his previous conversation with
EI |l en. The GM gave him an odd | ook,

There was one significant difference on this visit, though. When they
came to the manufacturing area, there was augtaxh run going of that very
sameA P | seal . The company had planned
visit.. The GM wanted to demonstrate that the seal was made to exact
specifications and with excellent quality control.

Cliff stood there for some timas the machines cranked out the seals.
They were rectangular with beveled edges and rounded corners, reminding hirr
of a car valve cover gasket. The GM had his copy of the API engineering
drawing and spec sheet laid out on a table. He pulled one dihibieed seals
from the conveyor belt and brought i
drawing and invited CIiff to compare it to the one he had brought. Cliff did so
and couldnét see any differencehadSi n

no way of testing the qualiiyf t he product, but he di

AfiWhere do you keep these dr awi ngs
need them here on the floor. Everyth
you keep them secure?b90

A® course. No one could steal y C
youbdbre thinking. Theydre kept under
t hem. o

AThat 6s exactly what | 0m thinking

The general manager, a shdréspectaclethannamed Leon Taturand
shaped rather like a tatesighed audibly. He led Cliff back into the engineering
area.

iThe dr awi ngs ar e klegpcck icna bt med
explained impatiently. During the day our personnel are constantly going in and
out of them as needd , but after hour s t heny 6r e
cabinet lock and with this bar lock and militegyr ade padl ock. 0o

inAre the APl drawings segregated?
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ATheydr e .aAll thér APb drawings arke in that firstabinet. |
think we make about two dozen diff e
annoyance was evident in his voice.

Cliff strode over to the first cabinet and quickly opened the drawer
| abel edi Aimedapctan. 0 Al donodt s e eCliffAd v a
declared accusingly.

AHey, 6 Tatum object, Afyou canot
other clients, t oo. They €0

il didndt | ook in any fil es. I j U
they? Just | ying around unsecure?0

AfWe fil erthdePmh ,umdot Advanced. 0O

Cliff i mmedi ately opened thei nex
Arrista.o A row of |l arge manila fold
middle. He started to reach for one, but Tatum slammed the drawer shut.

il tolwW ogaomudbtyodo that. I f you wan
I 61 1 get it.o

AiwWherebs the file folder for t hi

the shop drawing for the seal.

Tatum stepped between Cliff and the cabinet and began to open the API
drawer slavly, pushing Cliff back with his Kardashismi zed butt .
some room, Mr . Ander son, would you p

Cliff pushed back. He topped six feet and Tatum was five six at most.
Cliff had no trouble peerinrg. oleat 6lsa
he noticed something odd. Interleaved between the API folders were similar
folders | abeled AAPI X0. As Tatum wi't
Cliff caught a glimpse of the APIX folder right behind it. Tatum slammed the
drawer shit before he could get a good look at it, but he could have sworn the
last three digits of the part numbers on the APIX folder were the samelastthe
three of theAPI part number.

AWhy do you have API X folders mi:
askedn as menacing a tone as he could.

AWhaé what?0 Tatum stammered.

AAPI X. I just saw a folder | abel €
out. Whatés in that?o0 Cliff gl owered

AAPI X i s another customer of our s
just a filing error. I 61 1 make sur e

with Cliff as he spoke and turned to point to a diminutive whiaged woman
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sitting one desk away. The woman, who had been watching and hearing the
conversation, lookd completely taken aback. Cliff took a step toward her and
saw that her nameplate read Dorothy Tatum.

ALeon, are you €0 she said in a
Tatumbébs mot her .

iBe quiet, Mo mroke inL efo\We 6Tlalt udne a | w
Now, Mr. Anderson,l must ask you to step away. These files are not API
property. |l 6ve shown you that theyor
took Cliffés arm and pulled him out
the wall. Cliff was talle , but the mands corpul ence

to work with. Now that Cliff had made it down below two hundred, Taiuomst
have outweighetiim by at least fifty pounds. His grip was surprisingly strong.

AThere was an API X thosel Al faders. ghat e \
wasnot j ust one mi sfiled folder. A
company?o0

fiAbsol utely not! o6 Tatum virtual |
telling Morgan that wedOre doing that
youcan counttotenThat 6 s sl ander . We make API
APIX is a different company and they supply us with their own drawings and
specifications. ltdés just an unfortu
| 61 1 t atk.eo care of i

Cliff allowed himself to be led away, but he shook off the hand on his
el bow. fAAre their parts exactly the

AHow woul d | know? | candt memor i
we make. We make over a thousand seals and gaskets for hundreds of companit
and many of them look nearly identicAke identical.No one here sits down and

compares them with other commer®@ They donoét tell wus
who the end user is. We just get a drawing along with an RFQ and if we get the
bi d, we make the part. o

Cliff knew that an RFQ was a Request for Quotation. A buyer from API
would send a drawing, along Wit nordisclosure agreement, to several vendors
asking for quotes. The low bidder would normally get the contract, assuming
there were no disqualifying factors.

He also knew that Tatum was lying. He was almost certain now that this
APIX, whoeverit was was getting identical parts made by the saemdors API
was using and selling them cheaper; further, Tabaweh to knav the parts were
the same. But did APIX provide its own drawings? That was the question. If they
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reversee ngi neered APl &s ipargal .t Thte was |
But if they bribed Tatu@ s ¢ o on Kimbaly Quartz to make extras when they
did an API run, violating their NDAs, and sell the overage to them, then that was
a different story. It was certainly grounds for a cialvsuit and might even be a
crime.

Cliff decided not to press Tatumny f urt her . Hedd |
already, without even talking to the chip companiesHe di dndét wan
relationship between API and its vendors. APl needed them as mubieyas t
needed API. He knew what he wanted to do next. He went through the motions
of completing the tour of the plant and left satisfied.

* %k %

Back at the office CIiff looked for a website for APIX but came up
empty.All the logical extensions like conmet, or biz, came up nesxistent or
landed on redirects to unrelated businesgedomain name registration sites
What kind of higt ech company doesnét havle a
kind that wants to stay under the radar, he answered.

He went b the California Department ofState site and looked at the
business search page. There were four listings for APIX. Two were old,
dissolved companies, omen San Di ego fweaist eldios,t ead sat
unsure about, and the last one, APIX Tecbgigs, Inc., as active and located in
Redwood @y. He copied down the address and the listed agent for service of
process, Michadbeal

He gave Maeva the data on APIX Technologies and asked her to see
what she couldind on the company or obeal He wared to check out the
company in person himsaight away. Maeva was better at the online stuff than
he was anyway. He headed out to get a look.

Maeva dropped what she6d been do
enjoyed investigation more than billing darclerical work. She started with
Google and Bing searches but got too many hits on different people to be useful
Dealwas a common name. Shedd need mor e

Maeva plugged the corporate name into an online business directory
database tha€liff subscribed to and was able to come up with a telephone
number and a listing that Michadbeal was indeed president of APIX
Technologies, Inc. LorDeal was listed as Vice President. The address matched
the listed Redwood City addresem the Secrety of State page
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She wanted to do a criminal check on fheak, but without dates of
birth, middleor maidennames, or a home address, it would be unrelidiiie.
name Lori might be a nickname for Lorraine, Lorelei or other vari@he
decided to wait mtil Cliff brought her more informationlt was unfair to the
client to burn a lot of hours running down all the possibilit®&fse looked up the
building in the San Mateo Counys sessor s online sear
the ownerdéds name, but it gave a dif
presumably the | abDehbor d6me atddtessoyul
likely that APIX was leasing the building from seone else. Sheextedthis
information to CIiff.

* %k %

Cliff drove his Tesla down the street where APIX was located, cruising
as slowly as traffic would all ow. He
drawing attention, so he continued down te ¢émd of the block and parked at the
curb across the street. He pulled out his binoculars and checked out the building
It was a onestory stanealone structure fronting on a busy four lane boulevard.
The lot in front contained four cars: a Cadillac, aleolHonda Civic, and two
ot her cars Cliff had noticed as he
because there was also a box truck in the lot blocking his view. A driveway ran
around back of the building, presumably to a loading dock of some scetthia
building looked like a warehouse except for the windowed area fronting the
street. There was no siggevisible, but the address was painted on the building
so Cliff knew it was the righplace

He was looking at this building as a gastroenterotagight look at a
patient. He coul dnét see what was go
examining what went in and what came out. The two things he was looking for
now were the mailbox and the garbagte decided to get out and check the
building more closely on foot. He was still wearing his slacks and sport coat from
the morning, so he shed the coat and got a windbreaker and ball cap out of the
trunk. He blended in better and the cap partially hid his face. The sunglasses h
wore completed hisamouflage.

He crossed at the corner and walked back on the sidewalk until he was in
front of the APIX building.The shades were drawn on all the windows. That
seemed odd to him since the weather was nice and the sun was on a different sic
of the building, not in a position to create glare inside. This was another sign that
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this company was being secretive. The front door was actually a large set of
wooden doors. One of the doors had a mail slot.

Shi, he thought. He woul dahemighitit a b
were delivered to a mailbox. He used his phone to make a short video of the car:
and truck in the lot. He could run those plates later. He kept walking until he
could see down the drivewaide could now see that there was a closed metal
roll-up door on the side of the building and a dumpster against the wall just
beyond it. That was goodhere were no windows on that side. He decided he
could chance it. If someone opened the rollup door, he could pretend to be &
scavenger.

He walked up thedriveway to the dumpster. The lid opened easily.
Inside were large plastic bags, no loose garbage. Quickly he opened one. It wa:
full of a fine, soft almospowdery materialHe recognized it as the output from a
high-quality industrial shredder. He chexk the other bags, but he could tell
from the feel that they were all the same. Deal was destroying every piece of
paper. There was one bag that held regular frdshch waste, coffee grounds,
broken pencils and the like, but not a scrap of paper. Thatftthe other end of

the creature. He coul dndét see the p:
excrement.

Hed6d made enough progress for the
car. As he was wal king back her. et N

address was nearby, so he checked that out, too. It turned out to be a propert
management company, wdrécttytoDeakClifiheadédt w
south to pick up Tommy at Theresads
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Chapter9

Ellen, now back t obednlsea gibpaoankeredesk Wwherd d
the packet arrived. It was the case
was unusually fast, she knew, but it was an applicant case that required
presidential action, and those always got priority handling.

She pulled outhefile. This was the original in the ofstyle FBI format:
paper reports with two holes punched in the top and filed with the cardboard
front and back covers. Most of the file dealt with other people. Little was a
relatively small player. Her boyfriend abte time was more hardcore, and his
supplier was worse yet. There were dozens of people involved and most of the
criminal activity was not drug dealing, but flat out robberies and extortion. It had
started as a RICO case, racketeertlten could see that would take a lot of
reading before she had a clear picture of what Little had done and to get familiar
with the other people involved. An important aspect of her current investigation
would be to find out if she was still in touch with the bad actotkercase.

Littleds role wash apebad, if gdgicaad talg s
them that. Customers, at any ral@e entire morning was spent reading through
the surveillance reports, informant reports and telephone intercept transcripts.
L i t thdme 6asne up rarely, but it was clear she was a willing and active drug
dealer. She was also a heroin addict and alcoholic. Heailkm boyfriend talked
trash about her to the others in the ring.

After lunch Ellen finally reached the FBD2s, the invedative reports,
on the arrests of all the subjects. When she came to the one on Little she wa
immediately struck both by its length and how wetliten it was. Unless
someone confesses, most arrest 302s are short and prosaic. Then she glanc
down at then a me of the arresting agent an
Knowl es. 0

The arreshad takerplace in Berkeley. Cliff had lived and worked in the
East Bay for a brief time when he was first transferred to San Francisco Division,
she knew, btuhti nskh eh eddidd nebvte r wor ked di
round up agents from other squads to help on big arrest scenarios, though, so
wasnodt a n glthhtisunpgsed aboutlwben she thought about it.

She began to reead the document. Now that sheelv he husband had
written it twentyodd years earlierit took on a new significance, eurious
attraction The report describeddow Cliff and a female agent were assigned to
arrest Little whose maiden name, ironically, was Smatther place of work
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since she was considered unarmed andhiolent. Larger groups of agents were
assigned to the other subjectsitle worked at a head shop in Berkeley.
Officially her job was to sell the legal paraphernalia the shop displayed in its
windows: glass pipesjgarette rolling paper and supplies, hookahs, and the like.
Of course, her real job was to sell drugs. Drug buyers had to know the code
phrasej f t hey werenot p aitrthatcadeaviotdwas dpmrear w n
around rather far and wide. Unknown peopbming in off the streatithout the
codewould be treated as though it was a legitimate business.

Cliff and the womaragenthad entered right after the shop opened at
noon.Junkis wer enot known as early riser:
one ele was in the shop. As they approached, the two agents displayed their
credentials and told Little to put her hands up. They had been told she was likely
to be compliant. Little had other ideas, though, and grabbed a htiakkfrom
the countertop and thw it at the womaagentas she screamédFuc ki ng b
She tried to run out the back the shop, ducking behind admbed curtain that
separated that area. Cliff had to jump over the counter and pursue her. He
literally dove and tackled her justas shas goi ng out dhe
screamed more obscenities at Cliff a
lungs. The female agent was on the scene right behind Cliff. The flask had hit the
wall next to her head, shattered, and gitsardshad cu her earand cheekbut
she was not seriously hurt.

Ellen continued to read with fascination. It had taken both agents and an
unusual amount of force to subdue Little. She bit, screamed, and swore the entire
time. She had a strong odor of alcohol on heath, too. No sooner had they
gotten her handcuffed and into the FBI car when she vomited all over the female
agent and the car seat. Cliff had been ordered to take her to the hospital and ste
there. What had been expected to be a quick arrest in tmengdrad turned into
an allday ordeal, capped off by having to clean the Bureau car by hand. The
female agent with him had been ordered to get her cut treated at the hospital, s
that last task fell entirely to ClifHIV was new back then, too, and usyéd to
afatal case of AIDS It was also common among drug users, so the combination
of cut and vomit on the woman agent was more than a little ss@ny though
they had no information that Little was infectézliff was then also responsible
for writing up the whole incident.

As she read, Ellen realized Cliff was trying to highlight how violent
shedd been and how she had resisted
was producing paper that would supportharge of assaultroa federal officer.
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Ellen already knew that such a charge had been included in the initial indictment,
but that Little had eventually cooperated with prosecutors and that charge hac
been dropped in exchange for a guilty pteathe drugsand testimony against
others

When shedd finished readingberjanEl | e
Al t hough EI | en hiastewaststil b eenagdrwhen thissrhad F B
happened, she still pictured this woman as attacking her husband,hiedhat
her child.

Shewantedto discuss this arrest wit@liff, but agents araot supposed
to interview anyone who was involved in the original arrest or prosecution unless
therebs reason to believe t heyeleksaow
life. Her supervisor may even want to reassign the case now that there was ¢
potential conflict of interesEllen might not write up the report free of bias now
that she knew Little had attacked her husband.

She finished the 302s and considered how to apprtas. She went in
to see her supervisand explained the situation. lsked her how much of the
investigation she had completed. When she told him it was about eighty percent
doneif you included all the leads due in from other offices, he told h&eép
the case but to make Matt Nguyen the lead interviewer for the interview with the
applicant.Ellen could still write up the final repoend get Matt to sign #vith
her, but heéd review the report for ©bi

Nextonherlis wer e interviews of Littl]e
acting principal of the elementary school where Bob Little had been principal.
That woman told Ellen that she had known Bob and Maureen for ten years and
considered them salt of the earth. Oncaiagllen got the line that Maureen had
been clean and sober that entire time. She was well aware that Maureen had bee
convicted of drug dealing and was an alcoholic, but she said Maureen thad no
touched a drop of alcohol since she went into prison sifidattended AA
meetings regularlymore to support the others there than for her own sake. She
said that Maureen was kind and brilliant and in her opinion would make a fine
teacher just l' i ke her husband di d.
charactesounded more like a eulogy than an applicant interview. Ellen took that
all with a grain of salt, but at least all the boxes got checked.

The next interview was with Litt
was no less than in the previous interviewedd and sober for fifteen years.
Devotes her time to helping troubled youth. Plays the organ in the local church
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choir. Rai sed a fine son whobés an A
pictures of Ms. Little past versus present

The third referac e was somet hi mxperiemog.wlThei n
reference was aineeenyearold busboy working in a restaurant in downtown
Palo Alto. Not only thatp u t he had a cri minal rec
misdemeanopossession of methamphetamine at sgeenteen and tried as an
adult. Applicants typically named pillars of the community as their referénces
pastors, teachers, employers, cops. Why would she name a miscreant fike this
There was a note on the application, put there by Little, to contacbhiy at
home, not at work. His address was in East Palo Alto in one of the worst
neighborhoods in the entire South Bay.

Ellen called the number and was surprised to have the reference answe
the phone himself. Agents are supposed to do all interviewgerson, but in
applicant casemany of them get done on the phone where they appear routine.
I'tdéds simply impossible to get most L
agent. The choice is usually between no interview or a phone interview, and
sincethe agent was also required to interview all these people, it really was no
choice at all. But this was no routine interview. Ellen had a bad feeling about it
and decided to do it in person.

Hel l o, is this Dante Johnson?o
Yes. 0 The v oi dderthancawninaleeydaror! odudgsh , v oc
He was clearly AfricasAmerican, a fact Ellen had already surmised from the
name and address.

A Mr . Johnson, this is Special A
interview you. Are you available for me to come by ttiistae r noon ? 0
What 6s this about?0 The tone was
I need to ask you a few questior
position. o0 Agents weren6t all owed to
a pardon. That was spelleit in the MIOG.It was considered unjust and a
deterrent to applicants if the FBI was going to spread around the fact that they
had once been convicted of a felony. If the applicant had been keeping a clear
life, they were entitled to keep that dark epis@a secret, at least among their
acquaintances.

ils this about Mrs. [sietctr leedys pmia&mhc
to expect you.o

AiWwWell, yes, since you already kno

i
]

]
]
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AMy shift starts at five. I dpanbdt
fou-t hi rty | can do it.o

iokay, | can be there at t hree. !
l ong. o

AfiThat 6s fine. You have my address

She read the one on the application and he confirmed it was still good.
nOkay, see you okewn,i Dahteal UhyousDa

iYes, Ma 6 am. HShergupy ou t hen. 0o

MabéamThat wasnot t he atti tdealirg s h
punk from East Pal y. Still, she didi
Contrary to movies, books, and televisioR,B | agent s donot
partners, but they tend to pair up with the same people when a second agent i
needed. Since Matt had already been designated, she went looking for him first.
He wasnoét at his desk.

Palo Alto was too small to have its own i@@perator, but there was a

small radio unit onthe cletk e cepti oni st 6s desk. El
checked to make sure it was on the South Bay channel. She keyed the mic.
AMatt, wiventy?60s your
iHeading back. About ten minutes
iCandypyoan interview with me in Ea
iSure. o
AOkay, thanks. 0
A 1-00
Twenty minutes | ater Mat t showed

would have had to hurry to make the interview on time.

Al thought you wer e t ealmostihadtotgals o
someone el se. o0

il got stuck behind tyldns. Arldaheg gamg o i
toacomppt e stop at every roundabout eve

ALemme guess. Asian?o0
iwWatch that racist talk. Of cours
ADid you cite her for DWA?0

~

fiDriving While Asian is a racist terml 6 m goi ng to f
harassment compl aint. o

ARi ght. You do that, but 1 6m driyv
his brief FBI career. His reputation for baltsthe-wall driving was a standing
target of ribbing by his fellow agents.
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AiFine with me. You |l ook ten years

AThanks. o Ell en both resented and
women should be judged by their abilities and their weskecially at the office.
She didndét consider herself wvain, b u

liked being thought of as younger and it was a flattering cut.

When they got to Dante Johnsonos
and backed iinto the driveway as far as she could. It could get stripged
vandalizedf left on the street, and if something went wrong inside, she wanted it
to be pointed the right direction to get out of Dodge fast.

Ellen knocked on the door and the two agentsewadlowed inafter
introducing themselve®ante greeted them wearing cheap black polyester pants
and awhite Is hi rt . El'l en guessed that he
jacket of some sort at the restaurant. He was skinny and vergkiaried. Thes
were two girls, younger than Dante, sitting at the kitchen table, which was visible
from the living room. Both were reading schoolbooks. Dante looked apologetic
even though the girls were quiet.

fi | have to watch my sisterssoffatnt i
three thirty. o
Ellen began the questioning. That 6 s okay. TICans w
you tell me how you know Mrs. Little
il was doing drugs a | ot. I got
pled guilty cuz they gave me the choice to gdréatment, you know. No jail
ti me. She was the counselor at the a
AWhen was this?0
iTwo years ago. She saved my |I|ife
Both Ell en and Matt sat up a |itt

il was hanging with t hneethcsteaing,All y ot
that kinda stuff .o

Ell en was surprised haotonbrsschre®td u e
to would have said fAshito instead of
Dante continued. iSo she got me

scared straight stuff you se8&he lived it. She was like me. She went to prison
because of her bad choices. | was likenallway this whitéady can know what

it dosanldi ceome t el |, ibut bBwasweondr $he did hard time.\Slee
got hersel f straight. She made me r
mom wor ks hard. o
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ADid she ever tell you how | ong i
Mattds question.

iNot si nce s heShevgoinctean ithare. &he [stayedsclzan
ever since. o

AHow do you know?0 Matt persisted

ildd know. Y o. U seenaao dntich 6f dt.ol Idonanie She
described how it felivhen she kickedd He shuddered i nvol
fiHow about alcohmbD&®e&s Eshenewaskedr
i No . Shebs in AA she told me. Cl e
AYou never saw or smelled anythin
iNo, ma 6 a m. | see a | ot of dr in

someoneds been drinking. o

iWoul d ym.Uitleisgf gobtl moral character and loyal to the
United States of America?o

AnShebés the best. Wi thout her 106d

worse troubl e, hooked again. Now | g
take my senioryer over again.o
AThat déds real good, Dant e, Ol takkaitt t
thatdés a yes to Agent Kennedyds ques
iYes, sir. She deserves the pard
people | ike me now. 0

iWwWhat about ot heknmvanyiwhoeavy workéd witho
her, got counseled, | mea@no

AA couple. One of them went back
straight now, t oo. ltds not her fau
know. I di dnot t hi nk really carej wauld redllyi t e
understand. | thought 16d just get s
mean.Omadogooder dilettante. Shedbdés not |

El'l en and Mat't exchanged gl ances

was full of suprisesLi ttl e was anything but ric
To someone like Dante, st®mostwas. After a few more routine questions
Dantebds mother arrived home. She wor
she was upset that a car wascking her driveway but when she found out why
the agents were therher iciness melted.

iMaureen gave me my son back to
hear? Anybody trash talkbouth er dondét know what the
alameasspunkuntt he t al ked sense into him.?o
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Dante hung his head in silent acknowledgment of the truth of that
statement.

ifnYes, madam, 0 EIl |l en answer ed. i We
have what we need. Thank you both. o

They left. It took several minutes before eitlof them spoke. Matt was
the first. AThat didnét go as | thou
Me neither. o
I guess we must be 6élike gover
?
G

me a

ot S ot D

00
uilty as charideeviegw 0l 61 1 write wup
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Chapterl0

That evening Cliff told Ellerabout his day, expecting she would enjoy
his description of identifying and checking out APIX. Instead, she seemed
distracted. Tommy needed attention, so Cliff got dinner on the table while Ellen
took care of him. Afterward, Ellen cleaned up the kitchérlenCliff did Daddy
duty. It wasnodot wuntil after 9:00 tha

il 6ve been working on this pardon

AiHowd6s that going??9

AnFi ne. |l just did a coupl e bhbkd ne
to go into East Paly for one. 0

AAl one?0

iNo, | took Matt with me. 0

ifGood. 0O

Ell en was dying to tell Cliff ab

she knew he wouldespond, probably vociferousiin order to deflect his
guestioning, she asked him wiheas next in his case.
il have to go to Cedar City, Ut ah
fiCedar City?! Tim Rot h mahadwbrkedie s r
Salt Lake Division before transferring to San Francisco to help her sister when
her husbanddied.i m had been Cliffbés cl osest
office, but transferred to Salt Lake when he married and eventually retired in the
area. Ellen had met Tim in Utah when he was one of the Bureau pilots there anc

later learned that he and G f f had been close frienc

I plan to. 1t6ll be great to see
Have you called him yet?0
No, we need to figure out wae e n

haveTommy t o consider . 0

Oh , you have t otonightand finddutlher schdddle. T |

Il 6m sure we can work out a good ti me
il can do the inspection in a day

that can be worked out.o Cliff thatdund

would be something of a burden on Ellen and her sister to deal with Tommy.
nOh, and yoawp gdoeaches there fordyouzEy Challenge.

|l 6ve done them already, but I donét

near there. o

>t O ot o
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Ellen was referring to a particular type of geocache liedd a special
importancefor them They had been married at the final location for the Fizzy
Challenge in Big Basin State Parkhallenge caches required the finder to
complete a series of finds ather geocaching conditions before finding and
logging the final challenge cache itself. The Fizzy Challenge, named for an early
geocachingioneer was a classic one where the geocacher must find caches with
every possible combination of difficulty andrtain before qualifying for the
final. There were nine possible difficulty ratings and nine terrain ratings,
numbered one through five, including hateps,meaning there were eightpne
possible combinations. Ellen had completed her qualifying grid Clitit was
well behind.They had signed the cache logbook at the wedding ceremony, but
only Ellen had claimed the find on the website cache page for official credit
because CIiff still had not qualifieédHe wasndét as rabi d as
but wantel to catch up with her dwe could eventualllaim thefind too. It was
sort of an unofficial wedding vow and one he took seriously.

AiTop of Rocky and Grandpads | mpr
that area. Check your grid. | think those squaresdrei | | empty for

Cliff first logged onto theyeocachingvebsiteto look up those caches.
Then he logged onto the ottt tracked his statistics and confirmed that the two
combinations, 4difficulty 4.5 terrain for the first cacheand 5 difficulty 4.5
terrainwere still empty for himHe set his jaw when he saw these numbers. The
terrain rating on both was 4.5 out of 5 possible. That meant very difficult terrain.
And the difficulty ratings meant they were also going to be difficult to find once

there.With hispoorey esi ght he didndét | i ke tack
As though reading his thought s,
ratings. Top of Rocky is right near whefenand hi s wi fe | i ve

get them t o g otualythemardgeroithe twb.Wath tidree ofayau
l ooking ités not that hard. They pro
most of the way ther&@ hat final hill is steep, though, and nothing but a rockpile.
The othercachwo n 6t b e sincaltcan divefyduia Gfelimetby phone if
youneedit Youdbre flying into Vegas arenao
Al suppose. Why?0
iltés halfway between Ti mo sretuannd
flight. You can get there in tleel ear
and still make it to Vegas in plenty of time. The cache is bigratdasuper
toughfind, really, although the terrain is difficiilt two miles of ruggediesert

scrubland each wayo
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Cliff was gratified that Ellen was taking such an interest, but geocaching
was more her thing than his. At least this challenge was.®iknew how much
it meant to her, so he mentally bookmarked these caches aslaniasks for his
trip. If nothing dse, this geocaching aspect motivated Ellen enough so that she
wasnot complaining about Cliff | eavi
wel |, thatés one thing, buti thatois notg  f
something to be denied.

True to her word, Ellen called her sister Theresa and got some dates
when she could take Tommy. Cliff had no excuses now. Ellen told him to call
Tim right away. It was getting late in his time zone. Like any obedient husband,
he complied. H e atalangl sinte aw Ellerohad pointéd tout, 6t h
was getting late, but they worked out a time the following week that fit
Theresabds schedule. The trip was set

* %k %

The next day Cliff met Brolin and Morgan at API. He briefed them on
whath e 6 d | e ar B¢ dndMidhaeluand LariDeal. They were both
highly interested Neither of them had heard of APIX or the Deals. Morgan
reacted predictably impatient.

i We can nai l this down right n o
customers and confront them withthemam Theyb6ve refused
theybébre getting the parts, but i f I
it. Thatoll save me the cost of havi

fiNot so fast, o Brolinitwemdt ae¢hd o | V
probl em. Even i f we know who it i s,
the clients to buy from us. We have to verify who they are, but more important,
how theyo6ére able to undersell us on

AHe has a pointyredhodgh,doondGl i fsfe
confronting a customer with the name

Brolin flipped her pen absently through her fingers in a practiced motion,
apparently her Al 6m thinkingo habit.
She pushed her desk phone over to him, but he shook his head.
il have it on 9 p@Egardexpkined.|He punhiseel ¢
phone on speaker and punched the dial button for one of his bigger customers
one of many local Silicon Valley chip compas. The ring echoed loudly in
Brolinds office. Then it was answere

fiHowar d. o
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AfiHoward, this is Ralph Morgan at

Altds never a@aoyguneed ot i me. What

iltdés API X isnodt it?0 Morgan sai
doubt. This was followed by a long pause on the other end.

il knew it was just a matter of
me . 0

AwWhy? Whatodés the big secret any\v
names of their suppl i er dstryicgoongetebetiert o r
deal s. 0

iltés part of the contract. API X
not tell you guys. They said their low prices could only be maintained because
they didndét h.avEhey udo motteverdevealir Theys e
said if you found out who they weseou 6d harass them or
and theydéd hayv etodowerthe adstofdighting yous that phrati ¢ e
youbre planning to do?0o0

Cliff jotted on a piece of notepap8sk about Michael Dda
fi | donot get into that stuff, H ¢
whet her thereb6s a | awsuit there. Wh
Mi chael Deal ?0

ilt | ooks | ike youbve done your I
sell spare partsheaply. Your prices areor used to be before APIX came along
foutrageous. Itds about time you got
business and go back to your old prices, the cost of your whole system goes up
We could be looking to move tonather major manufacturer for the next
generation. Theyodére doing you a favo

Mor gan snorted. AThat 6s not how
cheaply? They must be using substand

iThe parts are justdsadhagendtagsryq

I donét ask how they do it. | just t
overheadl o o0 k , I have to go. |l 6ve alread
confirming it for you. D o nelv you Boentherey  m
on out. o
ifiCan you send me their price 1|ist
ANot a chance. Goodbye. o6 Howard h
ifGood wor k, both of youo Brolin

us the confirmation. o She | ooked

got
ABlhte6s right. ltéds not illegal to se
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theybébre using our ownh outside vendor
as we do for the parts. How can they do that under our cbsts?have to hire
engineers to rarse engineer the partTheywould have to shop around for
vendorsunless they already knew wlaur vendors are Howo6d duhey
vendors? Do our customers know who o

i No, they shouldnoét. I certainly
vendorswhoourcustomer& r e . 0

iDo we have an i nt eoundndalarineda k 20 Br

AfHol d on, 0 Cliff interjected. i W

providing APIX parts. V@ need to verify thatods w
parts. If they are, then it does point to an internal leak. You could be getting
hacked or it could be something efse.

Cliff went on to explain that he still had to go to Cedar Qaythe
ceramic nazle supplier, Belcher Industries. Now that he had confirmation that
APIX was the low seller he hoped to be able to confirm APIX alas using
Belcher.

ALet me ask you a questi oinoranyofe s
your vendors, for that mattér complaining about your decreasing number of
orders?o0

AiNo, not really, now that you men
t hought about that . So you think t1
reduced orders by making the satmial volumeby seling t o API X. 0

iThat 6s seems | ikely to me. And t

at least as much per unit, maybe more. Why piss off a-gagihg Fortune 500
customer and risk a laws#it

Brolin broke in. iHol d on. lto dor
confirm that Belcher is selling nozzles to APIX. | think we know that already.
We need to know how API X is doing it

Cliff thought about this. Sally Brolin had a good point. He could
probably do just as wetir betterinvestigating APIX righ here in Silicon Valley
where the offceswereas he coul d i n Ut ah, but h
his planned trip.

fJust give me a chance, 0 he said
to know from you exactly what you neatk to find out Are you planning to sue
APIX? Or the vendors? For what exa@tly
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Morgan chimed in. AForget the | aw
So we can stop it. If we have a mole we can fire him. If a vendor is breaking the
nondisclosure agreementwe cangetaw vendor . 0

i lunderstandbut APIX is probably too careful to find that out here.
|l 6ve already been by their place. .
employee as a snitch there, but probably that would just result in greater
precautions ash war nings to the vendor s. I 1
vendors, especially one remote from here out of the influence of APIX and
Silicon Valley. Belcher is a | ot sma
important to tem as a customer g@h to Kimball Quartzor the Vespel seal
suppliers.Your vendors, especially Belcher, have a lot to lose. Give me a chance
to find out whatl can fromBelchero

Morgan looked over to Brolin and they both nodded their agreement.

Broins poke. AoOkay, Cliff, youdre aut hc
keep the expenses down. No ski resor
Ailtés June. And desert. o
iDude ranches. Spas. What ever .

reasonabl e. o
fiNo problem 0
When the meeting ended Cliff booked his flight and car rektalcalled
Tim Rothman to confirm he was coming. Rothman picked up on the first ring.
AiHey, Cliff.o

nHI, Ti m. Or shoul d | say howdy?
tripbs on. odode&ooffer stildl g

iOf cour se-inl Aaweumbthbheryours as | c
you than my actual mothémn-l a w. 0

Al d&dm sure shebés a | ovely | ady. o

ADonét bet on it. o

il dm paying, of course. 0

AfDonot be ridiculous. Youobr ed vdeo i
been trying to get you out here for

il know, but |l &m paying anyway.

paying. Just figure out what a cheap hotel charges per night around there anc
knock off ten percent. Call yourself a bed and breakfast. Tieatclill be
delighted. o

Rot hman | Augbadsag so. You final/l
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Cliff took a deep breath at the thought, since horses made him nervous,
but hedi dnot want tHe had oddem @ncevananmpanaged okay.
Maybe he could jokeit way out of it. Hemustered as much swagger as he
could. ADo | need to bring spurs and

AMore | ike ChapStick. 0 Rauthdvenspurs ma
and chaps? What kind of bars you bee
You know whekei ypuckap. 8t i
This is Ut ah, not San Francisco.
fiHilarious. See you in a coupledfa y s . 0
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Chapterll

Maeva called in to Cliff that there was a woman on the phone asking for
hi m. ARShe said she used to work with

Al ol | take it.o After Gul | oprise.a me
Where are you these days?0o0

fi Kaxville. Iplantoretreme xt year . 0

AYoudl I l ove it. ltdéds worked out
too. 0 Cliff was already beginning t
heéd known years ago, but sdoafriBnd.d n e

As i f reading his thought s, she
Anyway, youdre probably wondering wh
Smart?0

iThe name rings a bell é wait a mi
in Berkeley? Thewdced out head shop girl ?o0

iYou got it. I heard through the

AA pardon? Youdbre kidding me! She
What d6d she do to get incarcerated th

iNo, shebds not i n @that fssbsentenc8, h guéss. b
Shebés trying to get the old convicti

Aiwhat a piece of work. She bit me

all the inoculations | had to get afterward. That was back when we were all
worried abouH | V. 0

ATel | me about i t! I got hookah
pukedon meinthecar So anyway, I wanted to |
where she is. Maybe you can slip the word to the case agent to make it clear wha
adouche bagsheiBher eds more than ®ne way to

Clifféods sphincter tightened sudd
comi ng. He didnot want to hear t he
AWhobs the case agent ?0

iSomeone named Kennedy. You know

iHer . Yeah, I know her. o For a mo
Ellen Kennedy was his wife, but some instinct told him nothing good would
come from t hat-thebfoWe!l It,y pseheds hae abry. | €
it is.o

ABy the WwWhat I shad in mind. The
supposed to take into account anythi
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already documented back at DQJwas thinking more of an agetd-agent

thing.o
iYeah, yeah. [ knomi ngy Beemwhkdlkl
Il dm really tied up with my business
clear Cliff had no enthusiasm for the task.
ifiOkay. Well ités up to you. Il jus
ASur e. | appreciate it.o
Thiswasfollawed by an awkward pause. Th

Cliff knew Gullo considered hineither a coward or a traitor aorts for not
wanting to get involved. The woman had attacked a fellow agent! There had to
be payback It was time to teach her that ti8| has a long memory. These

messages hung silently in the air, oratlea€lin f f 6 s i magi nati o
iOkay, t hen. o
ARi ght. Thanks for the call . o

fiYeah. All right. Take it easy. Let me know if anything comes of it. Your
secretary has my number . 0

AOf cOBy®seo

They hung up.

* * %

That evening during dinner CIliff got tired of holding it in. He asked Ellen
if shedd read the 302s on the origirt
She looked up, surprised. Only the FBI used the term 302 for antigates
report.

i Wh a't makes you think it was an
| RS, anyone. 0

ifiSo was it FBI ?0

AwWhat difference does it make?o0

Her evasion told him that she alr
planning to tell me it was Maureen Sia? 0

Her scowl was answer enough, Bhereplied fi | wasnodt . o

fYou know what she did to me? And

il canét talk about it. I was aln
found out 16d read your 30 Zhenwe tatkéon 6 t
her . Mattdés going to do that. I 6m | v

find out it was her anyway?o0
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il canot tal k about it,o CIliff r
snarkinessnd screechy falsettdlo sooner had the worddtladis mouth when he
realized that was a mistake. Ell ends

wide enough drive a truck through.
AThen dondt, 06 she hi sTeeerest of thernweal g h

went by in silence.
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Chapterl2

The glitz of Las Vegas both fascinated and repelled him but was soon
left behind as he drove north ofl%. Cliff had rented a Subaru Forester for its
allwh e e | dri ve. He knew Ti mo souts of toema d
and figured the roads might be taxing amegular sedarlthe temperature was
over 90° but the car had good air conditioning, and that was a pretty moderate
temperature for June in Nevada.

As he moved farther from the city, the roadside trash and seatmd
casinos disappeared and the beautthefopen desert made itself felt. After an
hour of driving, though, the visual monotony got to him and he searched on the
radio for something to listen to. He settled on an AM news station. As he passed
into Utah, the increasing elevation provided coolermad better scenenafter
two hours of driving he stopped in.SBeorge for lunch. The difference in
atmosphere from Nevada was immediate once he walked inside. The populat
tourist destination was so0 squeaky ¢
The ar t i swas é juhpmy @fnpoint for the Grand Canyon and Zion
National Parkand hosted all sorts of events from rodeos to rock condieaiso
contrasted starkly with Silicon Vallan lifestyle. The light traffic and easy pace
of the people ithe restaurant was immediately relaxing.

On the road again, he quickly passed into a deep valley with imposing
mountains looming on both sides. Zion National Park with its sandstone canyons
beckoned to the east. Pine Valley Mountaiose to the west, rehing over ten
thousand feet elevation at the highest peaks. @f dhe lredigions Cliff would
have called it Gododés Country.

An hour | ater he was pul lLiung ai,ntTo
wife, was the first to greet him, coming out into the wagtavel turn circle
between the house and garage. She smothered him with a big hug before he had
chance to pull his suitcase out of the car.

ncCl i ff, itds about time youwElemi si
Sheds oa kick.

Alf 1 6d wanweul & Isavé ds hay ¢ dtighto me
squeeze and let her go. Cliff had been an usher at their wedding and the
Rothmans had socialized with Cliff and his first wife for two years before Tim
transferred to Salt Lake Division. Luisa knew CIiff hadreuwally remarried after
his wifeods deat h, but she knew EI I e
when Ellen worked with Tim in the Utah office. That was before Ellen ohove
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out to California and got togethdér w
Tommy, too. Her sisterods hel ping whi

AiThat ds right! Y ongréulagons Bettat éatk dhgn n o
never. o

Ailédm a sl ow | earner. Speaking of
yours | hear about? And Ti m?o0

ATi mé6s tdlbevnb artn . Il 6m sure he hear

soon as he finishes with the horses.

She started to lead him into the house but he hesitated as his car was
unlocked and the suitcase was sitting in plain view.

fiLea it, o Luisa said, sensing hi
around here. o

Cliff reached into the car anyway and pulled out a bouquet of flowers
t hat h e 6d Stpdeardeldechandeg thémto Luisa.

ARnTheyore | ovely, @I itfhfe.seThanl oyneu

Cliff stepped into the house and immediately stopped short. Before him
was a massive plate glass window looking out over the cantilevered patio at the
vall ey below and the mountains bey
elevaton @ 6d gai ned |just coming up the
literally breathtakingWater was as scarce as Mormon-hgp stars around here,
which meant the lots were from five to twenty acres. Further density could not be
sustained. Combined with threountainousterrain, that meant lots of privacy.
Cliff could see a few ranch houses scattered down the hillside but not a single

structure in the i mmediate vicinity
Cliff turned when he heard a soft giggle behind him. Peekindront a
hallwaywas@ ead of bl ond curl s. AfiCome on,

to meet CliffDadlds0® & ufsibenmdsappear e
returned shortly thereafter pulling on the armaoithergirl, a brunette with
something electronic plugged into her earbey were twins, but clearly not
identical.

AElIi zabeth and Emma, o CIl i ff said
fans. 0

AiNot really, but you would bent he
realize it unt il after the movie Emm

Both girls approached and stood waiting for instruction. Although quite
different in appearance, both were beautiful, which surprised Cliff not &adH.
Tim and Luisa were goekboking.
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fiHel | o Emma, Eli zabet h. Il 6m CIl i f f
held out his hand. The girls took ¢t
and dry; Li zzi e $iatvha sametene.t her . Bot h

ALizzie, not EI inakebgelt h, 06 correcte

ioOkay, Lizzie. Call me Cliff. o

iYou were in the wedding, 6 Emma,

in the picture next to Uncle Charl i
Cliff was the first usher and did stand next to him. The girl viass Cliff had
looked quite different then. Aside from the years since the photo had been taken
Cliff did not have the beard back then and he wore thick glasses. He also
weighed about thirty pounds more at the time. He was amazed she could
recognize himbut then maybe he been pointed tmuherbefore.

AThat 6s me. 0

Tim walked in from the direction of the kitchen, which also had a mud
roomHe was in his sock feet. AfHey big
iltbés about time you came out here. o

Theygrasped handsd performed the traditional male ritual of trying to
crush the otheroés hand. Even in hi:
out weighed Tim by twenty pounds or s
with Cliffés.

AiYour wi faevealmee atdhyatg | ecture. Are
beer? 1t is legal to drink in Utah,

Al dl 1l get them, 0 Luisa said, movi

AOonl y-t wbr dbeer , |l 6m afraid. That 6
Coors, your brand. o

i Noolplrem. O

Tim led him out onto the patio as Luisa brought them some chilled beers.

Al é6ll |l et you boys talk, o0 she sai

ioOkay, so tell me about this case

Cliff told Tim the whole story. He trusted him jpiicitly. He had no
worries about Tim leaking or misusing the informatidinm listened intently,

without interruption.

ifiDo you believe in coincidence?o0

AiYou already know the answer to t

AiNeither do | .1 60hrnecer ewe ehkesar alg oo f
Now itbés come up twice.o

Al dm | i stening. o
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Tim told CIliff the story of t he
suspicions, the Swedish tourists, an

Cliff felt there wassomething chilling about the story, something beyond
the mere grisliness of the death. When Tim stopped talking he sat silent for a
moment and shushed Tim when he started to talk again. Suddenly, it struck him.

fBehead Me! 0 he cried. ifiThat 6s it
AWhatl|l ames are you Tim tolld swgar likdbao u t
|l ongshor eman, but he didnot do it i n

iYou said he was decapitated by t
AThat 6s what the detect i vieaswastlae d.
first time hedd ever written 6decapi
AfiThat 6s eerie. Al most ironic. He
fiGrossmaybebo ut what 8 so ironic
AfiThereds a classic geocache back
puzzle cachea riddle really.You have to solve theddle and enter the solution
as a keyword into Certitudes to get
sure Tim was following. fAThe puzzl e
| sometimes stand on one leg. Behead me and | stand on twodBeéea
again and | stand on four. Name me.

fi | donot get it Are you SuUuUppoOSs:¢
fl amingo?90

nNo. |l mean, yes, an ani mal i S pe
the first part, about standing on one leg. The animal cones er . 0

iSo are you going to tel!l me t he

ARGl ass. 0

ARGl ass?0 Then it dawned on Tim. (
word to get the second and then do the same to the next. He visualized a wing
glass standing on one leg, a thin stén© h . I see. ThHettook s
a long swig of his beer. ifSo can you
company from your angl e?0o0

filt could be relevanttomyowncase6d | i ke t o talk

guy, preferably before I go in fahe official inspection. Do you know how to
contact him?0o0

ANot directly, but hebés supposed
Hebs here now. Letds go ask him.o He
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Cliff followed Tim down to the barn. Two horses were in their stalls, a
chestnugelding and a bay mare. The far end of the barn already had the framing
done for an extension. Sullivan and a helper weaitng boards up for the walls.

iNoah, I have someone | want you
to his left hand, anticipatinglra nd s ha k e . AThis i s CIlif
detective. He worked with me in the

APl eased to meet you, sir.o Sull
the honorific.

ACal |l meeddae.f fMay | call you Noah

A Ok alyhhedy shook and Sullivan | ooke

ACliff has a question to ask of vy

il donot have the money for a |
anxiously.

fiNot a probl em, No a h, dy sGrhebrfe klsesla i
canét officially investigate your so
I might be able to find something ou

AHow can | hel p?0

il heard that he was fri &ketdtalktovi t F
hi m. Do you have his contact infor ma

Sullivan thought for a moment. A
it. Why? |Is he a suspect?0

ANo, no. Nothing | ike that. l Om |
if there was anythingunny going on there. Is there anyone else Brigham might
have been closer to, anyone he might

iAt wor k? Not that [ k nRachel Wiight. He
| m sure he talked to herr yatbhoiung .ha s

AfiDo you have her contact infor mat

Noah pulled out a cell phone from his pocket and pushed some buttons.
He asked CIiff if he was ready, and CIiff pulled out a business card from his
wallet, the only paper he had handy. He always hadraimp his skt pocket.
Noah gave him a telephone number.

AiShe | ives with her parents. That
cel l phone, but you can reach her th
ils there anything you can tell n

hehappywo ki ng t here? Was it a good pl ac
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iHe | i ked o p ede gotalongwith theeothdr warkerg, but
he did not | ike his boss. I told hin
gentile. 0

Tim spied a quizzical lookro Cl i f f 6s face and ex
nonLDS. 0
Do you know why h €liffdontduecdt | i ke h
He said he made him do things he
g for a boss. 0

iwhat kinds of things? Something

iBgham would never do anything di

Cliff knew an evasion when he heard one.ddatinued to go at the
guestion from a few different direc
anything dishonest at Bel cherooutbeing he
sure.

f
i
t hin

Tim tapped Cliff on the shoul der.
please get that number for Eddie Trane and let us know when you h&'e it.
yes, contact Rachel 6s parendts, too,

iYes, sir, I will .o

When they got back to the house CIiff discovered his suitcase had
already been brought up to the guest house and Luisa had ldidsbufruit in a
bowl on the small table. Cliff excused himself and went to unpack and take a
shower. When he emerged, Luiganounced that dinner would be in half an
hour. The savoryperfume of Italian spices wafted through the room.

iSo, ar e $Subivanwah killedibecauge he was making trouble
at Belcher?o06 Tim asked.
Ailtés a possibility.o

iThe pol i ce tigated dis wotkgage, asked about any
enemies or trouble. 0

AThey didnot know about API X. Wh
the one doing the dirty deed there. You think any of the employees would rat him
out on a potenti al homi ci de?0

iAFair guppbse,tbut is lthis really worth kiling someone over?
How much money are we talking here?b9d

AFor API itds millions in | ost p
would go to Belcher. There are hundr
theyca®t be making much more on the kn
parts. |1 6d be surprised if theyoére n
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a year from API X. I think theyo6d gi
losing API as a customeBut if Sullivan was going to go to API, or go public
somehow, Belcher could lostose to a million a year in business.

iMaybe thatds worth killing for,
was causing any trouble, much less going to APIl. Why nofijeshim if he was
a reluctant employee?o0

AMurder does seem drastic. o

They continued batting ideas around until Luisa called them to dinner.
They both realized all they could do at this point was speculate. Just as they wer
sitting down to eat, Noah Sivén knocked on the door and handed Tim a slip of
paper with the telephone number for Eddie Trane. Tim handed it to ClIiff.

Timés daughters came tromping do
found their places at the tablEhey looked tired, moving slowly, their faces red.
Tim explained to CIiff that the girls now mucked out the barn and corral. They
had to prove they were responsible enough to take care of their horses before
they would get their own.

After a superb mealfdasagna salad, garlic breacand Chianti, Cliff
excused himself once again, this time to make the call to Eddie Trane.wasne

more than willing to talk to him, S i
i nvestigati ng B wantghoaatkdshimdreperson,.andClanef f
agreed to meet himt a | oc al bar i f Cliff wou
around the bush about the quid pro quo.

A half hour | at er Cliff and Tr a
favorite watering hole. Tranembled and sometimes forgot the question, but he
di dnot seem evasive to Cliff. He an

seem all that close to Brighaifirane was over forty and Sullivan was just out of
high school.They played basketball at Ium@me, just shooting hoops, playing
HORSE He di dnét know about any troubl
Brigham got yelled at by Mr. Belcher sometimes, but everyone did. Belcher was

a tough boss, but fair. He reveemeth&r i g
Cliff decided to switch tacks. i
APl X?0

Trane was momentarily befuddled at the question. He was working on
his third whiskeyatdsuro.nei We ahippanrts toc u s
them all the time. Whadés t hat got to do with Bri
AiProbably nothing. Did Brigham ma
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il dondt know. Any part that need
on. 0

AfiDo you ever see the drawings for

i No I dondt open t hien mahe . ofTfthiec &
funny you ask. o

iWhy?o

AiWhen | first started here we wus
Now hardly any. API X is almost the o

AfiHow do you know that? I f you don

ifiThe tubes. &dhpr dituepbigtanadrt hey
f ol ded, rdleduptahdmaildd in¢hose cardboard tubes, you know. A lot
of customers used those before, but
now because we hardly see any. | empty the sadhknow. Almost all the tubes
now have APIX labels. Is there somethingwrengt h APl X? 0

AYou tell me. o

Trane just shrugged and drained his glass, looking at it forlornly. Cliff
got the message and went to the bar to get a refill. When he returnecaedep
the question.

il donot know not hinbo b adYou &Pl X
havenot sai d what this has to do wit
AiNope, I havenodt . I'tds probably I

this conversation. 0 Widtodt, leavim@d couple of g o
twenties on the table. He had gotten very little of use from Trane, but that part
about the cardboard tubes seemed odd
believe in coincidences. There had to be a reason why they @dgvagper copies
when the rest of the industry didnot
Back at the Rothma he and Tim went over
and two new horses. They joked about old times. Tim reminded CIiff about the
time Cliff was introducingTim aroundas a newly arrived ageand when Cliff
walked him into the lobby of the Stanford Police Department and asked tesee t
Chief, the attractive young woman at the desk asked who Cliff was. When CIiff,
in his suit and tie, b s h own hi s credenti al s, S
sorry, I di dnot recognize you with
Cliff to blush an even deeper shade. He had had a hard time convincing Tim the
mistake occurred because Cliff and a cowflthe other agents were allowed the
courtesy of changing their clothes in the police locker room to jog on campus.
They would come to the side door without coat and tie and press the button,
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whereupon the desk duty would view them through the camerayumzdthem

in. The process was repeated when they returned after their run in their running
clothes. The woman was used to seeing Cliff in running shorts through a fisheye
security camera lens, not in his suit and tie in the lobby. They laughed long and
hard over that one. It sure felt goodriive those times.
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Chapterl3

Cliff was met in the lobby by Richard Belcher, the President and General
Manager of Belcher Industrie€liff was again using the identity of Dave
Anderson of KE Solutions. Belcher immediately launched into a sales pitch about
how i mportant API 6s hbwmchtheysvaluedwcastomer o
satisfaction. Cliff waved off the blarney asdid he had no interest in a tour.

iLetds go into your of f the efficedandt e
Belcher offered him coffee, but Cliff refused. When they got settled he began.
AHow many different parts do you mak

AfOver a dozen. |l think itoés fifte

AAnd your Dbillings? How much do vy

i Overreet hmi | I i on a year. You proba
of fhand. o

AiThat 6s about to end. I f you and
of f, wedre going to another vendor. o

Belcher stood stunned for a moment.

iAPlI X? Why, what €0

AfCome onl Bebshaot play game scam We
i s . Youdre about this close to being
APl X, our compet it or-discloguneuagreementy iHoel ahtee
his thumb and forefinger a hatich apart.

AMm-t hatds not true. We would never

AProve it/ APl X doesnbt even pri
drawings to make their parts. That 6s

them the engineering costs. o0
i No , no, no. T h e ylikese\eny dtheucsstocher. dhey n ¢
send us drawings, we bid, they order, and we fill it. The same as with everyone

~

el se. 0O

il dondét believe you. Show me an

Belcher spluttered for a few seconds but then regained his composure.
ANow wait d miambdtte do t hat. I canodt
canbét show them your drawings. Who d

Al think I &m the man whobés hol di
Il 6m about to yank it. o

AJust wait. Letsee fiOkak, cokawng Ip

me . I can show vy oHe lea@iff vd? toXomdlings lveigen g . «
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four-drawer file cabinets that looked even more dilapidated than the ones in
Cliffos ol d FBI of fice. H e owkowthichohe e d
did.

Belcher pulled a drawing slightly out of a manila folder, revealing only
the lower right corner, whe the title block showed the APIX logo and
engineer®s name and da-t-kke kX Bhe gartwdsa h
ceramic dik . Cliff didnot recognize the p
as being the same format API used. Belcher immediately shoved it back into the
folder.

AfSee, 0 he exclaimed, #Ajust 1ike |
AiShow me this one, 0 Cliftlesamemlti e
number hedd mentioned before, t he noc

read off the part number withe format APIX used.

Belcher nervously complied ffing through the folders until he came to
that part number. Again he edged the cowofehe drawing out. Cliff grabbed it
and yanked it from his hand.

AHey! You candt €0
fi | knew it. ltds a photocopy of
bl ueprint of the original nozzl e. A E

upper right of tle part drawing.

The nozzle was one of the oldest parts APl used and the original
blueprint had been hardtawn by an engineer. He had made natethe right
hand portion in his own handwriting. The APIX drawing had the identical notes
in computer text, buthey had been cut out on paper and taped over the hand
written notes, then photocopicbh e t ape job hadndét bee

see bits of the original handwriting
covered it.
iOhdédd never noticed that before.
API drawi ng, now t hat you mention it
AAnd that. And that.o Cliff point

obvious photocopy. In fact if you looked carefully, you could see where
center portion of the drawing, containing the drawing itself, had been cut out and
taped onto a large blank sheet containing only the border and the tARRIX
block The center portion was slightly darker and you could see the faint outline
of the tag where that @rtion had been affixed to the bord@ihe line qualitywas

fuzzy and the handwriting was barely legible. It was obviously a poor quality
photocopy.
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il see what you mean, but i tods n
very close, but thedimensions are different. He pointed to one of the
measurements. On the API drawing it
was whited out and in a diffidhemst ik

di fferent part from APl &ds. 0

ABul l shit! o Adlhiaftfé sb el Ifoankeed.c hange
make it look different. A thousandth of a millimeter? Get real. Even this part
doesnodt need a tolerance that fine.
meet that spec. They 6 d-pojntt smto . s dth  tf et
your machinists dondét even use this
me, SO you can claim they sent you a drawigu just take APIX orders right

out of the same inventory bin you ta
iNm,o. We donot do that. I me an, C
t hey do, itdéds a mistake. They shoul c
APl X drawings. o0
AiYoubre a terrible Iiar. O6Not sufy
they do.Y o u 6 v e rkm thevstart these drawings are photocopies of API
dr awi ngs. Yoetuléidn ch arvet ttoo. Thatés it.

was a bl uff since he didnot have th
needed the parts to fulfill orders fromits et omer s and di dn
supplier in its back pocket. He locked eyes with Belcher. This wasshddies
poker.

Belcher caved.

iokay, okay. We 61 | stop selling
president . You <can | i sAPéis amofthalf s e ¢
business. 0

AThatds not enough. I need to knc
do you deal with?o

iMi chael Deal . Heds the president

AGo on. o

il thought it was | egit at first.

suppliedsomp arts to t hem, but they had to
tax and labor issues. He said he was licensed to use their drawings as long as |
redid them with his own | ogo. 0

iSo you knew these were copies of
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i Of cour s e. be¥oididi nbt tdracegnizetthem as the same.
But I thought he was selling them to API. | thought it was some way to avoid
uni on | abor issues. o0

AWhen did you real i ze bu#mlicompetitiars n 6
with then®? o

il didnét, rkontow enchlelrye. tlh edyi dwebrte
il told you to cut the crap. You I
il figured it out. Deal kept tell
would destroy the c¢clean channel and

AHow much di dheAPpaXr tpsao f or t

AiFi ve percent over what we charge

AAnd whatdés your profit margin on

AfAbout five percent. o

iSo your gross profit from API X w
doubl e what it was for API . O

iMor e or | es saveBudrawingsHdr e ar sixX API parts
and their over all volume is only a
APl X6s business. | candt |l ose API . O

iThe drawings are ripped off. I ¢

have permission from APbtuse its drawings. It has no business relationship
with APl whatsoever. If you make or sell another part to APIX you are
commi tting a cri me, a theft of i nte
NDA subjecting you to treble damages and a lawsudluding liability for
attorneybés fees. O

nwedll stop. | told you. 1611 <cal
ifGo ahead. Put it on speaker. A
drawings. o0 Cliffdéds adrenaline | evel s

wide openHe was abouto nail the bastard. He pulled out his phone and hit the
video record app.

Bel cher placed the call and was
took the call after two minutes.

Deal: Richard, how are you?

Belcher: Not good. | just got paid a visit by API.

Deal : So, what 6s the probl em?

Bel cher: They told me you donoét
They said | have to stop selling to you.
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Deal : Of course theydre going to
clean so the uni obringtheveork m&dusefBatitheyerealty h e
want the parts to keep flowing through us.

Bel cher: Thatoés not what theyodre
lose their business.

Deal: They candét do that. Thatds

BelcherThat 6s up to you, but | canot
getting the drawings, anyway?

Deal : Il told you. API gives them
your stock in the parts webve given

Bel cher: I candét. Sorry.

DeakWho is it youdre dealing with

Bel cher: Dave Anderson. Heds a co

Knowl es: Deal |, this is Ander son.
you. I f you know whatodés good fserup yol
shop.

Deal: Wedbre a legitimate business

My lawyers will be all over your ass. [Phone call ends before Cliff can reply.]

Cliff almost dancedn his chair he was so full of energy. He asked
Belcher tosend Morga all the correspondence, contact informatidrawings,
and order information he had from APIX or Deal. Belcher agreedet it
together for him and have it shipped or emailed within the next twa @4y
thanked him for his cooperatioHe put the ARX nozzledrawing in his briefcase
and stood.

AfSo wedre good wi Bl ARkErnowmpl or @k
to leave.

iThat decision can only be made I
why not. I 61 | make cl ear youbve coop

As theywal ked out the door of Bel clt
standing there waiting to talk to Belcher. He did a double take when he saw CIiff.

i Wh o a, Mr . Knowl es. I di dnot Kknow
anything more about Brigham? Was itreally ancai dent ? 0
Belcher blanched and looked at Clift. K n o wl es ? What i s

youd t hen afShaw ame asusme IAD. 0O

Just when everything was going great, some moron has to screw it up.
Al d&m just who | said | wasn myheh agnudys
have Morgan call you to confirm it.
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Cliff strode out purposefully before he coudd called upon to explain
further. Belcher was right on his heels demanding to know what this had to do

with Bi gham Sullivanés deat h. Cliff i g
phone. By the time he got to his car he had Morgan on the line.
nRal ph, it os Dave Anderson. We

Bel cher with stolen API d r @thcomming and B ¢
told us the whole story. He called Deal with me there and told them he was going
to stop doing business with them. | have it all recorded. | talked to Michael Deal
mysel f and told him to cl ose uphissho,

word and stops selling to API X, you
Her e, | 6m handing him my phone. 0

Cliff coul dnot hear what Mor gan
obsequiousness, al | Afyessir 0 saackingfino
him up.

Belcher handed CIiff the phone but stood his grodind. want t o
what he meant when he called you Kno
deat h?o0

Cliff got in his rental car and
thatemplg ee of yours must be nuts. Be s

rolled up the window and drove away.
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Chapterl4

ElI'l en and Mat't drove up to the v
trailer park nestled not so cozily between Highway Borastradero Creek, and a
string of auto body shops. Thiacility did not house the double wide luxury
mobile homes or even the single wigeu see in the highlass parksPeople
herewere livingin true trailers, the kind you pull behind a pickup and fosea
camping weekend.

When they | ocated Maureen Littl ed
fifth wheel, designed to fit over the truck bed, cab, @mvdedbehind. Ellen was
surprised to see it was freshly scrubbed and shining like a medal of honor.
Perhaps that is what Ellen thought of because of the red , white, and blue bunting
decorating the outside. A little early for the Fourth of July, but what thk. hec
There was a goeslized planter box outside the front door boasting cheery asters
and dahlias. There were colorful curtains in the window ewvehthe cracked
pavement around the trailer was spotless.

Little invited them in and they sat at a tiny foldwdotable, all three of
them close enough to hold hands. She offered tea, but the agents declined. Elle
had seen a mug shot from twenty years earlier, and a recent drivers license phot
of Littl e, but the woman di dnaat bunuct
looking much better. Ellen ran through the mental checklist she would put in
criminal 302, a white female, early forties, blue eyes, brown hair mixed with
gray, 56 50, 145 pounds. This was f
describe he woman, she knew. Little looked like a typical suburban housewife:
pleasingly plump, wearingewslacks and a clearironedoxford shirt. She had a
nice smile and was wetjroomed, withneatlycombed hair and tastefully done
minimal makeup. Ellen had ndoubt Little had prepared for the interview and
was determined to put on her best face, and it showed. There was nothing wrong

with that, of cour se. |t spoke well
squeaky cleain other respects

il want u,00 thiatntkl ¢ obl urted out as
been made.

El'l en kept silent since Matt was
our job, madam, 0 he replied. AYou a

pardon application cases thatarerefee d t o us. O
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i Oh, I di dnot mean you t was aapec
institution Thank you for arresting me and sending me to prison. It was the best
thing that ever happened to me. 0

Ell en and Matt exchanged s RoepiMa ce
replied.

il was out of control. Drugs had
kid who needed straightening outederal prison got me clean and straight. |
dondédt know what | would have become
life ' a wondertfi | husband and a bright, heal t

AWedre glad to hear iit, o0 Matt sa
faith in Littlebs assurances. AWe al
start with why you want a pardon. o

ilédm a drug toéengelwar dnag. wbr k ¢
peopl e, but it dMy dssinatidt waspaaprincipab at ¢ locale |
elementary school and we could get by with our combined salaries, but not
anymore. | want to teach school. As a convicted felon for dimgew | 6 m n ot
eligible to teach in the public schoolé pardon would wipe the conviction off

and | 6d be eligible. Teaching doesn¢
We could get back in our house again
AYour hous e ?réad &M the prioirvestdyationavtiteups
nYes, after my husband died | C ol
to sell or rent the house. Rents are so high right now, | could make enough
money renting it out to support my s
As Matt went oe r Littleods l i fe story, E
abode. There wasndt room for much de

son sat on the few surfaces that were availdbb®ks were stacked on a bunk.
There was no TV, but a laptop was visible top of thesmall refrigerator.She
noticed that Maureen had a smal/l cr
gotten religioni or wanted them to think sdShe remembed one of the
interviews said she played the organ in chutdttle, while still maintaining eye
contact with Nguyen, slipped tmecklaceback into her shirt, out of sighEither

she was watching Ellen from the corner of her eye or she was genuinely trying to
avoid displaying the cross.

As the interview progressetMaureen talked more and more about her
son Peter. He was now thirteen and deserved to live better than crammed into ;
trailer on the edge of a freeway across from a ghetto. He got his lunches througt
the subsidized lunch program at school. She had @ $&m cheap food a lot
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of rice and beans and noodl es, st ar c
was a scarce commodity on their tabl
afford to feed him properly. She was a good teacher. She knew she cauld do
good job at the schooBhe was a top student in college and already had her
credenti al . S h eThg sohedl had areatlydofiedet heuasjabh ad t
soon as shgot the pardonSoon her eyes moistened and then the moisture
became a flood. Tearan down her cheeks in torrents.

il dm sorry. | 6m sorry. I didndt v
Peter. Hebs a good ki d, really he i
deserve this. | made my choices. But

Matt squirmed uncomfeably as Little collected herself. When she
finished crying and bl ew her haderded he
a week earlier.

il had a friend take him for an
ice cream. That 6s Umeadgnore time,u gah ¢all ersandd t
have her keep him a Ilittle | onger. o

AnThatos fine. Weol |l be done soon.

But Matt was wrong. He delved more deeply into what she had done
with her life since getting out of prison. It was quite a story, a tale of Narcanon
and AA, of minimum wage jobs, of reconnecting with her estranged parents, now
deceased, of meeting her husband in a blind date set up by a friend, of the joy o
Peterds birth, of her hus Becrssxamineda r |
her aboutndividuals from her Berkeley days, but she steadfastly denied having
anything more to do with any of them after she wettt imison.

AThe pardon isndét just for me, 0 |
bit. it woul d be a IspYobknowcwhat estarting c e
teacher makes here? Fitye thousand a year, gross. That might be fine in
Peori a, but not her e. orMyg,bubitorents éorfoitys n 6 t
nine hundred a mo n grésspayDffadeached heroleapest t h
houses cost over a million dollars buy The school s here ¢
High-tech firms hire away anyonender thitywh o6s compet ent
salary. The fultimers who are here are diitners who are just hanging on for
the penon and the rest arsubsor first-year graduateccommuting an houor
moreeachway The ki ds are getting a raw d

Ellen was writing notes furiously when the door flew open. A teenage
boy stood there looking surprised. Thissaabviously Peter. An Asian woman
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stood behind him and apologized for interrupting. She asked if they should come
back later.

i No, thatdés okay. Wedre done here
I 6dm Matt Nguyen and t his ittextemdedahand| e
as herose.

AHI . Pl eased to meet you. o0 Peter
adult. The boybds | arge hands bespoke
almost scrawny, as Maureen had said, and still had several incheshintbejg,
but he looked healthy. His handshake was firm and vigorous.

Ellen stood and edged out from behind the tiny table when Matt made

room. Peter held out his hand to her
woman FBIlI agents on TV, 0 Peter said.
iNow, Peter, 0 Maureen cautioned.
iltos OokEdYy efiYome preiaend | 0-five years oldt we
stacked | i ke a Playboy centerfold, a
il . [ e | di dnot mean éo0 Peter
cardinal red.
El'l en | aughed. ilém just teasing,
real l'ife arendt | ike they show on T

just a little too old for that.
As they stepped out onto the pavement Maureen stepped ouhweiith t
iwhat are my chances for the pardon?

AWe really donot know, 06 Mat't an
unusual and eaemaghaxomérnti ehnacvee wi t h t hem
political, and with a Republican pre

A Wiylolu recommend me for one?0o0

El'l en answered this ti me. inWe ar
against . ltds purely a presidenti al
the facts. o Then softer, so thata Pet
fine young man there. I 6d tell y ou
obviouslyalreadya r e . 0

Little beamed. AiThank you. And wl

youi the whole FBIi f or putting me on the right
was, for everything | put everyone through, including the FBI. | was a terror
when | was arrested. | bit and scratched and spit. If | could apologize personally
tothosepooragnt s from back then | would. o
She pulled a tissue from a pocket and wiped her nose.
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ildm sure theydd understand, 06 EI|I
Just stay clean and sober like you have bAad.please, wilyou do me a favor
and call me i f you get the pardon? \
close the investigatiod She handed Little her card.

Al will .o

They turned and left. Ellen just hoped that what she abilt the
arresting agentsvas truer Somehow she wasnot SO
understanding.

When they got back in the car, Ma

i Me n eYiotuh &rn.o w, you donot l ook I i
eithero

AfiThereds usually akgek&§s Agi aompgu

iYou hardly know how to turn a co

ATrue. O
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Chapterl5

As soon as Cliff got back to Ti m
Brolin on the line, too. CIiff related the entire interview in detail.
AThat os ftferdai Broli €l gushed. nWe |

t hat drawing, dondt you??od

iYes, | kept it. o

iwWe need to know all t he parts
somewhere. We can trace it i f we kno

Bel cher swore hWe dhaswe do ptoiuo rt sh ei
Il 6m going to start contacting oLl
continued. Al ol |l I et them know t hat
drawings and thatoés trade secret t
knowi ng t h at-conspidateryaid ceulddaoe a civil suit. | want that proof
in my hands, though, before | do that. Otherwise they could accuse me of unfair
competition, threatening a customer to cut off goods if they deal with a
competitor. Canyoubrng me t hat drawing today?
done enough. o

This was not what Cliff wanted at all. He had two days of vacation
planned and Ellen wanted him to finish those two geocaches for the Fizzy
Chall enge. He di d t drawing 9b fao lookme gd back to| y
Bel cher and see if | can get more wh
can show a pattern. In fact, we should do the same with one or two other vendor:
before going that route. As you say, itisriskyifybw n 6t have proo

i
i

AiYoubre probably right. Fi théngeh u |
somet hing from another vendor. A few
ioOkay, I will. And you should st a

gets paper drawings from APIX Theydre obviously ge
your parts drawings, not digital copies. If they had digital ones it would be simple
to modify them to look differen\With paper hey have to use scissors and tape.
So you should check your printer logs oratdwver tracking system you have to
see who has printed out copies. o

Al ol | get right on that, 0 Morgan
have access to those are our enginemigesmenthe librarian, our buyers, and
the vendors who bidAnd some executives like me, | suppoBat that includes
hundreds of people. o

AfOkay. 16l see you in a couple o
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Tim Rothman was in the room and picked up the gist of the conversation
from hearing CIliff 06s ensgodr.stayiwmyouodolden Y
tongue. Did you find out any more ab

AnNo, I really couldné6t go into ¢t
not investigate a car accident. But one thing did happen on that front. That idiot
EddieTr ane saw me come out of Bel cher 6:
in front of Bel cher, then asked how
going. o

iSo Bel ¢ henelodkingantoghaty o u 6

AnProbabl y. I acted | i kdthé wadcrazy 6t
which fits with his reputation. Maybe Belcher bought it, het can probably
wring the details auof Trane. My best hope is that Trane was so dwh&n he

talkedtomethahe doesnét remember my full n
il t howgttai d he called you by yol
nYeah, he said O0Mr. Knowl es, 6 bu:

first name. ltds unlikely Belcher ha

| 6d just as soon he didd®tm Kmow. who
ifHey, Noah got back to me. Rachel

ob6bclock. o
iGreat . That gi v e3 hdwhabout thatshbrsebadk t

ride?o
AnYoubre on. I | ooked at those tw

One of them, Topfo Rocky, isndét far from here

by horseback, the base of it anywdye mountain is called Rocky KnolGet

changed and | etés go get it before i

this afternoon. o

Cliff needced no further persuasion. He changed into his jeans and a
lightweight long-sleeveds hi r t . He didnot have rid
hiking boots withdeep enoughheels that would work to keep his feet from
slipping through the stirrupsie slapped on swe sunscreen around his face and
neck and griabed a baseball caple packed a bottle of water, his GPS receiver,
and regular geocaching gear into a lumbar pouch.

It took almosthalf an hour to get the horspeepped andnto the trailer.
Tim had to checkheir hooves and shoes, bring carrots for treats and make sure
he had the right gear for Cliff. Luisa helped them, mainly by giving Cliff a
refresher course on riding horses. Cliff had been on a horseback vacation onc
with his first wife years earlier, @ fAgr eenhornd ranch,
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basi cs, but he wasnot an experienced
knees and butt had hurt after riding. Still, it had been fun. He was looking
forward to this ride evemorrohough he

Since Tim stildl only had the two
Tim hooked the trailer up to the pickup and the two men set off. They drove
twenty minutes to théditrailhead s u c h  ansl braudht owt ahe horses.
Phantom, the chestngelding waslarger tharPearl, the mare.

ildm going to put you on my hor s:¢
AYoubre a mighltdnhelaivgyh tfeorr tPheaanr ly. o u .

You did tell me youbve ridden before
Spirted?Wlat di d that mean exactly? 0@l
AYouodl I be fine. Phantom | ikes t

Just dondt try to gallop or get fanc
He might as well have told CIliff not to try to skydive without a

parachute. Gallapng wasnaot on his agenda. Th

before was a very controlled environment. The horses were all very tame trail
horses. The rides were ali awalking gait, not even trotting, and in large groups.
The horses knew the routes andbod n 6t get | ost. The
with no rough terrain or low branches. Here was different. They were in open
country with unmarked trails and lots of heavy bruahd low limbs And a

fi s p i harse ehd bad never been here before.

Tim sadlled up the horses and locked up the trailer. They were parked at
the end of a dirt road that led past a few isolated homes and came to a halt at th
edge of the mountains. There were no homes or other structures to the west, jus
mountains. He told Clifto go ahead and mount. CIiff put his left foot in the
stirrup and grabbed onto the saddle horn, then tried to throw his right leg over the
horse. Instead, the saddle slipped around the horse towards him and CIiff fell on
his butt. Phantom seemed bored.

Tim came over and cinched the saddle one notch tighter. Phantom
snorted and made his displeasure knc
the mane along with the justgddthesaddl® i
horn. o

ioh yeah, I f o rpmde mgredhuriCtan Hisf rears la higl |
second attempt he mounted smoothly. Phantom skittered a bit left and right at the
unaccustomed weight and shook his head.

Tim mounted and they began to ride at a leisurely pace up into the hills.
As they rode, they pged largb us hes and a few scruff



BEHEAIME 101

the local flora but he recognized pines and junipers here and there. The lowel
pl ants were sagebrush and many ot her
tended to grow in clumps, with a lof barren ground between supporting only a
sparse grass. Water was obviously scarce here.

Phantom wasweb e haved enough, but di dn¢
Cliffés body stuck out on top and tc
juniper, causingCl i f f 6s |l eg to rub on the pl:

duck or get a branch scraping against his shoulder oif matseemed to avoid
them with subtl e hor s e mienkali anphouCcCliff f f
realized hedod dhiummkwanoere drhdnt hey f we
halfway through. Tim noticed this, too and told Cliff that there was a full canteen
of water on Cliffds s adaghieduneTi m knew

They threaded their way through some prickly juniper and carm@to
a draw. Tim led them to the right, back toward the east and said the mountain
thatdéds straight ahead was the one t
confirmed it. Top of Rocky was dead ahead. Ten minutes later they were at the
base of what loked like an enormous rock pile. This was not terrain for a horse.
It was both feet both hands type climbing, boulder after boulder. They
dismounted hobbledthe horsesand removed the bridles $be horsescould
stand in the shade and nibble at $parsegrass.The ride had only been about a
mile and a half, but the terrain had been so steep that it had takeffiviorty
minutes.

They began the climb. Within seconds Cliff was flushed and sweating.
The heat, almost neexistent humidity, and the altile combined to make this
climb alone every bit equal to the 4.5 terrain rating on the cache.

|t took fifteen minutes, but bot
was telling him they were there. But the terrain at the top was even more difficult
than o the sides of the mountain. Huge boulders rose like spires all around. It
was treacherous moving. Any wrong step could result in a fall or a twisted ankle.

Tim was the one to make the find. large cooler jugwas wedged
between two giant vertical stone slainpsa sort ofsmall crevasse Tim was
perched atop the tallest spire when
called to Cliff, who was on a closer level to the cache. Cliff made his way over
andaw the cache. He coul dnot reach i
around tothe other side of the crevasse. He lay on his stomach and reached
down, pulling up thecache Inside was a Topwagaax her
logbook. He signed CliffNotesndthe date. He wrote a ni¢eng log in the book,
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a practice that experienced geocachers followedwhith newer cachers who
used smart phones rarely did. This cache had only been found by four people
previously. It always felt special when you found sdriveg very few others
have found.

Only when the search was over did Cliff realize what a spectacular view
awaited his attention. He could see for milesthe east Higher mountains
loomed to the westHe drank in the vista fora long ten minutesHe
photogaphed everything with his phoiiélim, the view, thecooler, the logbook.

Per geocaching custgime did not photograph the cache in its hiding place.

Then they made their way down the mountain and Cliff photographed
the horsesvho were standing right wherthey had left themThey remounted
and CIiff took a big swig of the canteen water. He realized he was a novice here
and how lucky he was to have a friend like Tim with him who knew what he was
doing They begarthe downhill ride back. Phantom continuedfollow Pearl
obediently.

They had gone only a hundred yards or so when an ominous and
unmistakable sound rose from beside the trailrattlesnake shaking its warning.
The snake was between Phantom and Pearl. Both horses jumped sideways. Pe:
began togallop forward, but Phantom was afraafollow her since therske
was in front of him. Instead, he reared and turned back the way they had come
Cliff nearly fell, but maanc mamab kedep ¢
from falling onto the rocks?hantom began galloping the opposite direction from
Pearl. Cliff knew he should be pulling back on the reins and trying to calm the
horse, but he was hanging on for dear life with both hands. His left foot had come
out of the stirr baskinasinak hehwas halooff to the right ¢
side. He kept yelling at Phantom to slow down, but the yelling just made the
horse more excited.

Cliff didndt know what he was goi
mountain, Rocky Knoll. If Phantom triedtorunp t he mount ai n |
for sure and Cliff would be thrown onto the rocks.

Suddenly there were hoofbeats to the left. Tim came galloping up full
bore beside CIiff. Without missing laeat, Ti m gr ab b e dridi®dnd nt c
began to slow him down.li continued to hang precariously on the other side
of the horse, his left leg the only thing keeping him on the horse. When Phantom
finally came to a halt, he slipped off all the way on the right side and patted
Phant ombés neck t o @aeltmholdihdoridlé anhe othermT i m
side until Cliff came around, took the reins and remounted. They turned around
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again and headed back to the trailhead, avoiding the stretch of trail where the
snake had been.

iltbés a good thing pvautdhadlfhygoear
through the stirrup youobd Ybuashoald Havee n

seen the lookonyourface. He | aughed as he said i
] donot see the homor . Thanks, b
AYou did good. Most r iwherns hveo uledr
il was just hanging on for dear |
Aiwell, dondt quit your day job fo
il 61 la thakcee safe job |ike FBI agen
fi E1 | ebe bustind ybur ballehen she finds out how close you came

to breaking your neck.

AiDon6t you dare tell her . o
AHey, you said this cache had a

wasndét going to be easy. o0

As they neared the truck, Phantom and Pearl recognized the trailer and
started trottingo get there fasterCliff bounced in the saddle like a ping pong
ball. His pelvis felt like a concrete mallet smashing his glutes with every step. He
yelled to Tim to slow down but Tim just laughed and urged Pearl forward faster.

By the time they got back to the truck, Cliff sv@almed down and so
was Phantom. The horses gladly got back into the trailer because they knew tha
meant going home and getting fed and
water in the canteen. Tim showed him there was a small cooler in thewrn#ile
more water in bottles. Cliff downed another full bottle.

Soon they were on their way home in the truck. CIiff was both
exhilarated and glad it was over. It was like a wild carnival ride with better
scenery and without the safety bars and OSHA irispeo n s . But t
extreme geocaching is all abol.e f i gured hedd earne
terrain and difficulty stars.

When they got back to Timbs, t hey

of Ti mods daughters, t hen maamd Olifi eache d
downed two chilled threavo Coors in quick succession. Luisa heard the whole
story of the ride, i n c tdeathierpgriencehike s n

Cliff, she didnot find it funny and
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Chapterl6

That afternoon Cliff could barely stand. Or sit. He could barely move at
all. But they had the interview scheduled with Rachel Wright so he sucked it up
and took a long hot shower and a nap. By evening he was even stiffer, but a
couple of aspirin hadhade the pain somewhat more toleralieleast he was
finally rehydratedHe realized that his arms were sunburned. For that matter, so
was his face and neck, despite the sunscreen. Too late he finally appreciated hoy
thin and dry the air waat this altude and how strong the sun this far south.

Cliff treated Tim anchis familyto a nice dinner a restaurant in Cedar
City. It was a tourist trap of sorts, but the food was good and the Rothmans ate
there on special occasionghe theme was Cajun and tfaod was blisteringly
hot. That 69 mard pain, Kléf thoughg duetde two cold beers were
perfect accessories to get through éxquisite but scorchinguisine. They had
real beer in the restaurants, not that anemic three two Ewiffa ha driven
t hem, since she hadnbot touched any
through the meal and took over driving when they left.

Emma and Lizzie had something mild to eat. They spent the meal asking
Cliff a lot of questions about the ride. Thegiggled incessantly when they heard
about him hanging on to Phantomds n
when he said his butt was sore from the trotting, they totally cracked up. Lizzie
spit her milk through her nose.

They had to cuthe festivities Bort so that Cliff and Tim could get to the
interview. After dropping off the fe
housei n C1 i. it a8 still Igft put as they entered New Harmony. Cliff
noticed a man of about thirfive walking along theside of the road witlhree
women behind him. They wore long dresses of a solid color and had their waist
length hair in braids. The women walked single file. The one in front appeared to
be about the same age g man Cliff assumed she was his wifedathey were
one of those conservative sects within Mormonism.

ALook at that $Sod hfae 6saiad Moo mbDinmf aff

hiswife,andd | guess her sisters. Theyodre |

t hey walk single file Iike that?o
AiThatds a Mormon family al/l righ

arenodt her sisters. At | east mo s t I

sisters. o
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iWait, you mean those are al/l hi s

AYep. o

il thought polygamy was outl awed

AYepaoods | a hpuvmedple dontg

AfJesus. 0O

AiThat s right. Jesus Christ of La

ABut dondt they enforce it? They

ANope. Therebdbs Mormons and t hen
this kind. A lot ofitanywayNoah says Rachel 6s not f
l' i ke a regular person. Her parents w

wi ves. 0

i Wh at about taxes and property r
| egal heirs?o

i Oh, on paper iotmellegal dndy the dne receghizedvidy f e
the state. The law is followed after a fashion. The others are just women in the
househol d. I donot do their t axes,
claims one dependent, plus all the children from al Wives. The federal
government may consider the latter kids bastards but those folks just see that as
normal family with three wives. His oldest child is probably baling the
younger ones from the other wivé$e must be very successful to havesththis
young. 0

They were greeted politely, if rather formally, by Rachel Vgrh t 6 s f @
He invited thema sit in the drawing room as he called it, although with its
television and sofas it looked like a living room to CIliff. As agreed, Cliff let Tim

dothe talking.

AiThank you for seeing us, Mr . Wr i

Mr. Wright nodded a sober acknowledgment but Rachel spoke right up.
ACal |l me Rachel, pl eas ewhoy Tdhoennd tt oy ohue
alone. These are friends of Brighd s . Mr . Sullivan said
find out what happened to Brigham. |

Alf thatdés what you want. I 611 b
nodded once more to Tim and Cliff, and left the room.

Rachel began teMrat iSvuelllyi.vafml t kmn
accident was é well, wasnot an accid

Cliff watched Rachel as she spoke with Tim. She was quite pretty in an
old-fashioned sort of way. Her makeup wadher on theheavyside and she
wore a dress, not jeans or slacks. She was dressed how a California girl might
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have dressed in the eighties or nineties, although her blonde hair style lookec
modern with an asymmetric cut. Tim would later tell him it resembled Kimberley
Cal dwel | 6sf falltahdumgdh iCdéa who t hat wa
on what it was at first that made her look-tdghioned, but then he realized she
di dndét have a tattoo or agrnglestugearnngine x c
each lobeAnd her hair was & natural colorShe hadndét vi si bl
body! How Twentieth Century!

fiWe donot know, Rachel , and weobr €
for Noah because heds concerned. Cl i
can help us. o
How?o
T h éas éeen some trouble at the company where Brigham worked.
Did he ever talk about that?o

Rachel played with her hair for a moment, twining atrand around a

i
i

finger. fAHe was kind of worried abou
dondét wanatnytoonegei n troubl e. 0
iYou wondét get anyone in troubl e,

true, but people were going to getrouble no matter what at this point.

iHe said the company was cheating
if he shouldtels o meone. 0O

Cliff and Tim exchanged glances but both of them remained silent, the
investigatorés technique for forcing

fHe said they were making doubl
someone elsdde thoughtthe ust omer was getting cha

Cliff knew this wasndét true. API
but he could see how the young lathe operator might not understand how the
scam wor ked. This clarified ssingée hir

drawings APIX sent. They were just there as a legal defense so they could claimr
they were using legitimate drawings from APIX. In fact when API placed an
order, Belcher wouldometimegust make twice the quantity ordered and sell the
extras to APX at a higher price.

ADid he mention this to anyone el

ifHe said he told his father but
how many parts it got. He said that Brigham mustriigtaken |1t di dn o
like anything was wrongto hima®ir i gham shoul dndt ri sl
at him. o

AAnyone el se?0
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Adondt think so. Wait a mReddi.tHe . F
said he wused to go to that forum f
Mor mon channel there.o
Do you kinmwl Ditshémng?o0
Not off the top of my head,thebut
threeadkand send you a link. Give me your

Tim did so.Further questioning brought meoreuseful information. Tim
and Cliff were invited to share insoma& e Rachel 6s mot her
accepted for them despite the big me
an insult to decline. Hospitality is more than mere politeness in this household;
itds a mor Afterwardmheyethaaked thheeWrightand returned to
Cliffdés car. Theyehdapesdibadck itfd Thiam
he would have noticed ti&UV following him. As it was, he and Tim talked over
the interview the whole way back and decided they needed to follow up the
Redlit thread that Rachel mentioned. He never noticed the headlights
approaching gently then dropping back discreetly the entire time. It pulled away
from them only when t hacgessnmead.e t he | a

Tim logged onto his computer when they Igettin. True to her word,
Rachel had already sent him a link to the Reddit thread and pointed out
Brighamdés wuser | D. He whistl ed when
Brigham had said his company was double charging its biggest customer anc
askedwhat others thought he should do. Most responses said to do nothing anc
let the customer take care of itself, the same reaction Noah had had. But one
respondent asked who the customer was and Brigham had named Advance
Photolythics. The user saigtighamshould contact them and tell them about the
doubl e order s, but donot t el l his b
Brigham said hedd decided to contact
at the companyHis Redditprofile also revealed #t he lived in Cedar City, Utah
and worked as a lathe operator.

ANow you have motive, o0 Cliff comn

iBut you really think API X reads
Come on. o

ATi m, trust me .| 6Delal Hest ame omAdriatt c
you have to do is put in Bew Google Alerts maybe one on API, one on APIX,
one on Advanced Photolythics and this thread will pop up in your morning email.
Or maybe Belcher told Deal one of his Mormon employees was having a bout of
conscience

i
i
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il suppobeeryght. Webre going to h
This could be murder. o

fAbsolutely 1t coul d complicate my <cas
client. A murder investigation woul d

ilf s 0 me o ofeSullivannbpcaude he was about to squal
could be someone besides Deal. What if it was Belcher? He nualsfsom this
scheme, doesndét he? And heds here. D

fiNot that much, not by along shét6 ve t al k e deveénDealB e |
a little bit Belcher doesnét have the spine
l' i ked Sullivan personally. Besides,
business. He caved so fast it was o
Deal has th bigger motive. His whole business could collapse if this comes out.
He was feeling the heat when | talked to him on the phone. My gut says it was
hi m. o
Does he have a criminal record?o
Not that we found. 0
There could be o tother vasd owist,h eavem
customers. o

AFor murder Psaji tdandteaded it.

o1 S ! i 1}

* % %

The next morning Tim calleBob Whitfield, the Cedar City detectiye
who was out on a caske avoided Moreno whbadseemed too negative to be
helpful. He left a messagdat saidh e 6d | ust | erglavamtetalthes o n
Sullivan casand asked for a call back.

Cliff was still in bed when this occurred. He eventually emerged at the
breakfast table, walking like he had a barrel cactus wedged between his thighs.

ATheries,be Lui sa decl ared. nWe wer
the fire department here to get you
huevos rancheros in front of him and poured some coffee and juice. Cliff wasted
no time in getting himself around itlal

AfOhh, o CIiff groaned. AThe things
iYou |l oved it and you know it, o
get back on the horse as they say. Y

AiNot today, thank you. 0
Tim briefed himon hiscal o Whi t fi el d then got
youbre right that iitbdés Deal, and he
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Sullivan, thad a RICO case. Racketeeriiignurder. You should report that to
the FBI back in California. Does Ellen work RICG

i No, and | donot think thereobds e
been declared akiindr un and it és just my theor
Still, you have a point. We could have him cold on Theft of Trade Secrets and
Interstate Transpottian of Stolen Property, both of which Ellen does work. But
we have to establish that he stole those API drawings, or got them illegally

somehow. As soon as API nails down w
to report it.o

Al f ités murepatittotheyFBlyohas el t . 0

i Oh, I wi || i f it comes to that,
yet. The Sullivan case is really yours and the Cedar Ritice for that matter.
What are you going to tell Noah? And

The two exagents hd been talking freely in front of Luisa, as they drank
their coffee.She clearly had picked up most of the details of both the hit and run
and the APl investigatodur i ng a | ul | she piped wu
tourists? Canot rcarenudedfup asdhe mwder whapadfiit t h e
was a murder? That whole thing about it being stoigit before the accident
seems fishy to me. o

The men looked at each other and nodalegir e e me n t . Al to
sai d. Al't candét rowwhere theobedahdberelkfadt s @here o
they were staying. They may still be

fiSure.l llBgo with you if youlke. Good cat ch, Lui sa.
She gave a little sniff like it was nothing.

* % %

The bed and breakfast turned out to be owned and rurehyité of one
of the members of the local water district board. Since Tim also happened to be
on that board, introductions were quick and cordial. She was happy to cooperate

even though this wasndét official. Sh

When Tim mentionechtat h e 6 dSwédeshir din Gthehave v
cards and were short on cash, she po
through AirBnB and it was al/l pai d f

need cash or a credit card to pay her. Afadling Tim this she paused and
stroked heamplechin a moment.
fiYou know, 0 she said, Anow that vy
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AHow so0?0

iWwel | | i ke | sai d, they didnot
they asked me to change some hundredstiheyd . 0

AWhen was this?0

nlt was the day before they |l eft.
They asked for smaller bills. | keep a cash box here. We sell some tourist stuff,
too. | gave them ten twenties for two of the hundreds, but that was alld cou
spare. o

ifWas that before the car was st ol

nOh, right, t he licewere.therk ia thé mornmg and
they left that same afternoon when the replacement car came, so the money thin
must have been the evening before. Soythewer en dt short o]
maybe they didndét have any small bil

AiThey got a replacement car?06 CIi

nOh yes. They had insurance. They
all. They told the officers that they had bought that exteedeihsurance the car
rental agency is always trying to push and it paid off for them. The company had
another one driven out here and drop

AiwWho was the detective who talked

AManny Moreno. O

ADiydu tel]l him about the five hun

i No, at l east I donot think so.
di dnét seem i mportant at the time. S

Tim shook his headd N o , no, Whab \gere ahkeyl like? Cleam t .
cuttypes? Theygvgou any troubl e?0

ANo troubl e, but they were more
young ones these days with the long hair who go off into the wilderness to
experience nature or find themselves. | know they were going to go to Colorado
next becauseheywerej oki ng about toking. Hey,
AnThey drank a | ot, too. I serve Wwine
woul d always finish the whole bottl e
fact, they were pretty drunk whehely came in that night and asked me for the
change. 0

Cliff | eaned 1in. inSo | et me make
they leftthey went out in the evening, got drunk, and by the time they got back
their car had been stolen and they had five hundred in cash. The next morninc
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they reported it to the police, the car company brought a replacement car, anc
after the police interviewthey left town. Do | have that righi

The woman adjusted her tbight tank top for a minute while she ran
through the timeline. She should have given up that item of apparel twenty years
and forty pounds ago, Cl i f f Yeslhstdits.v e d
You think they sold that car, or let someone steal it for five hundred dollars and

then got another one with the insur
conclusion that Tim and Cliff had botbachedseveral minutes earlier.
Ailadébpossibility, but we dondt wan
answered.
AIShoul d | cancel their reservati ol
AHol d on, 0 Tim said. ithey have a

i Oh, sur e. They | eft her e laguess, we
then they were going to go up to Yellowstone and Glacier National Park in
Montana, then back througdaho tohere and out to Los Angeles where they

were going |l eave from. They wanted t
already done Yosemt e and they hit Zion while
driving, I told them. I donét think
iSo when are they expected back?590
She checked her computer. AThr ee
dates she gave him.
AfDond6t cancel the reservation. Th

This is a big help. Thank you, o0 Clif
men left in a good mood.

ANow we have somet hing sollhaget® Ti
reopen the Sullivan case. 0

il agree, but t hat doesnot tie i
and the Swedes let someone take theiircaxchange for moneyt could be any
common drunk or car thief. From the sound of it, they met soméeoa bar that
night Maybe they cooked up the plot on
some drunk running over Sullivan in a-aidrun like the police concludedrhe

key is the Swedes. They can give us a description.c an 6t bel i e\
someone out with a plan to find somedne barto let him steal a cab.
iThe police may be able to find

guestion the bartender or waitress before the Swedes get back. There may eve
be surveillance video. o0
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AAfter ?t Niot Ildrkgel vy, but thatods w
to Whitfield and Moreno and | et them
iSo what are you going to do next
Cliff scratched his beard before

some more drawings beforeét ur n . Heds afraid his
stop buying from APIX based on one allegedly stolen engineering drawing.
Bel cher promised to send them all, b

ifiLetdbs go there now before he h,
wait i ng fsagreer@ant| Tirdut@he car in gear and headed toward Belcher
Industries.

When they got there, Tim waited in the car and CIiff went in. Dave

Ander son, KE Solutions consultant, ¢
refused. He contaetl his lawyer and grew a spine. He demandedARBX
nozzle drawing baclOf course | dbddndét give it

ASo what now?0o
iMor ganés going to have to cut

compl i es. My threats wer e acltcanaffoldy a
to do that. How6s he going to supply
Hebs not going to be happy. o

nAl I the more reason we need to

case. 0 Rothman dialed WhitfindéhitOfargali
the operator and asked for Manny Moreno. Tim told him he had information on
the Sullivan case. Moreno told him to come on in. Whitfield was expected back
shortly so he could explain it to both of them.

When they got there Tim introducedif€to the two detectives. Like
dogs sniffing each others6 asses t he
they got comfortable. Then they settled down to business.

Cliff explained the API case to the detectivasd everything they
learned about Sullan and the Swedish touristé became clearatherquickly

that the detectives didnoét really fc
why anyone would kill someone over some drawings.
ALook, you dondt need t o iklmatter, t h e

but the bottom line is that millions of dollars are at stake. The Sullivan boy was
about to spill the beans that Belcher whgating API. He said so on Reddit. If
API cuts off Belcher, his businessuld gointo bankruptcy Same withAPIX.
Therebs |l ots of motive. o
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Whitfield was stild]l hesitant. i We
of supposition there to make it a murder cdsaveling out from California in
the hopes of finding someoner?Whyomdi s v
rent one yourself and report it stoleih®till sounds like a hiandrun to me, but
if what you say about the tourists maybe selling or giving away the rental car for
five hundred bucks is true, tcdnaoped s a
new case on that and see if we can find the bar where tihvosgere drinking
that night. They were pretty distinctieoking and had an accent. A bartender or
waiter would probabl y rliglerosendveceld t h e m.

AfnAndepwvesany video if you find th
i Weodl | ask, but | doubt wedd get
couplewhen they come back, t oo. Wedre n

without more. We already interviewed him on the Sullivan @axkhe seemed

straight up. Wedre not going to go h

into him. Youbve got your own case,
AThat 6s al l we can ask,o Cliff re

* * %

Tim and Cliff decided theyo6d done
Cliff around the area for the next two hours, stopping for lunch at a steak house
called Fort Zion in a touristy little replica old west town. When Tim told CIiff
they wereinatownax!l | ed Virgin, Cliff coul dnot
again.

Tim had a season pass to Zion National Rarthey spent the rest of the
afternoon hiking through thepectacular canyons and rock formatio@siff
thought about how perfect it woule or placing geocaches, but national parks
are off limits except for virtuals and earth caches, two types that do not require
pladng a physical cachél'hey were taking it slow in order to enjoy the scenery
and geological wonderliff had a hard time afirst due to his horseback
experience, but the movement loosened him up and actually took his mind off the
discomfort.

* %k %

That evening Tim and CIliff discussed the two cases in depth and
concluded that they had done their part on the Sullivan caseslta police
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matter and theydd gotten the Tpmohad c e
done more than Noah Sullivan could have reasonably expéetied. f f di dr
what more he could d®n his own casehere now thatBel c her W ¢
cooperating. He tdl Tim he had to get back and would be leaving early in the

morning.
iYou going for that geocache on vy
AnDefinitely. Ell en would have my
try. o They both paused dthe chdice gf wards.a | i
iShedbd beheadsmiimg, 6 CI i ff
fBe sure to take extra water, and
il dve set my phone alarm for 5A
breakfast. Which reminds me, do you
fi F o rflightynstructor businesso
iSend me .a&n i nvoice
nReally, Cliff, forget it. Youore
ATi m, you arenot saving me any
anyway. Youdd be doing me a favor t
lodgingthecknt wi ll think | <came out here
AwWwhich you did,o Tim said with a
AGuilty as charged, at | east for
and Luisa have been wonderfubl !l | §fugt
you the money anyway. I know your em
AfiHave it your way. | f youdre get
sl eep. I woul dnot want you to be o
exhaustion. |Itbés pretty rugged in th
iYoudbre right. Il 6m off to bed. I
t oo. Notice | di dnét even have a bee
ASuch an angel you are. o

Handshakes and hugs were exchanged all around and Cliff went off to
the guest house.
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Chapterl7

Cliff was an the road by 5:30 and reached the launch point for the cache
by 6:05.1t was already light, with the sun about to creep over the horidoa.
residential streetnded, but there was a dirt road that led out west into the desert
toward the cache. He was undecided whether to try to get closer in the car or hike

fromthereEl | en had told him shedd driven
using a Jwaxap .r eQltiaflf Gasnd he wasndt su
capabilities. He didndédt want to get

catch later in the day. He checked and the cache was less than two miles awa
straight line. He decided to walk.\tas still cool, quite nice for geocaching. He
would normally put only one bottle of water in his pack for such a short hike, but
heeding Timés advice, h end ghacked his GP8 ¢ o
uni tés. batteries

He thought about calling Ellen, bittwas just after five in California.
Hedd email ed her the night bef, sorhe t I
really didndt need t.dledecdecktowaieuntl hegat t
to the cache. It was supposed to be difficult talfias the difficulty rating
indicated, but Ellen had given him a good description of where to look. If he

needed more help, he figured he coul
far from civilization that there would be no cell signal. He beg&imdi
As hehi ked he realized the terrain

elevation change to the cache was only five hundred feet, bstrightroute
passedthrough deep gullies and over bluffSometimes he had to go quite a
distance around these obstacleke wasnot used to the
elevation and soon found himself getting tirklis soreness from the horseback
ride only exacerbated the situatide stopped or slowed as necess&nowing
there was no rush. Hi s flight wasnao
greater length many times. Still, it could take a long time finding the cache and
he had limited water. As he reached what he judged to be the halfway point, he
sawthah e 6d al ready drunk half the first
above the horizon. It was going to be hot soon.

By 7:15 he was at the cache site and began looking. There were more
places to look tahe 6d expected. It watisn wah | a
hundreds of nooks and crannies. He began looking and reaching in some of the
most obvious places. After fifteen minutes he took the last swig of water from his
first bottle. No problem, he thought. The way back is mostly downhill. Even as
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he tod himself this, he stripped off his long sleeve shittd stuffed it into his
pack. The temperature was almost eighty degrees already.

After another ten minutes, he decided to call Ellen. He pulled out his
phone and dialed. She answered promptly and absure i m it wasno
She was excited that Cliff was on site at the cache location. He explained that he
was having trouble. She went through her recollections again as to how to find
the cache. After five minutes she located a photo on her compiitdre o

Grandpads I mprobable Point cache in
phone and sent it to CIliff. With this in hand, he was able to see where he should
be | ooking. Hedd been on the wrong ¢
cache fronits hiding spot, he let out an excited whaopl called her back

AGot it!o

iYou found it ? AmdyaugbtSop of Rorlyalreadg | i |
t00.0

il di d. Those two Fi8ayl dmuaeadi
now.o

AAre you stitirdodue i n around

iYes, the same flight. My car 6s

BN

me up. | should be home ligur. o
iOkay, whenlydu genboarded or if you get delayed so | know
when to expect yau 0

il will. So how are things there?

iGood. Raimmgoésdbeen good, but [
coming through. I finished that appl
matters now. 0

ifiThe pardon case? You nailed her

An awkward pause foll owed.uwhaCll i f
found or what | wrote. o

Cliff knew Ell en too wel!/ not to
You wrote her up all sweetness and |

ACliff, youdre being unfair to he
what sheob6s. breeamdds hmotugthhat Ber kel ey |

il candt believe this! |l come all

my wedding promise to you and this is how you repay me? She bit me and

almostgave me ADShebés a scumbag dope deal er
AAl DSW? ydabére being ridiculous.

And shewasa dope deal er, but not anymo
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i nvestigati on, Sso just quit being su
pardon,anyway, from what | hear about the procesg, t hat 6s what
hear . o

Christ almighty!o

Dondt swear asemideeout@athblicl en was a

Cliff was trying to place the log book, swag, and everything else back in
the cache as he was talkingBten, the phone wedged between his shoulder and
cheek. The conversation, however, got him so agitated, he stopped being carefu
The phone slipped from its perch and fell onto the rocks below.

Immediately, Cliffbentdown and retrieved it, but it was dbus it was
dead. The front was shattered and it did not respond to the power switch. Cliff
instantly regretted his haste. More than the cost of the phone, he realized Eller
would think he had hung up o nabohtehe i r
pardon casgof course. She had to write up her case as the facts deserved. He
woul dnot have compromi sed his findinr
Why had he been such an ass? That c
prodded him into a knejerk blue wall mentalityi agent solidarity above all else.
Hedéd apologize profusely when he got

He finished replacing the cache, opened his second botiatef, took
a drink, and began the hike back to his car. The temperature was now over
eighty. As he walked along he saw a desert tortoise lumbering by a rock. He was
about to take a photo, but when he pulled out his phone, he realized the camer
was useless. He considered tossing the phone away, but he reckoned the chi
inside would still have his clacts and photos. He might be able to get those off
even if the phone itself was a goner.

Cliff coul dnot see his «car argyest .
and a few scraggly desert shrubs obscuring the distance. He had marked th
location of the carlike any smart geocacher, and his GPS bail not been
damaged. I f hedd been using only his
have been in a sorry position. As it was, though, he knew exactly which direction
to go, although the terrain made haig and zag.

He was about halfway back, and halfway done with his second water
bottle when he saw a vehi cl blackPorscheh e
CayenneSUV was parked at the end spot of the rough dirt road that led out into
the desert, tfn one hedd decided not to tak
Management controlled this area and they had access roads here and there. +

i
i
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was now beginning to regret his decision not to venture off the paved road. He
was hot and tired and wished very mucthhd his car right there with the SUV.

Then he noticed that there was a man sitting in the shade of the truck.
Maybe that guy would give him a ride back to his car! The dirt road led right
back to it. Cliff picked up the pace and headed right for the frfanfigure stood
when he saw CIiff approaching. The sun was still low and toward the east, behind
the man, so all Cliff could see whis silhouette, a dark outline of a short male.

When Cliff was about a hundred yards from the nthe figure lifted his
ight hand in Cliffés direction and e
FBI agent. It was the report of a gun. The man was shooting at him!
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Chapterl8

Ralph Morgan studied the log sheets intently. He was used to studying
sales and production data on his screen, so using handwritten paper records we
unusual.

The binder before him held document request logs for the last two years.
The systemeldadmdtt hehamrgades that he
engineering drawings were kept in a library, both an electronic one and a
physical one. Drawings of recent vintage were electronic and stored on a servel
directly accessible only to the librariaenginers, and few other people, like
Morgan. Similarly, the paper blueprints or drawings, most of them created a
decade or more earlier, were stored in large metal file cabinets. These, too, were
accessible only by the librarians and higher management.

Engineer n g drawings were the reposi
jewels, their intellectual property, and were treated as such. When anyone
requested an engineering drawing, the normal practice was for the librarian to
check whether the person had the authorityiéw a particular drawing, then
assuming he did, to print one out and notify the person by email that it was ready.
Even the digital drawings weten printed out rather than emailed because it
was felt that it was a security risk to send out drawingsrbgil. Paper could be
tracked. The requester would have to come to the library front desk and show ID,
sign the log book, and enter the date along with the part number. When the use
was done with the drawing, he had to return it to the library and tsigack in.

The librarian would thershredor file the copy, depending on whether they
needed extras. Requesters were usually engineers, buyers, or salespeople.

Morgan was meticulously typing the names of every requésted in
the logbook into a spreduset. Every time someone made a request he would
enter the date and part number in the columns adjacent to the name. The mor
requests, the more columns got filled. As he continued to enter data, it soon
became clear that buyers were the most frequentesteps. These werthe
people who had to send adriawings to vendor® get bids on manufacturing the
parts. Since there were thousands of parts in all the different systems API made
or had made in the past and were still in use, there was a contiresdisonget
parts made, and to do it at the lowest cost.

If a buyer wanted to get quotes from three rubber companies, for
example, he or she would request four copies of the drawings with the
accompaning spec sheets, keep one drawing for himself for refsxgand send
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the drawings out to the three companies and details of required timing, quantities
and so forth.Bidders would have to sign nafhisclosure agreements before
receiving the drawingdhen the bids came in, the buyer would choose the best
one ad notify the vendors whether or not they got the contract. The vendors
were supposed to return or destroy the drawings if they did not get the contract,
and most complied, but the system was imperfect. Some drawings never made i
back.

After filling a few hundred rows on the spreadsheet, Morganame
awarethat one name had more columns to the right than any other. A lot more.
Ligaya Santos. Santos was a Filipina and ldinge APl employee. She was a
reliable and productive worker and probably handled more purchasing than most
of the other buyers because of her efficiency, but Morgan had never kept close
track. He just knew she metrhgeadlines and got decent prices.

He began to examine the requests she had made. Her duties encompasst
only the older systems. The newer ones were assigned to other buyers. Some ¢
the parts in the newer systems were the same as those in the oldesoomes;
were not. So it was difficult at first for Morgan to determine whether she was
requesting drawings for parts she worked on or not. Then he saw it: a request «
month ago for a drawing of a part to the newest system, one with a unique
design. Morgan reagnized the part number because it used a new format. There
was no reason for Santos to be requesting that drawing. She was on the
authorized list because she was a buyer, but the authorizations were not finely
tuned. Buyer sé ar e asftemdnoughahatpthe tisssicduld | i
not be updated all the time. Any parts buyer was authorized to see any parts
drawing.

He stopped recording all the requesters and began skimming through the
l'ist for all of Santosds Tweandbalfyears T
earlier she had requested the drawing to the ceramic nozzle Belcher made. The
was a part in her area of responsibility, but Morgan knew Ble&ther already
had that drawing since it had been making that part for years. It was cdiheeiva
t hat Santos had sent out an RFQ to o
be beaten, but she should only have done that if Morgan ordered it. He knew he
hadnot . That drawing request was t w
begun to dropnoticeably. Further examination of the requests confirmed his
suspicionsHe called Brolin.

il found our mol e, © he decl ared
AOne of our parts buyers. o
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iAre you sure?o

APositive. Sheos reque st dravingga bsmo s
anyone else, and at least half of those are ones she has no legitimate need for. N
only that, but the timing matches exactly when the parts stopped selling. Two to
three months after she requests one of those, the sales of that part stdrrto p . ¢

ATel | me about her. o

iSheds andwarked fpr usnovdwelve years. | know she has a
family and is well i ke d, but [ donot Kknow much
been a good reliable worker. o

AWe need to get Clifhd. working on

AiShoul d | fire her? Shebds still r
l eak. 0

iNot yet . That 61 Wer amieeal her f3s gy

working with othersCan you reassign her, or stop her access or something that
woul dndt béer eo bovn toau sh ewe? 0

iuUh, yeah, | -autaprocedutes thag applyctd evarybody.
Il 61l figure something out that doesn

inWe need to talk to Cliff about
this stuff baWke&mds he due

AHe flies back tonight. o

iokay, good. I 61 1 give him a cal
together first thing tomorrow. 0

AnRi ght . |l Om jazzed. Wedre getting

to stop. o
They hung up. Brolin calle@liff and gad directed to his voice mail. She

l eft a message that theydd identifie
Morgan called his Vice President with the news. She congratulated him on the
progress and said shedd |l et the secu

* *x %

Ellen was steaming. Here it wasl5 and Cliff stillh a d n 6 t. She a | |

knew he was mad, but he was being wa
refusing to take her call s. Shedd «
mai | . Shedd edighehadeft on timen tHad theén stopped off for a

drink on the way home just to piss her off? He was going to get a piece of her
mind whenhe got home
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When it hitthreeo 6c |l ock and Cl i ff was stil
get seriously worried. Eve i f he was angry, EIl en
her through this. She called the airline to make sure Cliff had made the flight, but
she coul dnot get anyone to tel!l her

relative. She called thHeBl agent who wastationed athe airport He had access

to flight data for all the airlines. She got through to him and explained that Cliff
had notcalledand she was worrietsli nce hedéd been out i
di dnot bot her t.dheagem Baali m egdeao ccaad Hi nhge
minutes she got the word back that he had not made the flight.

This news sent her into a near panic. The agent asked if she wanted himr
to do anything, but she declined. She was afraid it would turn outtttab€liff
wasfne, just being angry, and shedéd h
had over the pardon case. She shoul
demand that she write up the interview in a derogatoryavayd s he di d|
to get in trouble for notaporting it She told theiirport agent it was probably
just a change of plans and not to worry.

She was all too worried, however. She called Tim Rothman.

ATim, i1itds EIl en Kennedy. 0
AElI 1l en, this is a pleasant suhlhpri
him and bring that little one. o

i Um, Ti m, Cliff di dnot make t he
hi m?o0

The reaction on the other end was
mean? He di dim&aid withaobvious gonoerf. 0
Al t al ke dmotning. Heiwas at ahgeasache he wanted to find.
He said he found it, so | thought he would just go on to the airpbat was

hours before his fightve had a sort of €& disagr e«

|l 6ve tried to call +vdincdg hmeaiel .t ilnte sd d

heds either out of range or turned o
nStay calm. 1 tdés probably nothing
iYes. O

fi ld told me about it. | know he left really early and was excited to get
that gjuareas he calledit He sai d youdédd want him t

il di d. [ was glad he found it,
was pretty ticked off. Look, Ti m, do
youbre covering for hiDdhe oothe baekltopyoun g
pl ace?0
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AiNo way, EIl |l en. | swear . Look, I
heés okay. Can you give me the | ocat

ATim I candt ask you to ¢€éo

AiYou arendt asking me to. | dadk d o
but | O0itrb edcoaunsge heds my fGive methe loeatiod of | 6 |
the cache. 0

iYou candét drive al/l the way ther

send you the location of where the Jeep trail meets the regular streetsr His ca
would be parked there unless he drov

fnSend me the coordinates of the <c

iokay. Hold on a minute. Gi ve me
it, but | dondt. o

Tim gave her the address. Ellen looked up the cache cooslaadethe
street address where shedédd told CIlif

Al om onl mpsway.il]l ' ight here. It

of hours.d He hung up.

Tim grabbed some food, water and a first aid &@mething inside him
told him to bring his gun,mHe di dnot have a GPS wui
knew he could get to the parking spot easily enough, but if Cliff was still out on
the desert, Tim wasnot sure how heod
have the app on his phone, nor did he have to download iandlearn how to
use it. The cache was fofw e mi | es away and I|.Hght
knew one thing, t hough: iné#angérlof dyirfiglt wa s
had alreadyhit ninetyfive and the air was bone drynQhe desert it wouldbe
even hotteil probably over a hundred degre€sernight the temperature would
drop tothe forties at that altituddde could die of exposure, thirst, or simply fall
and break his neck.

He told Luisa where he was going and why.tHeught about notifying
the | ocal police in St. George, the
enough evidence Cliff was missing yé¢te knew police did
adults as missing persons uidfoureheus t h
except in unusual circumstancést wasno6t | i ke CIlIiff t
argument , although he di dn 6;tbutHekrew e >
Cliff was just too deliriously happy about his marriage and new hbabyake
Ellen worry thisway. There was something seriously wrong. His friend was in
trouble. He could feel it.
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He raced down the freeway at ninety miles an hour. There was almost no
other traffic for most of the way, but it got heavier as he entered St. Gadge
forced him toslow. He made his way to the parking spot Ellen had mentioned
and a sickening feel i ngentalcaremasrighe tthereh i s
where the dirt road began. He must still be out on the dés=lnew his truck
could handle the dirt road. Heeeded to get out there and see if Cliff was
somewhere along the road. He pulled out onto hardpan and began driving. The
road wasmarkedwelle nough t hat he didnot need
only one direction to go follow the road.

Tim started drivig. He considered calling Ellen to let her know the car
was there, but figured that would | U
something. He did, however, call the local police as he dtdge=xplained the
situation and said where he wasey toldhim to return to the paved street and
some officers would meet him. He explained tba¢ry minute counted and he
was already on t he ditasthe coddambrdthetaches a i
and then return to meet the officeffien he hung up.

He drove slowly. The road waguite rough and he had to look all
around. CIiff could be collapsed on the ground by the roadside. Then he saw
another vehicle, a darRorscheSUV, coming his way, headed back toward
civilization. This person might have se€liff. He stopped his truck and waited
for the SUV to pull up to him so he could talk to the driver. He put his head out
the window and waved to the other vehicle. As it neared, however, it began to
speed up.
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Chapterl9
Three hours earlier

Cliff instinctively dove and rolled to his right. He had seen the muzzle
flash and heard the gunshot. He knew it was live ammunition, not a blank. He
also knew it was a handgun, not a rifle. After the roll he came up onto his
haunches and began to run in a zigzagepatway from the shooter. This lasted
only a few seconds, however, because his brain began to process this
information. It would takevorld-classmarksmanship to hit someonsoving at
this distance with a handgun. Not only that, but he had heard onlghonheHe
turned to look back.

The shooter was walking toward him steadily, gun hanging down in his
right hand. The sun was still behind him so Cliff could only make out his general
form, but it was clear he did not have a rifléliff was sure this must be
connected to his investigation, either the API one or the Sullivan one, probably
both, since he wasow sure they were connectdd each otherThis was
probably the same person who had run down Brigham Sullivan. Then he began tc
doubt his own conclusions

He wondered why the man had shot at such a long range. Cliff was
wal king right toward him, obviously
wanted to kill him, he could have just waited ur@iliff was ten feet away.
Perhaps this was just some paidnoho thought Cliff was coming to steal his
truck or do other harm and he was firing a warning shot. Cliff called out to him,
ADond6t shoot! Il 6dm not ar med. I donot
back to the str eet .déoutheadfisgers spldyedstd shdwl
he had no weapon.

The man continued to advance, not rushing. When he reached about fifty
yards from CIiff he lifted the gun again. Cliff raised his hands higher, but tensed
his whole body to be ready to run. A second shag out. Cliff could literally
hearthe bulletpass by his body with a rush of air. The man had missed by only a
few inches. This was no joke. He turned and began running again in the irregular
zigzag ducking and weaving unpredictably. No more shotsecalthen he stole
a look back, the man was still coming steadily, gun down.

This made no sense to Cliff. The man was smaller than CIiff, that much
he could tell, not overweight and not limping, so he could presumably jog
straight toward him to close the tliace. If Cliff dodged back and forth and the
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shooter walked in a straight line, he would catch Cliff quickly enough. Cliff was

dehydrated, tired, and sore and not
him?

He knew that he c o thatdaced He alsooknewihe u ¢
di dnot have to. | f he could just k e
th e m, he should be safe. The guy ap

certainly hadnot , molwashe endving fas€liff ehangeh ¢ k
his pace to a brisk walk, just a little fastban he thought the man wasliking.

He turned to look back every few paces and confirmed that the gap between then
was growing. The shooter hadnodot stop
Cliff.

Cliff was traveling in the direction of the cache and knew the terrain
now. He came to a deegrroyoand trotted down to the bottom. Here the shooter
coul dnét see him. Cliff turned | eft
remembered seeing a large rocknfiation there when he had passed by earlier.
He crouched down behind the rocks and restealkneelng positiona moment.

Then he unzipped his geocaching lumbar pack and pulled out a small dental
mirror. These were useful tools for geocachers to peer into tree holes and othe
pl aces where you don6ét want to react
rocks just igh enough so he could see back where he had entered iatodye

In moments the shooter appeared at the top edge. Cliff watched as the mar
looked around. He showed no signs of having spottedirtiienirror. The man
started walking along the top edgé the arroyoin the opposite direction. He
must have guessed that Cliff fbsaedded ur
out of sight

Cliff breathed a sigh of relief, but it was shbtvied. An overwhelming
thirst hit him with a vengeance. He looketdhes water bottle and there was less
than a quarter left, a few good swigs. He wanted to save it, but he reeddall
now. He lifted the bottle to his lips and forced himself to take only a very small
drink. Then he capped the bottled again and retutriechis pack. It was time to
make a decision. He had to either move or hide. Attacking an armed man was no
an option, not in this open country. He decided to move while the man had his
back to him. He lifted the mirror up one more time and confirmati ttte man
was still walking the opposite direction along the ¢oigeof the arroyo.

Cliff stood and started walking fast the opposite direction, increasing the
distance between him and the shooter. The arbmm to the rightand Cliff
followed it arour until it became shallower. Slowly he was beginning to come
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back up to the same level as the gunmvlhen he got near the top he stopped
and pulled out the mirror again. After some maneuvering of the mirror, he was
able to spot the man. The shooter hawssed the arroyo and reversed direction,
obviously having realized Cliff had gone the other way. Since Cliff had made the
turn in the arroyo, he was walking at a right angle to the shooter and the distance

wasnot i ihvas deereasing.gStill, thensoter was over three hundred
yards away, so Cliffds ploy had work
It was obvious that Cliff coul dné

to hide in this section and his only choices were to walk back toward the shooter
or to come up to the top again and continue to increase the separation. He bega
climbing up the steep side of the arroyo. Once on top he looked back and saw the
gunman heading his direction, still at a slow steady pace. He had been spotted
There was nditing more to do than keep going the opposite way.

As he started his retreat Cliff realized how hot he washatipeeled off
his longsleeved shirt earliestripping to a tee shirNow his arms were bare. He
realized he had not spread on sunblock wheindhe st arted out
expected to be back before the sun got high. He dug through his bag again an
retrievad a small tube of SPF 15 and spread it liberaler his arms, face, and
neckas he trudged along

He was no longer moving toward the cadbat more to the southwest.
Every time he checked, the shooter was still tracking him, but making no effort to
shoot him nor did he break into a run to try to catch him. One time when he
looked backthe man was lifting something to his mougmobably a cateen of
some sortSo the shooter had water, apparently. This gave Cliff pause. The man
must be playing the long game, figuring that CIiff was in a worse position and
unprepared to last the day in the hot sun. He realized the man had a hat with :
brim, while Cliff only had a baseball cap. These were small differences, but they
could provide a significant advantage for the shod@éff needed to come up
with an idea orisk dying

First things first, he decided. He needed waltés. was nearlycrazed
from thirst, he realized. He draped his flannel shirt over his head and drank the
last of the water. This cleared his head enough to enable him to think more
clearly. Cliff knew hec oul dn ot | a s tblistéringesun.dTaey only n
resource he had was hisagraching bag and he knewndw contained no water.
But it held one thing of importance: information. He pulled out his Garmin GPS
unit and hit the buttons to display
Improbable Point into the unit he had alsaded in all the nearby caches on the
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off chance that he might be passing by one or more of them and could pick up
some additional finds. He had taken a brief look at them on his laptop the
previous day to see where they were and get an idea whether ¢heywarth
going for. He had a vague recollection of a cache called Oasis. He was pretty
sure the owner had put bottles of water in it for finders to take if nebéede
the name

He had to stop walking in order to scroll through the listed caches, but he
found it in short order . Sure enouc
description in his unit but the hint said it was a tan ammo box. Cliff remembered
that from when he &ahe wasaav sduretieat whethecone
that had the watdrottles. At least it had held water bottles when the cache was
placed. But did it now? It was a relatively new cache, only eight months old, and
only had twelve finds. The |l ast four
he coul dn 6t infgrmatidn aboy eafliar findshse there was no way to
know. He looked at the map screen and saw that the cache was to his northwes
further out into the desert, well past the cache he had just found. He decided i
was his best hope, but it was a bigkrilf he got to it and there was no water, he
di dndét think he could make it back.
water and a gunman stalking him. His only hope at that point would be a.rescue

Cliff altered his direction of travel, heading fire Oasis cachelhe
gunman altered his course to match, cutting off the angle. The gap between then
was shrinking. The man fell in behind CIiff only a little more than a hundred

yards away. Cliff was so exhausted |
any more. If the man made a good run at him, he could get close enough to shoc
hi m. Cliff didnét even bother to tur

wo ul d nidehce the fpae obncoming deathBut no shot came. He could
hear the mabb e hi nd hi m, but he di dmdatt, he e e
seemed to be farther behind.

After several minutesClIiff could no longer ignore thaliminishing
sounds He turned and saw that the man
he was climbingup a high knoll that rose above the desert floor. From there he
could see for miles. Cliff finally realized what the man had been trying to do. He
didnét want to shoot CIliff. He just
to civilization. He wared to kill him, but not with a gun. He wanted it to look
like a natural deathlike Cliff had gotten lost or disoriented and wandered off
into the desertFrom his perch the gunman could see where Cliff was going and
stay between him and the city. Fartlhegst was just more desgrtothing but
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desert and two mountain ranges before hitting Fresno, three hundred and forty
miles away The onlynearbycivilization was to the east and sou@liff had to

come back past him to get back to safety. The shooteesgentiallyplaying the

role ofagoaliei a goalie with a gun.

Cliff stopped and watched as the man reached the top of the peak. The
shooter looked back down at him and took another long drink from the canteen
he had. CIliff noticed that he tipped the @&t almost all the way back, tomaar
vertical position.He must be almost out, to€liff thought. With the sun still

behind him the man was stil/l only a
his sunglasse@liff would not have even beenablet | ook i n t he m
due to the brightness of the sun.

They stood there for sever al l on

position. CIliff realized that the shooter held all the cérds all the firepowerat

least. Cliff had to continue on asis. It was his only hope. He began trudging

in that direction once again, but stopped after twenty yards to look back. The man
was still sitting where he had beeHe could watch Cliff for miles, as long as
Cliff stayed out of the deep arroyos.

Cl i ¢aft Sbenturned to a stagger, then to a stumble. He fell once but
managed to get back to his feet. He looked down at his Garmin. It showed the
Oasis cache as only five hundred feet away. Then four hundred. Cliff blinked and
suddenl y he cBThd mubbers bleraddandthis keaddwam. He
had tosit down and put his head between his knees. His vision returned
momentarily. He dug frantically, if clumsily, through his bag for his water bottle
before realizing he had thrown it away long ago. Henm@¢ t hi nki ng
knew. He thought he saw rain clouds on the horizon, but the next instant they
were gone. He was hallucinating. But his brain was stilhtghim to follow that
red arrow on the GPS so he stood up slowly and started staggerizgl tie
cache once more.

Two hundred. One hundred. There it was, a cairn of rocks by the side of
a rough Jeep trail. He fell onto the top of the rpdk and began pawing away
the rocks. After moving the top two he could seieanh army surplus ammo can.

It took every remaining ounce of strength he had but he managed to wrestle it
free from the remaining rocks. He pried open the lid and looked inside.
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Chapter20

Tim quickly turned his truck at an angle to stop the oncoming SUV,
kicking up a cloud of dust, but the driver just swerved around him onto the desert

floor and then back onto the road. ’
dustand Timrealizedhewa unabl e to get a | icense
to break off from the search to chas
darkPorschadriven by adalc o mp|l ect ed mal e. If it |

that to the police.
Tim continued on alag the dirt road until he came to a groomed ciircle
the dirt the obvious end of the roatihere was a narrow dirt driveway leading

uptoawat er tank, but that woul dndét hel
the cache, but he didnot have any w
open desert, the gullies and arroyo

so he coutdid Hé had noamaykto navigate without the truck. He
decided to return to the street wher
seen no sign of CIiff.

He hurried back in a transmissipunishing race to the stred/hen he
got there, one police cavas waiting. Tim parked and rushed over to the two
officers in the car. He identified himself and explained the situation. They told

Tim what he had expected, t hat it \
considerable arguing, Tim convinced them thatiwas not just a
case but a rescue. Cliff wasnot mi s

incapacitated. Theggreed to alert the SAR, the local search and rescue team, a
volunteer group. They contacted their dispatch and relayed dbedipate
information. They estimated it would take two hours to get a team out there but
assured Tim someone would be looking for CIiff.

Tim asked about sending a helicopter to the cache location but the police
said they didnot h hevaskedtahoatta fixesing pldne | i t
they werenot sure one would be avai
probably someone who would voluntee
guarantee it.

Al ol | do it myself, 0 Tim aheavasead Vv
formerBur eau pil ot and had his own pl an
t hough. It ol | be an hour there and

officers passed this on to dispatch and got Tim the necessary radio frequency tc
communcate with the SAR.
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Already frustrated and anxious, Tim knew he was going to have to add
one more layer of unpleasantness. He had to let Ellew Khe situation. He
called her on his cell phone as he pulled out onto the fregwagal, of course,
but sanetimes you just have to bend the rules.

Ellen took the news without histrionics, but her voice cracked after a few
minutes and Tim could tell she was becoming desperate.

AEI T en, Il 6m sure itbés going to b
Theydhi mfand bring him home safe. Wh
il édm in the office.0 She was bare

Al s Matt Ndgmykmew Mdtthrenr his days in the San Jose
FBI office.

inYes, heés standing right next to
expaining the situation.

ALIi sten to me. You shoul dnot be
stay with you. Wedll call you as soo

il have to get Tommy. Hebs at my

AiThen have Matt dr i ve Qrbetteryethsay e
withherTher eés nothing you can do there
take my own plane up. o0

Tim was halfway back to Cedar City before he realized he had forgotten
to mentionto the policethe PorscheSUV that sped by him. As he thght about
it, it seemed more significant now. That trail was a Jeep trail and got pretty
rugged pretty fast. ATVs and other offad vehicles were finéouta Porsche
The SUV could handl e i tforthhtkinhd of tarrainya s |
and itwas just too expensive to be used for it. Could it be someone connected
with the murder case? It seemedieiched, but not impossiblgvhy else would
the driver speed off instead of stopping? He had to be doing something wrong.

He calledBob Whitfield and reached him quickly. He explained that
Cliff had gone missing and there were some possible indications of foul play. He
di dnét want tsinoce leavas diivimgbud he delt thig doulldsbe one
additional spur toward treating the Sullivan casea murdeMWhitfield was non
committal about his view of how this might affect the case, but he asked if Tim
needed any help. Tim said yes, a spotter would be a great help.

Tim pulled into his parking spot at the Cedar City airport in a screech of
brakes Whitfield was there waiting for himWithin fifteen minuteghe planewas
fueled and ready to go. The air temperature was well over ninety and that made
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for a difficult takeoff from the thinner atmosphere and reduced lift, they
became airborne andried south.

When he arrived near St. Georgém coordinated with the local air
controller and then the police dispatete let them know he was accompanied by
a Cedar City detectiveHHe was the only plane in the search area and had
clearance to fly low whout fear of other air traffidde spotted the SAR party
coll ected near the start of the dir
Improbable Point cache. Tim was used to flying surveillance in the FBI, but
Whitfield was not . ditypoliseanermadytdid.sTgpicadiyt h i
the pil ot does iwlythd plahekvihie the spptierasshe dnet o
looking at the ground.

It took only a minute to arrive over the coordinates of the geocache, but
Tim didndt see aNopedogiei nwapd dr bther markiog§, just o t

rocky terrain. Whitfield confirmed
reported to the SAR that there was nothing visible from the air and he was going
to begin an outward spiral. After fifteen minutes of kg, he st i | | h a

anything. The SAR party had arrived at the geocache site by then. One of the
searchers was a geocacher and had found that particular cache in the past. F
retrieved it from its hiding spot and reported that someone n&tiffdotes had
signed the 1l og that day. Tim confirm

Neither the airborne or groudzhsed searchers saw anything amiss
either. It appeared that Cliff had found the cache and started back toward his car.
Although the groud was mostly too hard to show footprints, there were a few
bootprints that they assumed were CI
area consistent with someone looking for a cache. They assummadsheisible
prints were likely from the most rent visitor, Cliff. The troubling thing about
them, though, was that there was a trail of them heading back toward the
trail head. Why di dnot he make it b a
partway back, why di dnét tdlatlapsed fromd
heat exhaustion or some other medical problem, his body would have been easily
spotted from the air and probably from the ground as well.

Now that they knew what his bootprints looked Jiteey began to track
his return. This was more flifult that it sounded because of the hard ground.
Prints were few and far between and not always in a straight line toward the car.
As they were slowly tracking his progress Tim continued to expand the radius of
his search circle. Whitfield continued teport nothing of interest below other
than the search party.
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It was a high school girl who spotted the shell casing near the groomed
circle that served as the end of the marked road, the spot where Tim had turnet
around in his truck. One of the men in tharty recognized it as a .32 caliber
shell and declared it had been fingithin the last day or twoThe bras$ad no
cordite smell, but itwas still shiny. Brass left out in the elements becomes
noticeably tarnished after a few dakte was smart enougdhb bag it using gloves
so that it could be dusted for print&/hen thisfind was reported over the air,
Whitfield commentedo Tim thatthere could be something to his murder theory.
Tim again realized that he had still not reported the SUV to the Stg&police.

He contacted the police dispatclogrradioand reported ithen handed the mike
to Whitfield. The dispatcher put out a lookout request for the SUV on behalf of
Cedar City police.

The whole outlook of the search party changed at this news. fduky
tracked Cliff back to the end of the marked dirt road. The terrain from there to his
car was too level and weatharked for him to get lost or fall. A single shell
wasnot much to go on, but the workin
been chsed back into the desert by someone wielding a Tuere was no sign
of blood or a struggle, so he could have been taken ho®age. f hedd t
back,where would he go?

Tim knew Cliff was in trouble buthd i dndét know what t
contirnued to circle the skies until he got low on fuel and had to land at the local
airport.
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Chapter21

The cache held four bottles of water. Cliff lay prostrate on the ground as
he struggled to open the first one. He wraatttine plastic cap free so hard that
he dropped the bottle, spilling some of the water onto the ground. Cursing
silently at his clumsiness, i snatched it up again and guzzled the remaining
contents The effects were immediate. His head cleared. He begeating
again.

As soon as he dropped the bottle he lifted his head and looked behind
him. In his lying position he could not see over the small rise behind him, which
he quickly realized meant the shooter could not see him. The man would have

seen him fdl , but he woul dnot have been a
drink. Maybe he should stay down, he thought, but gave up on that idea quickly.
He was still out in the open exposel

hed drunk all the water, nocould he crawl to safety. For all he knew, the man
had seen him collapse and was now on his way to verify he was dead, or finish
him off. He had to know what the greater danger was. He stood up and looked
toward the high knoll where the man had been. Thano one there.

Cliff scanned the ground between the knoll and himself and saw nothing.
He shook his head and scanned again, not sure whether he could have missed tl
man. There was no movement. Nothing. He had to assume the man had heade
back to his ehicle, convinced that Cliff was stranded even deadThe man
would have shelter and possibly more water thEere.e gunman coul
in the scorching heat all day without water, eithée. was probably going to
stand watctback near the caall daytomakes ur e Cl i ff coul dn
Cliff now had some water to take with him, but he was exttemelydehydrated
and would go through the water pretty quickly. If he headed back to his car and
the man was there guarding the path, he wiwalde no option. There was no
second Oasis.

He needed to find shelter until nightfall. That was his only option. But
howwThe cache hedd found hlraedyspbtebatithad uc |
not been big enough for a person to shelter in. Still,tfate him think that the
terrain did have enough deep arroyos and similar features that it could have som
shallow caves. He strained to recall what he had read the previous day when h
had been looking at the descriptions of nearby caches. He cursedf iimset
studying those more closely. He had spent most of his time reading the logs or
the main target cache.
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Wasndt t her e anarlotheycadhgho sainl hree ar was it a
she, could barely squeeze in to get the cache? Squeeze in what? Sqaee2e
in an arm or an entire body? He coul
had been written. Heyadown again and pulled the flannel shirt up over his head
for protection from the suand began scrolling through the cache list in his
Garmin. O by one he pulled up the <cacl
connected to the Internet, so he could only read what was stored in his GPS unit
the last four logs on each cache.

He read oe after the other but got nothing useful. Time and again the
onlylog was that infernal ATFTCO the ge
c ac he.-tme kacherg like CIliff despised the laziness of this log, the
characteristic log of the newbie cacher who used a smart phone and loggec
immediately. Smart phoneusersndddt | i ke to write | ong
of the difficulty of typing on a phone. They we@enerationText. CIiff felt it
was the moral obligation of the finder to write at least a couple of sentences as &
reward to the owner of the cache for putitne cache out in the first place, as
well as to the following finders who use the log information as help in finding a
cache or deciding whether it was worth going for. He always waited until he got
home and could type something out on his computer.

Twerty minutes later he was near the end of the cache list he had loaded
into his unit and was beginning to despair. Then he spotted it. The Ibgdhe
remembered. Yes, it was a female geocacher who said something abou
squeezing her shoulders in far enoughrdach the cache. So a body could be
sheltered in whatever opening was there. The cache, unfortynatetythe
opposite direction from his car, from civilization, and another two miles from his
current spot. Still, he reasoned that he could get to igusity one more bottle
of water and then if he could get into some shade, inside a cave or opening of
some sort, he could rest wuntil ni ght
put after that, and even if he didhaybeCliff could approach his cardm a
differentdirection. Two bottles of water should be enough to get him back to his
car during the cool of the nighte hopegdbut it would be over five miles and the
dry air almost vacuumed the air from the body even at nigiere would be
enough monlight to see his way, he was pretty sure, and he had a small
flashlight in his bag.

He realized he hadnét signed the
this and marked it as found i gettihgi s
credit for the find but he wanted a reminder so that when he got back to
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civilization he could let the cache owner and subsequent searchers know that the
water was all gone. He owed someone a huge thankfgrothat livesaving
libation. He set his GPS destination as theeceache, as he thought of it, and set
out walking slowly, his flannel shirt now draped over his head and neck for
protection.

As he walked, he crossed vehicle tracks several times. Motorcycles and
all-terrain vehicles obviously used these trails rieereational rides. He wished
one would come by now, but it was completely silent except for the faint drone
of a distant plane. A plane! Could that be someone searching for him? He turnec
and looked up, but the sound was coming from somewhere near the digctio
the sun and it was impossible to see anything. There was nothing he could do
Wherever it was, from the sound of it, it was too far away for him to get the
attention of the pilot, and it might not be someone looking for him anyway. He
had to find sheér. That was his first priority. If he heard the plane close
overhead, he would make an attempt to catch their eye.

It took him an hour, but he made it to the cache site. He was exhausted
and dehydrated, but he had managed to use up onlyghesters ofa bottle of
water. He had more than two bottles left. The arrow on the GPS pointed directly
to an overhanging bluff with a deep fissure below it. He trudged up to the fissure
and stepped into the shade afforded by the sheer wall of the bluff. The radief w
exquisite. He removed his shirt and cap from his head.

Still, he was not out of the woods, or the desert, anyway. The sun was
moving relentlessly westward and would soon be shining on this wall of the
bluff. He had to get inside the fissure somehowuds clear that he had too much
bulk to squeeze into the upper part of the fissure, but it was wider at the bottom.
He lay downin a prone position propped up on his elbows. He could have been
doing a yoga plank position. The fissure was about four fegt aiethe bottom,
but only about a foot and a half at the narrow top. The cache was wedged in a
the top, but he didnot care about t
the fissure until his head hit the far wall. His feet and lower legs were sitill
sticking out, but he had deep shade over most of his &odis jeans protected
his legs from the surHe relaxed for the first time in hours.

The gunman would never find him here, he knew. Whoever it was
couldnét have known whegese@.IOnly Hllenlaraldimg o
knew of his plan to go for the geocache. The man must have followed him and
spotted an opportunity when he saw Cliff walk out onto the desert. That meant he
had no knowledge of the geocaches. He took another small drin&tef.Wwhen
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he dug through his bag for the protein bar he knew was there. One snvadisbar

all there was, but nothing ever tasted better. He checked his watch. It was now
two P.M. He put his wadded up shirt under his head and within minutes was
sound aslge

* *x %

When they landed at St. George, a member of the SAR team volunteered
to be the spotter. Whitfield told Tim he had to get back to Cedar City now that he
had a replacement, but said Tim didn
from a St. @orge officer. He told Tim he was going to crank up the priority of
the Sullivan case based on the new circumstancaswolildbe looked at as a
homicide at least for now. Tim thanked him for his help.

The spotter turned out to be a local pilot who wasifiar with the area.

He apologized for not volunteering his own plane, but said it was out of
commission at the moment waiting for a part. Tim thanked him for his time and
said not to worry about that. Heasjust grateful to have someone else in the
cockpit who knew what he was doing.

At | east we know heds alive, 0 he

AHow do you know??o

iNo buzhearwlass. Ilyfi ng dead or injur
circling. o

Tim wondered whether this wasgamod sign or not. If there had been
vultures circling, they would know where to look. Cliff might be lying injured.
He could also have been captured by the gunman. He might have been trussed L
inthatPorschnene 6d seen fl ee t hfef sweaexnredt Sltyil
the spotter had pointed out.

Tim called EIll en to | et her know
crack. She showed that steely resolve that Tim had known was ttiexdough
FBI agent hedd wor ked Lake DivisionvBhesaid skeh e 6
was at home with her sister and niece and Tommy.tB&eked him again and
told him not to give up. He assured

After Tim called, Ellen called Maeva to let her know the situation. She
had been unaware anything svamiss up to that point, although she had been
surprised CIliff hadndét <called her af
home, not come into the office, but he always checked in after traveling.
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As soon as she was off the phone with Ellen, Maevad&ally Brolin

to | et her know the situati on, wh o
repeat the story. They hadnodt me t M
who was doing various parts of the investigation and recognized her name. They
told her about identifying.igayaSant o s . Maeva said shi
checks on Santos as soon as she could, but she was too worried about Cliff righ
now. They said they understood. When that call ended she pulled out a tissue an
let herself cry.

* %k %

Cliff awoke slowly, unclear for a moment where he was. His bones and
muscles were screaming for mercy. The hard rock of the fissure floor was no
Simmons Beautyrest. The sun was hovering just above the western mountains
about to take the final plunge mtwilight. The sunlight reached his waist now
and the topsfohis legs were hot, but his jeans and boots covered his lower half.
He wasnodot worried about sunburn. His

Suddenly a spider fell onto his face and hegdrkipright to brush it off.

He hit his head hard on the rock above and lay back down. He was dazed but nc
seriously injured. He need to be more careful. When he finally cleared his
brain enough to work out his situation, he concluded that his plan araig. It
would be dark soon and start to cool
as soon as the sun went down, or waitl it got cooler. It would be over eighty
for an hour or mor e, he thought, nal't
the desert. Obviously it woulde easier to see in the light of dusk than when it
got really dark. He remembered the moon had been bright two nights ago, but
t hat had been | at e, may b e t en or e
attention.

Painfully he extracted his body from the fissure and stretched. What the
hell, he thought, might as well sign the cache log. His arms were long enough to
reach the cache without getting his shoulder in the upper part of the opening. He
signed the log and replaced tteche. Then he marked the cache as found on his
Garmin.

He saw no sign of the mogret The sun dipped behind the mountain as
he looked around, and it was obvious the darkness would be enveloping the
landscape very soon. He decided it would be bettekewith thetwilight, even
though the risk was that he would go through his water fast in the enduring heat.
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He realized he had to urinate. Instinctively he looked around to see if
anyone was looking, then realized how silly that was. If only someone was
looking! He unloosed the yellow stream on the downhill side and watched it
flow. He noticed it was much darker than usual. His body had extracted as much
water from it as it could. Still, this was a good sign. If he had urine, his
dehydr at i oangemoaslevél yet. at a d

He zipped up, drank the remaining dregs of the one bottle, checked his
packto be sure the other two bottles were théesl his shirtaround his waist
and set out toward his car. He planned to cut south as he got closer, botlito avoi
the shooter, and to provide an alternate escape route. There was civjlization
Bloomington,to the southasttheninterstate 15and whatever lay along it. If the
shooter approached him again, he could head that way and hope.

He looked at this watch. It waa little past seven thirty. The sun,
although behind the mountain, woul dr
over an hour, so he had quite a bit of light left. Stilyas dusk ang@louds were
moving in fomthewestaddi ng anot her shade of d
attention to the weather forecast since he had expected to be home by now. H
knew it didndét rain often this ti me
any time, and when it did, it pouredo8ins could come in from the west, but the
real soakers camap from the Gulf of Californiato the southTim had told him
about the fluky wether on more than one occasion.

Suddenly he felt something crawling on ta#t calf, under his pants leg.
Whateve it was fet pretty big. He had visions of tarantulas. It must have crawled
up his leg while he was sleeping. A shot of adrenaline excited his nerve fibers as
he tried to decide whether to shake it out, dig it out, drop his pants, or squash it. I
wasmov ng fairly fast up toward his t|
analysis. He shook his pants leg vigorously in hopes it would fall out. In this he
was successful; unfortunately, before it fell, it administered a painful sting. The
creature that fell t and scampered away was an Arizona bark scorpion, the
most toxic scorpion in North America.

Cliff emitted a gasp of surprise and pain, and immediately sat down on
the ground. Standing was excruciatingis leg began to throb. Much as he
wanted to stomphe offending beast to death, he watched helplessly as it
scampered away out of sight bet ween
couldndét walk; this much he knew.

He sat this way for half an hour. The pain seemed to have subsided
somewhat. Finally he sumoned the courage to test the leg again. Standing took
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his breath away once again, but he f
he took a single step and had to st
big breath and stepped forward agdihis time he was prepared foraitd gritted

his teeth as the pain washed overmirgai n he stopped to
move, the pain was a dull, bearable ache. Every step, though, ratcheted the pai
level two notches. Taking one step every twentyhirty seconds was useless.
Hedd never make it back. Hedd have t

As he contemplated this, he thought he felt a breeze pick up. It felt good
in the heat, but i f it portendedle a s
took a look at his GPS unit again and suddenly realized its batteries were on thei
|l ast bar. Damn! Hed6d meant tafierthedgstl ac
time he had used thetot knew he had forgotten. If the batteries ran out and the
darkness fell it would be pitch black out herEhe cloudswould blot out any
moonlightEven i f his |l eg recovered enoug
be able to navigate.

How cold did it get overnight, he wondered? It was summertime and
pr obabl etbaowdreeding, bgt at that altitude he thought it could drop
into the forties. He had heard of people dying of exposure in that temperature
range, especially if they were wet. That opening where he had sheltered from the
sun coul dnét dew &hpe ramiwould 8lowin andnseak lim to the
skin. He had to fight off an approaching sense of foreboding. Giving up in
despair wouldndét help anything.

Then he heard the distant growl of an airplane engine overhead. He
scanned t he s kit d wasbomewhareoganerdlly  the rsothe
northeast but thatodos alll he knew. He col
plane, not an airliner. He was convinced it must be a search plane looking for
him, although he had little to base that on exedgphful thinking. He pulled off
his shirt and waved it frantically as he looked to the north.sthumd continued
with no alteration in volume or directidhat he could detecHe stopped waving
when he realized he was just tiring himself out. Soon kéddell the sound was
getting fainter. The plane was flying away from him. Anyone on board would not
be able to look behind them.

Cliff turned the GPS unit off to preserve the batteries and sat down again.
There was nothing he could do. He would just hewevait for his leg to get
better, or for rescue.

* %k %
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Tmturned to the spotter. iAWe <can
dark quickly. That | ooks |like a stor

fil agree. Youready o c a | | the spottes said laopefuldy.

ANot. ylLeett 6s make one more pass. W
15. If | were trying to escape a sho

Ailtds hard to Brethbamodntotachdens

inWwel | , wedve cover ed the deecacherdezans af r o
times. We need to expand our search

Thespat er sounded concerned as he r
You arené6tThfirsomiheroe.t atwmén telaeonge & so
western wind. o

Tim continued flyingsouth until he was almost ovellb, then he made a
wide turn north. He didnét spot anyt
time to head north again and land before the weather came in.

fWedbre headed back, o0 Tim anradounc e
AWe see weather coming in.o

NfnRoger that . Wedre about to cal
morning. 0

i Wh at 0 sTimtsdidéotth® épotter poi nti ng to the
saw a reflection. o

iOut there? Probably ¢roantefibyaioet hi

wheel er . Your guy woul dnot head wes
desert. ltds exactly in the wrong di
Al &dm going to check it out, o Tim

* % %

Cliff gritted his teeth in frustration as the plapassed by almost directly
overhead. He was waving h&ns as he tried to balance with almost all his
weight on one legbut theplanemade no sign they had seen hiie watched as
it made a broad turn and headed north again. He had only one cHangled
the small Maglite flashlight from his geocaching pouch and aimed it at the plane.
Most geocachers carried flashlights. Some caches could only be found at night
because the path to them is marked with miniscule reflectors placed on trees
T h e y 6 vadly invisibte tduring the day, but reflect a flashlight beam in the
dark. The lights are also nestto peer into hidey holes day or night.
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The small but powerful LED pierced the sky like a surgeon lancing a
boil. Did he hit the airplane with the bear@hff continued towave the light
back and forth, hopinthe angle was right. Bright as it was, he considered it a
long shot to be seen from the air. He held ibynis eye and sighted right along
the barrel of the flashlight. At least he could see thegl@ow. It was coming
back his way.

Then it passed by again toward the north. When it was more than ninety
degrees pasim, hetund t he |1 ight off. The pl an
in andhesat heavily on the ground again.

* *x %

fil d o n éythings lggeessdhat was just my imaginatiod t he s p
urgeMeore just going to have to try t
to stay out here. o
il guess youbre right. Whatoés the

nWith thengi mg pirokm ¢t he northwe
approaching from the south. Head back that way and then come in from the
sout hwest . o

Tim made one last bank. The plateveled off then began to gain
altitude for the approach. Suddenly the cockpit with bathed bright green

light, a blinding light.

AWhat the hell! 0 the spotter exc
| asers. o

il gadt® beh i m. |l dm going back arTheund
green light seared his eyes once again. He could tell it was off to the west
somewher e, but the |l ight was so powe
coul dnot tell exactly which directi

blinding stike the laser light stopped almost instantaneously after hitting the
plane. Tim looked dowriThis time he could see tlw¢hite madight, too. Then he
could see the form holding, it black shape in a slightly lighter darknelse
knew that shape even fromthousand feet up. It was CIiff.

AWe found hi m! o Tiofintotheasouthest dehas @ He ¢
fl ashlight.o

AfGi ve us the coordinates, 0 the SA

Tim swungthe planearound furtheri Wh e n | pass dir e
read offthe GP8 oor di nates, 0 he directed the
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It took all the skill of his twentfive years as a Bureau pilot, but Tim
brought the plane into a steep turn and dive so he could fly directly over CIliff at
five hundredfeet. As he did so, ehwiggled the wings back and forth in the
traditional signal to a ground obser
coordinates into the radio.

Tim made one more pass, wiggling his wings again and confirmed that
Cliff was staying in the same spdthen he pulled up and headed The clouds
were closer and the wind spewe@s ramping up quickly. It was going to be a
tough landing at St. George.

AWe got it,o0o the ground team radi
go on in. Thank you for the help. 0

i Bger, and thankouf or t he hel p. 0 He put bz
his cellphone.Hpunched t he speed di al for CI
t o t he Tdlmhiswife Ellennwe foundhim | 6ve got to f|l
getting hairy.o

* * %

It took two long hoursasthe search and rescue team had to travel slowly
over the gullies and gulches in the daik.heavy rain began to fall. Wet,
exhausted, and still in paigliff plopped into the seat of the rescue Jeep like a
sack of cement twvn from a roof. An ATV and another afbad vehicle were
in attendance. They gave him water and a choice of candy bfstoHe went
for the candy.

By the time he was back to the trailhead, an ambulance was waiting. He
was recovered enough that he veahto wave them off, bute was so tired that
even a nighin a hospital bed sounded nice and he hoped they had something for
the leg painHe was transported and checked diite hospital had antivenin for
the scorpion sting which reduced the pain gredde 6 d | o st eigh
water weightdespitethe water and candy bare 6 d ¢ o n s u mdtavasi n
t he fir st belowoeenitetysinde rint grade.

A police officer me t him in the
overnight for obsevation. Cliff told him about the shooter but had only a sketchy
description. Male, dark complexion, not more than average height, maybe a bit
short, wearing a widbrimmed hat. The man had been careful to stay between
him and the sun, so he never got adytook at his face.The darkPorschewas
t he best | ead, he told the officer.



144 BEHEAIME

write it up and give him a copy of t
limits. That was Bureau of Land Management land, owned by the federal
governmentHe 6 d have to notify the FBI, h

be interviewed again. Cliff had not told the officer he was retired FBI and found
it amusing that the officer had said this last remark as though it was a sorry thing
to have to go througan FBI interview.

ANo problem, 6 was Cliffds only re

When the officer left, Tim walked in. The handshake turned into a quick
hug and pat on toh eCsdidatadki. d mdHe yh a voeu dtdoy
further.

AHey y®Dudadltf yoou & nfoevd @ rt al cri me
at an airplane?90

Cliff grinned. ADi dndét you know i
There wer edabvte aymyw ttradekse.d t o EI | ¢
No . My phoneds busted. Il dr @appec
over me and then that cop. I havenot
Ail just talked to her. Sheds som
Her e, use my phone. | 6d better not |
out of the room.

Cliff took it with trepidation. H was not looking forward to the call, but
he knew it had to be done. He dialed.

i
i

il | ovesoysosuo.r rlypmdo Cl i ff bl urted o
Afhell o. 0

AiThat s a good start, but this is

AiYou two sound a | ot alike. o

Al édl 1l put her on. o

ElIl enbs voice came on. ACliff, éo

Al | ove you. |1 6m é0

fiYeah, | hear d. [ was standing ri
showing it. Are you okay?o0

il swear I did not hang up on yo

broke. And you were totally righb n t he pardon case. |
anythingo

The abject apology took away any residual anger Ellen may have had,
but her relief was overwhelming in any evemtOh Go d cCliff, [
It was all my fault. | wanted you to get that darnedggc ache and d

BN

think how dangerous it could be. o
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fiNo, no, nol t 6 s n ot Notyaball.rSonfe guy just came after me
with a gun. It could have happened anywhéré.e cache waGdnot t

fi T h gustdvhat Tim told me.He said the searchnd rescue people
filed himin.T e | | me the whole story. o

Cliff gave Ellen the short version, sparing her the harrowing details of
his neardeath experience.

AfThat 6s feder al |l and, 0 she dedcl al
At tempt ed Mur HeeBureat acOyR fomGrime on a Government
Reservati on. nSalt Lake has a new ca

Cliff knew there was no fighting it. Whether he wanted it or not, the
Bureau was going to take over his case. In truth, it was a relief. There was
someone out to kill himand he wanted the FBI, the policend entire U.S.

MarineCorps f he coul d get it. o

i At | east he only knows me abke Da
offered by way of consolation.

AfAnd youbve got an armed FBI age
safely. YoucanunseaNde s pel when you get here. o

il dm on. @y way
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Chapter22

Early the next morning an FBI agent from the St. George Resident
Agency interviewed CIiff in the hospitaHe was a young, enthusiastic former
accountant named Randy Berger. Berger was accompanied by Sheila Shaw, th
Special Agent in Charger SACof Salt Lake Division.
involved in individual cases, especially at the remote Resideendgs. Shaw,
however, had received a personal call from the Director the previous evening.
She had been informed that Cliff was not oaljormer FBI agent, but thatsi
wi fe was a current agent and the aun
would be following the progress of the case personally and was sure Shaw would
give it the attention it deserved. Indeed she would.

Cliff told them the story of the shooter. When they got to the part about
motive, Berger, a financial whiz, had no trouble ustinding theAPIX fraud
scheme. He speculated thdite shootermust have been Deal or someone
associated with hirrbut admitted there was no solid evidence linking the killing
toDealorAPIX This |l ed into the story of
lit up. He may havea multiple homicide cas#hat the Director himself was
following. Whoever it was that went after Clifflas probably the same person
that ran down Sullivan, and if so, had traveled interstate for that purpose. That
made that one a fedé@se, too. Shaw assured Cliff that she had already been in
touch with the U.S. Attorney and that the case woulgitzen the highest priority
there

Cliff took an early flight out of VegasThe SAR team had returned his
phone to him and he was able td geeplacement in Las Vegas before the flight,
so he spent his time on the plane writing a long and profusely grateful log to the
owner of the Oasis cache, apologizing for taking all the water, but pointing out
how it literally saved his life. He was baak his office by noon, andybone
o6cl ock he .wWalaid outthe \Bhol® dtory im @letail.

In turn, Brolin and Morgan told him aboligaya Santos. The consensus
was that theydd found the | eak. Now
stll had the one drawing from Belcher. Brolin said that was enough for them to
file a civil suit, but they wanted more. The damages from a single drawing were
minimal. They needed to show a widespread practice. Morgan had already begur
compiling a list of he drawings that Santos had checked out and it corresponded
almost perfectly with the parts that had begun to drop in sdlest was
circumstantial, but Brolin wanted hard evidenBelcher had called Morgan that
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morning and said his lawyer had advisedhhagainst sending the remaining
APIX drawings to API. They were at a stalemate.

AncCl i ff, | can sue and get a di scc
First of all, the drawingsreprobably alreadydestroyed, and if not, soon would
be. Theybarled ypotneenrti mi nating. Al so, w

obvious business reasons. But | need those drawings both for suit against APIX
and to convince our cust ome, kmckdffhiley 6r

the FBI going to search Bel cher?0
Cliff had already given this som
donot think 1itds advisabl e. Wedd or

drawings. Not only that, but the evidence would be in the hands of the FBI, not

available to you for your suifor now the FBI is going to be concentrating on

identifying the shoot elhave anhidea. bet $antdso ¢

get her access to the drawings back.
AwWhat are you going to do?0 Morga
Cliff explained. Brolin and Morgan lookeat each other and agreed that

it could work.
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Chapter23

Cliff sat in his Tesla in the API
thatdéds her coming out your directio
bl ouse. 0
il see her, 0 Malmowder ovenKbréar dompadtl ane v
surveillances. It was discreet, especially since it was driven by a diminutive
female.

Santos pulled out into traffic and headed hamber minivan This was
the third day of surveillance now for Cliff and Maeva, and theuld tell
immediatelythat was where she was headed. She took the same route every
night. The first two days had not revealed any suspicious behdviaas still
useful to establish her pattern and get to recognize her and her car in differen
conditionsand dress. Today was the first day, however, that Morgan had told
them she had checked out drawings t
legitimate need for in the course of her duties.

Maeva had done the background on Saatus learned that she liden
Morgan Hill with her husband Juavho worked at an auto body shder turn
toward home was the sign they were waiting for. If she had driven north toward
Redwood City, that would mean she was dropping off the drawings with Deal.
But since she went sth, that meant she was taking the drawings home. Cliff had
guessed that she would not want to drive forty minutes north and then two hours
souththrough heavy rush hour traffi€he plan could be set in motion.

They followed her all the way home even thbuhey were pretty sure
they knew where she was going. It W
anything or drop off the drawings somewhere unexpected. She made no stops e
route home.

They waited as late as they could. The late June sun stayedilu@:30
and the light lasted another half hour. At 8:45 Maeva knocked on the door to the
Santos home. She was pulling a wagon with three boxes: one labeled plastic, on
labeled cans, one labeled paper. Each box held several items of matching the
parts.Ligaya answered.

AHIi !0 she said brightly. Al 6m col

ils there a drive? | didnodét hear



BEHEAIME 149

AfiReally? 1 6m surprised. Well, web
for the afterschool program. Can you donate yaecyclables? It costs you
nothing. Cans, plastic, and paper. o

Al suppose. The city requires us

She closed the door and returned two minutes later. She had a bag of soda ar
beer cans and a separate bag of plagimd. She handed them to Maeva who
dumped them into the boxes on her wagon with a smile.
ANo paper ?0
fiCan you even make money fromths##e@ dondét t ake t he
|l onger . 0
i Oh, newspaper isndt very valuabl
paper,like computer papeor your junk mail The rate is much higher for that.
Do you have any, likérom ahome officewastebask®® Sant os | ook
annoyed. APl eeease! 0 Maeva begged.
AAl Il right, just a minute, o0 naant
later and dumped a wastebasket of paper into the box lafiEd@erd although
she made a show of pulling out two credit card receipts and juggling the
wastebasket to make sure there were no other financial documents in it. Maeve
watched as engineering drawings bounced up and down amoag mhailers
and real estate flysr whi | e Santos pull ed out th
The goods in hand, Maeva headed back down the walk. She pretended tc
be going to the next house, but as she walked a few steps and looked back t
thank Santos, she could see the door was already closeke@hsdking until
she reached her car and loaded the boxes into the trunk. Cliff watched from half

block away.
When they got back to the office they checked their haul. The process
wasnodét hard to figure out. Thallsdedawi

engineering drawings thaigayahad checked out from the API library, but they
were of the same partShe had apparently taken the drawings to a photocopier
and made a reduced size copy, small enough to be faxed. This much was obviou
since thee was also a fax cover sheéthe original fullsized drawing was
apparently returned to the | ibrary a
fax cover sheet said only AMichael 0
part number was listedeal must put the small faxed drawing on his own
photocopier and enlarge it, then cut out the center and paste it onto his own APIX
border. This would explain the poor quality of the drawing3 atl c her 0 s
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Theybothmarveled at how stupid Santos had beendudehe drawings
for Maeva but Cliff knew how common that was among lesser players in white
collar casesThe real con mn, the Michael Deals of the world, were more
careful,as his shredding operation showbdt peripheral players often convince
themselk es t hat wha't theydore doing 1isno
Maybe at first theydre scared and t a
and theyodre making money with They pr
assume that w h adt betokag gromething dad nvguld have
happened by nowDeal probably used some smooth talking on Santos just like
hedd done MehadcouBedlorctimae r .

* %k %

The next day Cliff brought therawings to API. Morgan and Brolin were
both ecstaticOne of the drawings was for a part made by Kimball Quartz. The
other one was for a part made by a machine shop in Hayward. They now had ¢
pattern established. Brolin announced that she was going to take this to hel
General Counsel and ask for authorizatto file suit. Morgan asked Brolin if he
could contact the customers nawd give them an ultimatum

Cliff answered for her. iNot yet.
still have hundr eds, maybe thousand:
seizel si multaneously theyol]l j ust get
somebody el se will just become the n

ifiHe6s right, o Brolin agreed.

Mor gan shook hi s h baaate we going to doskout a t
Santo8We canét | et her stay now.

Brolin mulled thisover A No , webve got to fir.
H.R. Is she here today?o

inYes, wor ki ng at her desk. Sheodl |

Cliff said, il have a better idec

it before becasethe evidence would be in their hands and not available to you
for your civil suit, but with these three drawings and the evidence from the
library check out logs you now have enough. The important thing is to get those
fake drawings pulled and interweSantos at the same time, then fire her. Give
me three days. o

AYou can get it done that fast?0o0
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ANor mal |l vy, no. But t he FBI i s al
high-priority case.The FBI Director is watching the investigati They don
have a solid connection between that attankmeand API X vyet ,

probably get there very soon. Mve bring them thisevi dence, t he
probable cause to search API X at | ea
and wire fraud not the attack. | 6m sure t he

search warrant in that time. The Director can get the Deputy Attorney General to
l ean on the United States Attorney i
iThe Director of ttroavi ARBI that pat $
Mor gan parroted, obviously skeptical
fi T h awsndabpart of it. The Bureau protects its own. But my wife is an
agent and her sister was married to
best friend. o

AThe odedofwhbeart attack while run

iYes. The Director i s tThergddf aBtL
family and thenotherebs family fami.l

Brolin emitted a | ow whistl e. fi |
ths to the FBI? Through your wife?0

iYes. Leave it t o me. Are you av:
her here. o

AALl I right. Three 06clock?9

AFine. I 611 cal l her now. 0

He called her and got her to agree to come at three, although she tried tc
pump him for details. He kept it to a minimum amount of information, knowing
it was better for her to get the story from the victim directly.

* % %

At his office, Cliff reviewedMaeva s r esearch. S h e
plateson t he cars in the API X |l ot that
license data on all of them. Michael Deasathirty-eightyearold male, blond
hair, bl ue eyes, h ei gdmg in $ad MatedHe wase i ¢
goodl ooki ng even i n hiTbke otther caws delodged td twa e |
females ages twentyvo and thirtyone, and one mal&‘gnacio Garciawho also
topped six feet

ilt c aithednhale boe CI1 i f f remah kyedr ¢ ot dvia
saw the attacker standing next to hi
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but | think he was dark complected and he was definitely shorter than average.

Maybe five seven, tops.t wasno6ét t e women, eithe

iBel cher,foomsbimeooempany?o

i No, not Bel cher . I canodot be sur ¢
didndét see them all, but it doesndt
operators and the |ike, not paid kil
from APl X6s business. They have no re
the drawing. If it had been someone from Belchbey probablywould have
broken into the car and taken the dr

il 6ve ordered Lori Deal 0sthdlotsod n s e
didnét get it on the first request a

so | had to wait until | got the address for Michael. Her real name is Lorelei as it
turns out. 0

ANo problem. Sheds not the shoote
AfAnyone cotwhdd ulme drheehi t though. E
iTrue enough. o
inSo do you have enough to Ilink t
the FBI, is there probable cause?0
AYou tell me. You went to | aw sch
Maevashook her head no without needing to thinkitoveril don 6 1
SO. You have moti ve, but that s it.
to search API X for stolen drawings. o
iThat 6s what the meeting is for t

* *x %

At the meeting Sally Brolin laid out the details of thBIX scheme to
Ellen at great length while Cliff and Morgan sat mostly silent. Also present was
Matt Nguyen. Ellen explained that right after Cliff had called to set up the
meeting, a lead had come in from Salt Lake Division on the attempted murder
case to obtai identifying information and criminal checks on Michael Deal
possible suspecSince Matt worked violent crimes, he was assigned the lead.
Al t hough the evidence | inking the tw
cases should be worked togethBrolin provided photocopies of the three
drawings recovered from Belcher and Santos.

AfWe need to do search themfasntise &
of fered when t he s tSantoycoudalsstroyg themmrany timieA P
now t hat twheedyréer eo naawa rtehem. 0
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Cliff finally spoke up. AAPI X ¢
regularlyfor their business, but they may have hidden some off premises if they

arenot using them currently. The be
home, and the Cel home simultaneousl! y. I f yo
are present at one of those | ocation

Cliff had no right to tell the FBI what to do, of course, but Ellen
respected his professional opinibecause of, or perhap®iwithstanding the
fact she was married to him. This had been his area of expertise when he was i
the FBI. While she sometimes resented his tendency to butt in, like in the
Maureen Little case, she also knew that he knew his giutth a t abou
vendors® s he asked. ATheydve got the API
Cliff shook his head. AYou canodt
t hem. | f you search API X, the word
going to want the FBI coming in and seizing all theirords and possibly
implicating them in a conspiracy to defraud API. You could bankrupt a number
of legitimate firms. If API gives you a list of vendors suspected of receiving the
dr awi ngs, which you can confirm afte
have to do is give them a call and ask them to collect all aitd@ingsfor you
to pick up. Theyolrdalbaadmmluy.s hleaey . ar e
Mor gan broke in. AAnd webre the v
producing parts ttoshutthensdowdYou dondt wa
El'l en nodded in agreement with a
numbers for API X? They dondt have a
Cliff answered. fiMaeva got them f
|l isted |l and |lines. o
AThey stiwlpagevse?yelBllloen | aughed.
Cliff dug through his notes until he came up with the two numbers. Ellen
di aled the second one | isted. AFax |
AThat 6s what lasearehrwarerbr. toll tecodsom Samtdshsed
on what we haveThat will show multiple calls to the APIX fax line unless | miss
my bet. That will help with our probable cause to show evidetiee faxed
drawingswill be on the premise3.hen we can go in and seizenaist everything
T the parts, the drawings, the computers.
Smart, o Brolin said. fHow f ast c

fi
inA week. 0O
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iWe need it faster, 0 Brolin repl:.i
APl X and Santos is stil lepjerienglerasdessimg
and out or sheo6l | get suspicious. 0

Al promised them three days, o0 CIi

Ell en shot him a withering | ook.

Matt Nguyen finally broke in. i We
write it up or organize the search teaimghatever you need. The murder case is
top priority and has to be connected. This is our chance to find evidence
connecting Deal to the attack on Cliff and on Sullivan. Travel receipts, whatever.
That stuff is timesensiive. Cliff is right that we have to get it done immediately.
You know the SAC wil/l pull out all t

Matt, patient until now,beganquestioning Cliff about the man who
attacked him. Even though Sandy Berger had already done that backhin Uta
Matt wanted to know if Cliff had any more information about Carad wanted to
hear it firsthand Cliff told him about Ma e v a
Deal was too tall and too white. The shooter was shorter and daxker.so, he
made copies odll of it for Matt, although he knew Matt would get the original
data from DMV along with photos.

Al ol l do a stakeout on API X to s
you havendét seen yet, o0 Matt said. AT
sarch, too. We need visual confirmation that Deal does business there
regul arly. o

Further details of the plan were discussed and agreed upon. Santos woul
keep her access for nofs the meeting was breaking up, Ellen stood and pulled
something from her lefcase.

AMi ss Brolin, é0 she began.
i Oh, pl ease, cal l me Sally. o
nvery well. Sally, I believe you

napkin from BJ&6s restaurant with her
Brolin looked confused for a moment until she unfolded it and read th
note. Then she turned brick red for a mome8he had thought Ellen looked

familiar but c oul,pgrobébty begduse ofehe hee hair oofort i
and cut Her mouth opened and closed a couple of times rather like a fish out of
water beforeshe ound t he words of a reply. f

at t iShestsle atsideways glance at CIiff.
Cliff had not known Ellen would do that, or even that she still had the
note, but realized what she was doing immediately upon seeing the note make it
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appearance. He watched the scene with a bemused detachment. Matt, who he
been at the recstvtgoniraet Brdiidmotrom tI
her before and was too busy thinking about what he had to do to pay much
attention. Morgan, of course, had no idea what was goingnonwas totally
perplexed, since he knew thepkinh a d n 6t b e etmeoffice.opped i

iwWe need to get going, o EIllen sai
peck on his bearded che&kheddSeevgbpuc
Sweetie in her lifeThen she and Matt made their exit.
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Chapter24

The next day Ellen ahMatt obtained an order for a pen register on the
Santos home. Trying to get the phone calling records from the carrier was too
slow, they decidedThey needed immediaproof The only way to do that was
to put something on the line themselves. A peristegis a device that can be
attached to a phone line and record the dialing data and date/time information.
ltds not the same as a wiretap beca
facsimile, or text, is not recorded or accessed in any way. ordhson the
| egal standard for obtaining one is
phones, but for land lines it wagkike a charm. They had it installed the same
night by one of the FBI tech agents. It was done at the switch two blocks from
the Santos home.

Within a day they had proof that calls were made from the Santos home
to the APIX fax line. That was the final nail that sealed the probable cause for the
search warrants. An affidavit was in
nextday and the search warramgs issued that afternoon. Matt, backed up by
the SAC of the San Francisco Division, had already organized and briefed teams
for searches at APIX in Redwood City and the Santos house in Morgan Hill.
Once the warrant was in hanthe teams were notified to report to designated
staging areas at 9:30 A.Mnd be prepared to enter at exactly 10100like in
drug raid situations, the searchers wanted to do the search during business hour
when everyone was present.

The FBI digectlp with anactink especially a big compang,
coordinate a raidpr it looks like the government is playing favorites in a
business dispuidighting for the behemoth against the little gaythis case A
defense lawyer can do wonders with thai: this reason, APl was not notified of
when and where the raid would take place. Not officially, that is. Of course, ClIiff
happened to live with the lead FBI agent and was, shall we say, alerted to hel
plans to leave that day in her grubbies and raidefadk man has eyes, after all.
The fact that this was the third day since Matt had promised he couldirdo it
three daysvas somet hing of a «clue, t oo. C
early as he always did and made a beeline to API, where Brolin, K anga the
head of Human Resources were waiting since he had alerted Sally the night
before that it was a go.

At 10:02 CIiff got a call from Maeva, whast happened to be sitting in
her caracross from thdront of the APIX offices, stating that a team BBI
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agents had just entered APIX. Surprise, surprise. Btoénnotified Morgan to
keep an eye on Santos and make sure
called her into his officdor an impromptu performance appraisal. std her

work had been dupar recently and he thought she was distracted by personal
calls on her cell. She hotly disputed this and told him she would turn off her
phone if that would satisfy him. He said that was a good idea. She turned it off in
front of him, stowed it in heryse, and returned to her desk. Morgan continued
to watch her throughout the day.

* %k %

Ellen and a team of eleven FBI agents entered the premises of APIX
precisely at ten. They marched in the front door and spread out to all the desks
and warehouse aredhe few employees began laughing nervously at first,
thinking it was a joke.

AMy name is EIll en Kennedy, 06 she
empl oyees could hear. fAl 6m a Speci al
to search these premises. We have reason to believe this company is using stole
engineering drawings and othdocuments from Advanced Photolithics, Ica
scheme to defraud in violation of the Economic Espionage Act of 1996 and is
transporting the stolen drawings interstate in violation of Title 18 United States
Code Section 2314. Do not touch your computers or any documents. If you
interfere in any wg, you will be arrested. You are free to leave, but we would
like to speak to each of you, so | ask that you stay until we can get a chance to d
S00

By the time she had finished, the laughing had stopped. Michael had
stepped out of his office into the @p area and started to yell to the employees
not to talk, but before he could get
t el | them not to talk to the FBI, t h
He shut up at that point.

Agents began unpgging computers and opening file cabinets. As
expected, they were full of API drawingsostly altered to have the APIX title
block, but some were still the original API drawings box truck pulled up
outside, driven by the chief evidence clerk. The baggind tagging had begun.

Ellen tried to interview Deal, but he immediately said he was calling his
| awyer and tdk 8he Gdvedwratoathe twodemale employees. The
one sitting near the front dqoa secretary of sortsyas athick-set thirtyish
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woman wearing mom jeans and a bland polyester pullover blousey
conventionaln contrast to the one in the corner, a girl, reafipybe nineteen or
twenty, whose race was hard to tell since her hair was in parts jet black, bright
red, and a sort afrange while hedarkishskin tone was obscured by the tattoos
and piercings up and down most of the exposed areas. The heavy dark makeu
around her eyes added to the camouflage. SBoeetarysaid she was willing to

talk, so Ellen decided she could waitd asked the woman politely to stand by
She wanted to get to the girl before she rabbited.

Ellen headed to the corner where the girl was already standing, digging
her keys out of the purse. Ellen asked her to sit a moment and the girl looked
over to Mictael Deal for guidance, but he was already walking toward the front
door and on his cell phone.

inPl ease, j ust have a seat for a n
I j ust want to ask you about what
scissors andcraps of paper on her desk.

The girl hesitated before answer:i
tag ng. o

ACut t itapgngnwhat ?0

The girl just gestured with a hand motion toward the drawings, unwilling
to say the words.

AThese drawirnygsofsaiyP|I®Pr olpoer ot C
that ?20

The girl shrugged and gave a serod.

AwWwho told you to cut and paste th

She pointed to Deal, who was now
finally proving her vocal cords still worked.

iwhy would you copy something tha

realize that was wrong?o
iHe said it was okay. o0
i Mi chael Deal, thatés who told vyo
i Yeah. I want to go now. You said
ioOkay, you <can, but I need your
nunber . 0
dondt want éo0

.

I

iThe search warrant gi ves me t h

premi ses. 0 She grabbed the girlés pu
AHey, | need that. My keys ¢éo
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Ellen ummaged through it and pulled out the keys and handed tioem
her. She also pulled out the wallet and flipped it open.

iokay, okay. |l 6m Jessica PiHlerza.
mascara was beginning to run, the first obvious sign of distress.

Al s all this information adcovuerradts
license.

AYes. O

iAnd vyour p h $he wroteniudowneon Red pad as Jessica
recited it. Then she let the girl go since she could tell she was a mindless minion.

As soon as she broke away from Jessica, three agents approached he
needing guidares One needed to know if she could take a personal laptop. Deal
had told her that was his personal laptop, not company property and not to take it
Ellen told her of course she had to take it. The warrant listed all computers on the
premises. Next was ag@nt with a drawing in her hand. He explained that most
of the drawings were like that one, with the APIX logo in the lower corner, not
API. He wanted to know if it was an APl drawing and how to tell. She told him
just to take everything. Haul out all tfiee cabinets to the truckDeal could try
to get it back if it wasndt <cov-bgialed
hearing as to where he got it and hisyanwould never let himalthat.

The third agent was a woman who had been backeinvdrehouse area.
Shedd spoken t o tMYygmacionasSalvade@nm iknmigramt withh e r
poor English. He said he just stored the parts that came in on the shelves an
boxed up the ones to send out when o
forrThe agent described the man as HAsc
illegal. She got his identifying information and let him go. He was now gone.
The problem was what to do with all the parts. There were literally tons of parts
of all kinds. She didd t know which ones were API
numbers on the shelf labels and most of them had individual packaging labels.

Ellen had anticipated this. She called Morgan and said it was time for the
expert to come and identify the par
civilian expert to assist in identifying materials that meet, or do not meet, the
description in a warrant. A senior engineer had already been desigtgted|
and was standing by. Morgan told her

That handled, Ellen went back to talk to the one remaining employee, the
woman sitting patiently at the desk up front. Thisman, Nicole, was more
cooperative. She said Michael Deal was the boss of everybody and ran
everything. His wife Lori was supposedly Vice President but never came into the
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office. Deal told the employees that APIX had a license from API to make parts

forthem Aoff the grid, 0 essentially th
He said that it was better for tax purposes to have a smaller company do this.
ADo yo liggkat@awt os?0 EIll en asked.
nOh, yes. Sheds our APd r acwinn gasc.t 0.
pointed to the fax machine. ASome of
complex ones have to be mailed, or s
iwhat do you do with them?590
il give them to Jessica. Shendcut

pastes them onto our border and t hen
What do you do here?bd
The regular office work: answer.
the snail mail, billing, bookkeepinghone 0
You make the payments to vendors
I preparetthecahétiWMsichmett hadmes t
Have you pr eligayakantchexTks for
No. 0O

fiThe markings on thdrawings that said not to copydid you wonder
why they were marked that way if you were authorized to copy them?

Nicole looked down beforeanswering, having trouble keeping eye

i
i

2 e | S ! S 1]

contact A Yldid halways thought there was something fishy going on. But |
di dnét know we were breaking the | aw
that s business. I dondt dkomadw aenvyetnh i
these parts do. We just sell them to
AfDo you know what the revenue fig
it keeps going up. Last guarter
wasnodét even one million. o

Ellen was surprised ahé size of the number. She had expected maybe
two or three million a year, not a quart&€here was a lot of incentive, a lot of
motive to commi almost any kind of crime

ANi col e, does Mi chael travel at a

ifYes, someti mes. | omssbutadmetimesrhadoes t
that himself . 0

ADo you know if hebdés been in Neva

Nicole | ooked perplexed. iNo. He

been out of town in the last three weeks, not unless he went on a weekend. W
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have a vendor in Utah, though, one of our biggest. He was on the phone with
hi m, I know that. o
I s that Belcher ?o0
Yeah, 0 Nicole said, surprised.
Did you hear what they said?0o0
No. Hi s office door WadsHeavhsmarge/d ,
about something. o

ifiHave you ever asPersche OMiEclH acenl ad rrievae
neither Deal owned or leasadPorscheBoth cars wer€adillacs But maybe he
|l i ked to rent them when he t mightlalee d.
rented a car for the gopwhoever it was

o 1 i ' B t Ml 14
>

ANo. O

AfiHow about Ygnacio?o0

fiYgnacio? No way. He drives a bea

ASorry, | candét tell you. oo

i Oh. Juan does, t hough. o

AJuan?o

fiLigayad &usband. | told you she drops off the drawings on weekends
sometimesl 6 m not usually here, but one t

for Ligayaduring the week | guess, because she came in with her husband Juan
He was the driver and they hadewPorsche They even asked Michael to come

out and see it. Juan was so proud of it. They were laughing and talking about the
features and everything. o

* *x %

Matt Nguyen was the team leader at the Santos héugmecisely ten
o06cl ock he kn.dwokagedts veere with hie andl one around back.
All of them wore blue raid jackets displaying the letters PByoung male voice
asked who was there. Matt said it was the FBI and to please open the door. Thi
brought no immediate response.

Go gemonyoour dad, 0 Matt call ed in
Theybére at work. o

We Wd havetocome il ease open up. o

I 611 have to call my Mom to see

Mat t thinidthad evidence was likely to be destroyed, but he
coul dnot b e s ur rght hd heedtg breakhdewn la dodr, vthiche

St O Ot N
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would surely scare the boy and any other children in the hasseell as require
them to secure the house lateut what if there was an adult in there who was
even now shredding or destroying records? Hedakl of the agents with him to
go around and see if they cowgdtin the back.

Twenty seconds later the front door opened. The agent who had been
stationed in the back was a young, pretty female. She had knocked on the sliding
glass door to the back yawehile Matt was at the front. There were two kids in
the living room watching television; both looked to be younger than ten. She
smiled and waved through the glass and askedof the girlto open the door,
which the girldid without questionThe agentvent up to the front and unlocked
the front door while the teenage boy standing there with a phone in his hand
stood dumbfounded. The little girl happily told him a real FBI agent was coming
to see them.

The agents were in. Matt quickly determined thateheere no adults in
the house. The fifteepearold son was in charge and was clearly panicked. He
kept objecting, saying t he agents
permission. This had no effect on Matt or the other agents. Matt announced the
warrant and told the teen he was going to search and to stay with the younget
kids. The boy kept trying to reach his motloer the phonend finally gave up.

The younger kids thought this wasol and tried to follow the agents around.
Matt directed the womaagent to stay with the kids and keep them occupied with
the TV so they could search.

AWhy me?d0 she compl ained. iBecau
babysitter?0

ifiOkay, fine. You search the first

Matt assigned one of the male agentsvidch the kids instead and the
search began. 't didnét t akecesofithg t ¢
living room. In it were a computer and fax machine, both of which were labeled
and taken. Matt took charge of this room. There were checkbooddit card
statements and all kinds of documents that were covered by the warrant, so ht
could see it would take at least an hour for this room alone. The other male agen
was searching the two bedrooms on the left.

After ten minutes the woman agent @aback to Matt and said the only
thing of significance in that bedroom was a combination safe. It was locked and
they didnét have safebreaking tool s

AJust take it then. |l f they donoét
at the office. 0
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filcanot i ft it It wei ghs sPuy ent
what ever @s Sihresitduer nietd. to the agent w
asked if he could help take it out to the car. Matt and the other male were both
skinny guys, while this fedw was beefy and fit.

The mands grin morphed into a s mi
of her earl i er whi ne, iwhy me? Beca
things?o

At this the woman blushed before
kids. Justtakehes af e out to the van. o

The male agentifted the safe with difficulty and goas far as the
hallway whenthe front door opened. Juan Santos barged in andvibtt
recognized him i mmedi ately from his
had called his father when he coul dn

AiwWhat are you dSamoxgmanded. my house?0

Matt stood and displayed the seal

Please haveaseat6d | i ke to talk to you. o
AThis isnb6t ni ght. You candét jus
AsSir, calm down. We have an order

fact must execute a search. Your wife worka & | doesndét she?bo0

ASo what? Thatés a crime now?o0
ifiHave you ever heard of a company
At this Santos stepped back and shdu& head, not so much as a

negative answer, but as a gesture o0
happening.

il dm not goi nlgdbnt ogotianlgk ttoo tyadkue. my
per sonal effects and go. | tansede th

The two young girls were obviously enjoying the whole experience, but
ofcourseMatt had neither the desire nor

take the kids, but I 61 1 have to see
Santos saw that theoime office was already torn apart, contents strewn
aloveril n my bedr oom. theshnd peesonal demg BMaoneys o
for a hotel room. 0
AfYou dondét have a credit card?o
AThatds none of your business. Ca

Matt nodded toward th&edroom. He and one of the men followed
Santosthat direction but they stropped when Santos saw the safe in the hallway
NnHey! My safe, 0 Santos excl ai med.
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iwWe coul dndt open it. I f you giv
search it here. o

il &m ngott ogogiinve you my combinati ol

ANo probl em. We 6 | | t a kYeo uiotl It og ett h

but it will be useless.

Santos paced for a minute in frustration then conceded to the inevitable.
Al éll oped it for you

iokay, t hen. Letdbs do it. o

Santos punched some keys and started to open the door. Matt stoppec

himiAiHol d it. We have to search first.
Matt opened the door all the way and saw a sheaf of papers on the top shelf an
bundles of currency ontheot t om shel f . i Wh o a. That
have t hedyeoo.u Whedr ead | t hat ?0

AiNone of your business. 0 Santos
noticeable accent, which was becoming more pronounced as he got more excitec
He started to re&cinto the safe, but Matt stopped him.

AiHol d on. I have to see whatos t
These included the birth certificates of all the family members, some certificates
of deposit, wills, and passpofts Ligaya and JuarMatt tookthe passports.

AHey. | need that, 0 Santos object
iGoi ng somewhere?o0 Mat t asked.
documentsd as items to be seized. H

through hotel receipts, airline tickets, etgho might have traveld t o Be |l ¢
place in Nevada or tdPIX c ust o me r sid Texas ar @regorg for which
the passports would be usel ess, but
d o ¢ u meHa pusthe @assports in a plastic bag as Juan watched helplessly.
The currency was more of a problem. The warrant did not list currency.
They had no probable cause to support a cash business going on. The Assista
U.S. Attorney who had approved and helped draft the warrant had actually
anticipated this scenario. He walsa&d that if they listed it, the judge would
strike it out and then it would be clear that they could not take currency; doing so
would be seen as bad faith. Il nstead
recordso to dAfi nanci aynotdearacord but s was A
paper with writing on it and thus a document and certainly was financial in
nature. Matt, however, was not aware of this, so he called Ellen for direction.
AEI Tl en, itos Matt . Can we take cu
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AfiTake it. TheuAUWSAldaiwke weave t o
it back.Hey, is Juan there with you? A witness says he dav@srscheCan you
verify that?9

MiOkay, l o1 | have tMattalkihewoudu mnead k
was going. He di dn 6te hathbedometacsuspeet in th8 a
Nevada attacks, however. Turning to
dri veway. You arenot bl ocking us in,

i No . I parked at the curb. Are yo

AiShow me. 0

AWhat? Why?0

filnterfering with our search is struction of justice and we can arrest
you for that. o

il di dnot interfere. Look, I 61 1
house. o He |l ed Matt to the f r-whitd wi

Porsche Panamesadan.

Satisfied, Matt said nothing and led him back to lthé area where he
began to bathe money.

iwhat was that alll about? You can
il can and | di d. You arenobt bl o
and go, like you saidou wanted to. 0

Santos shook his head disgustedly and went back to the living room to
collect his children. As soon as he was out of the house Matt called Ellen back.
AEIl en, itds a white sedan?2 Cliff sa

ifiYeah, 0 ka the cart Stillaif he@ 8kePorsche é 0 s he d
have to finish the sentendeAr e you cl ose to being d

AAnot her half hour maybe. 0

AfOkay, wedre going to be here a |
finish up. Meet me at API in an bio Leave your people to finish up if you have
to. o0

ANo probl em. 0

AAny drawings?o0

ifYes, two i n the office area so f
ifGi ve me the part numbers. o He di
Al havenét finished counting it.
fOkay, thamks.oohnoélol see yo

* %k %
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Ellen continued to questioNlicole a t APl X. ADi d Mic
Ligaya?o
He never asked me to prepare a ¢c¢
How about cash?bo

iHe did carry a | ot of @ lhesphid hero me
Theydd meet on whendwtekeme. avhen |

ADi dndt you tdink that was odd?

i
i

Nicole bit her |l ower 1ip. AKi nda.
about business. Michael would just get mad at us if we asked questions. | always
wondered ¢é | j ust t houghto6ts okmeavh i wea

br eaki ng Nitole eepehtedwhisdo many times it could have been her
mantra, but Ellen suspected it was true.

Ellen continued to question her for a few minutes longer but Nicole was
unable to provide any further information of val&everal of the other agents
had questions foEllen as search team leader. She took care of them, designated
another agent to take over, and then left for API.

She met Brolinin the lobby and was told that Santos was still in a
Aperformance appraisaldo with Morgan.
told her he would be there. Back in
the vehicle at the cache site traildemas an SUV, not a sedan. He assured her it
wasa Porscheblack. She then informed Brolin that she wanted to talk to Santos
when she was available.

iwe thought you might, o Brolin s
room set aside for you. Can we bepent ? 0

i No . You can inter vi e wdowhateveraydut e r
want . Matt Nguyen wil/ be joining me
They didndt have to wait | ong. Ma

were ushered into a room and.sBtolin said she would have Morgan escort
Ligaya there, but Matt stopped her.

il need you to do s dioentilinthegSartdsr s
safe0 He handed hbagwittaevileace gs and tapelow it Inside
was a document | abel ed f Lpageeocsriem go a
Brolin didndédt have to open the bag t
APl was licensing the right to use its engineerimgwings to APIX. It was
signed by Michael Deal and the Vice President of API, the same Indian woman
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wh o had brought i n Brolin and Mor ¢
|l egiti mate?o0
Brolin was aghast. If it was, then the whole case against APIX was

worthl e s s . Then a nervous smile crept
was spel | edNo AR laviyériweoull spelkit tiat way; they were all
American.The Vi ce President 6s name, typ

mi sspell ed. PTlyies ymostshbetal 8 Matt.
now and have her confirm that.o

ifiTake a copy, 0 Matt said. AiThi s h
custody. Letdés go to a copier.o The
mi nutes wdree Vb®ck.saii ™ ités forged, o
not her signature, but the date is wrong, too. She checked her calendar. She we
in India that entire monttP | us it és amateuri sh. Mi
used wrong. 0 Elofiraeii breat hed a sigh

That business over, Brolin sent for Ligaya San8® arrived, escorted
by Ralph Morgan, who told her the FBI was here to talk to her. He made clear
that her assignment was to help them in their investigation, then he stepped out
leaving her bbne with the agents.

Ellen looked her over before speaking. Santos was short and slightly
squat without looking overweight. She looked every bit of the Filipina she was,
with black hair and a slight Polynesian influence to her features. Shebveova
slacks and a plain white blouse with a lightweighdwn and white sweater vest.

A small gold cross hung on a chain around her neéddr s . Santos,
Agent Kennedy and this is Special Ag
AWhat 6s t hi s adivously.She begah fddlirgsvkhethe

Cross.
Aiwedll get to that. How |l ong have
ATwel ve years. 0
iALl I of that time as a buyer?0o
iYes. Wel | an Assistant Buyer 8

much | i ke hernothed.sbandos, Mat t

Ellen continued asking her questions about her duties, how she received
her assignments, how she determined what parts she was supposed to obta
vendors for, how she obtained the necessary drawings and specifications for the
parts, and so on. Thwas all necessary to establish what her legitimate access
was and what wasnét .
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Then she switched to Ligayabéeninper
the United States?0o0

AThirteen years. I came from the
ATel | uUus aboutwerheatablHow o sc dme yto
il came on a student vi sa, and wl
We got married and | got my Herffiddllmgn c ¢

with the necklace became more agitated.

Matt knew she was lying and not orflpm her body language; he had
seen her passport and otlhefrf i ppanpceRres .v
he remained silent.

AiWhen did yobBlllemaskedt y Juan?o

This mention of her husbandds nar
knew they hadlready looked into her personal life some.

iThe same year | came over. Al mos

ils he from the Philippines, too?

iNo, heds a U.S. citizen. Nat ur al

Mat t finally spoke. i Wh at Agent
born?2?o

fiHere. Hs fatherMiguel was @ exchange student and brought his wife.
She gave birth here, but they moved back to the Philippines when Juan was ai

infant. H®O s st i | | a Uo $he said almastzdefiantly, as thoughy h
Juanbds <citizenshiPphbadebmwmed guest mo
thought you were FBI, not | CE. What

fiRel ax, Mr s . Santos, 0 Ell en cooec

about immigration mattert.et 6 s move on to somet hin
obtain drawingsforths e part s?0 She handed Sant
description of the part listed next to it.

Santos made a show of studying t
parts. o

Ell en pointed to the one at the b
twodays ago and checked it out from t|
iOh vyes, of cour se. [ di dnot reco
never been interviewed by the FBI .o

AiDid you provide a copy of these

Santos was now drumming héngers furiously on the table and her
knees were bouncing up and down | ik
drawings to vendors so they can bid
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ils that a O60yesd?o

nltds all | egal . They have a | icc¢
selprts to APl and need the drawings

ifAre they a vendor? Have they pro

i No, not yet. They keep getting u

Ellen handed her theoffgedlicensinga gr e e ment . Als th

you were referring o ? 0
ifiYes. Where did you get this?20
iWe executed a search warifThat pht
agreement had been seized from Ligay
t o r e v e alhfact, thneasearch is gtill goiffig on. This documentfirgery.

APl X does not have a |icense from AP
AForgery!? | di dintdtweaksnoan It hlagtg alHe
AWho said?0o
AMi chael . Michael Deal . 0
iSo you gave him these drawings,
iYes, but I t hought it was | dgal

t hought he could supply us parts che
ADid he pay you?bod
This brought her up short. She took a long time before answering.
iAr enodt you supposed to read me my

Maybe | need a | awyer .o

Mat t answered. wihwe soimpgodedds hahn
not in custody. Youbre free to go a
| egal depart ment and from H.R. ar e
you. o0

Santos turned to look at the door, considering whether to ovalld . i A
they going to fire me?0o0

AThatds up to them,o0 Ellen said.

iwhat are you going to tell them?

AWe wonodt tel!]l them anything. Wh
criminal case fil e, t hat 6s al | . Loo!
Mi chael Deal web6re after, not you. T

The agents could see she was wracked with indecision. She stood, turnec
toward the door, then turned back f

anymore. o0 She wal ked toward the door
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Matt sad , AMaybe we should talk abou
not a U.S. citizen. o

This caused Santos to whirl around, her mouth agape, her eyes ostrich
eggs, sunny side up. AWhat are you ¢
born citizen. Allhischild en are citi zens. 0

i No, Ligaya, 0 Matt continued <cal n
is not your husbanddés son. He was bec
husband. | 6ve seen his birth certifi

Afubve been in my house?!0

Matt wentonfi We have a wa rYowcame ofeoona# h at
visa to marry Juan. You left your tw@arold son with your sister in the
Philippines. He came over later on a tourist visa with her. She returned to the
Phii ppi nes without hi m. He 6 s oversta
citizenship if youb6bd gotten him a g
never did that because you knew youb
to do that and might be stutthere a long time. Your husband never adopted him.

It 6s al | in the papers in your s al
deportation. o

AiwWwhere are my children? Did you t

AnTheyodore with your husband. He ¢
searching Now we arendét | mndi gHeatlieotn hilsi kv
without adding the Abut. o Threats, e
the courts as coercion and render subsequent statements inadmissible.

Ell en t ook olLviegrayfar,onm tMast thhowl or n

of here and get a lawyer,bytoudve al ready admitted
That makes each 0 C c-eomspimtor tot nimié fratid, wir& o u
fraud, interstate transportation of stolen propertyddraecret theft. We know
Deal is the bad guy here. The person who cooperates first gets the best dea
Thatés the one thing TV gets right.

AAnd my son?o

ALI ke | sai d, we arenot I mmi gr at.i

Santos was shaking sard she could no loegstand. She sat back down
and put her head in her hands, elbows on the table. The agents waited. The hoc
had been set. This was not the time to jerk the line.

iwhat do you want to know?0d Santo

AEverything. ol8wadi df i 6 makliénepekee g i
softly now. Reel the fish in slowly.
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il me t Lori Deal through soccer.
t he same t ea m-starltdad.dVe wereron e salelires tallkang on
day and she asked whdrevorked. Michael was there and overheard us. He was
curious and said that was fascinating. No one ever thought my job was
fascinating before. | just take parts drawings and send them to vendors and thel
compare the bids when they come in. | make a reamdation and then my
boss reviews it and sends it to Cont
even do that except on contract renewals or regular repeat orders. Anyway, | wa:
pleased someone thought my job was important. So they invited ity dnd
we became friends. 0

ADid he already have the business

nNo, he was a salesman for some r
to the buying and selling of equipment, | guess. So he asked me if he could
become a vendor to API. He wanted totshés own company. | told him who to
contact. o

AWho was that?o0

AMy bosdhaRalwals. t hree years ago. ¢

AGo on. O

il guess Michael talked to Ral ph
as a vendor without at least three years of actual production sa tnaality
hi story and volume capability coul d
later, anyway. So | thought it was over.

AnThen two weeks | ater Michael cal
couple of drawings so that he could get the parts randerove to Ralph that he
could produce good quality parts. I

anyone who wasnét an approved vendor
the harm. It was just one drawing and Michael had been so good to us. He anc
Lori threw a party for the soccer team and gave our daughter an expensive
Christmas gift, a game station.
ADid he pay you for the drawing?o
i No. I really thought he wanted
doing my company a favor if did qu al i f y . I't was a quas
that many quartz vendors around. | told him our vendor was Kimball and they
were pretty pricey. |l &m not supposed
vendors, or even their names, but | only wanted to eageunim to come in low
to get qualified.
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AThen a month | ater he came to me
V. P. He said Ralph didndot | ike him s
licensing agreement, the one you have. He said | had to keegrét because
APl was using a tax loophole. He struck a deal where he would supply the parts
to our customers at lower prices than our regular prices and share the profits witt
API. He said he could sell them from a subsidiary in another state where taxes
are a lot lower, both sales taxes and income taxes. He told me it was a dodge the

al | big companies use, but they keerpg
worried Congress wild/| close the |1 oorg
get drawings foh i m. 0

AHow much?06 EIll en asked.

AiThree hundred a drawing. And | f
have access to that, too. 0

AfAnd you agreed??9d

nYes. | thought | was helping my

AiHow did he pay you?bo

iCash. Wedd meet at seasoncAfterrd sgasome s

| 6d dri ve oup to API

AiHow many drawings did you give h
AiThe first ti me, Tlourbdastisalikg parts. Theais f
was whatever he asked for. I donét Kk

i And vy o u ughtehan slipging ttasloto you was normal, ethical
business?0

iNo, but he said it was | egal . o
ADid you tel!l Ral ph Morgan?o
i No . Mi chael sai d it was over hi s

The fewer people that knew, the bett
Did Juan know?o0

Heas the one that convinced me t
first. He and Michael like to play poker. Michael took him on a gambling trip to
Las Vegas about that time. Michael paid for everything. They got to be good

i
]

friends. Juantold metotrusti c hael , t hat everything
ADid Juan win money that time?0o
ifYes, he di d. Al most t wo thousand

Ellen glanced at Matt for an instant. Could this woman really be that
stupid? This was a classic recruitment right out efKIGB and CIA playbooks
Ellen was willing to bet Juan got treated to a trip to the local bordello, too.
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fJust a guess. So then what?0

AnAfter that Michael gave me a f ax
immediately. Most of them could be shrunk dowrthe size of my fax. Since
then | just get a phone call with the numbers of the parts he wants and | send th
drawings and vendor information. o

Aiwhen did you realize what you we
guestion. Li gaya bha &nevit wayikegal. Ehd phrasing e d
made it easier for her to slip into that mode.

ilt was when the | ayoffs came. 0
ALayoffs? Tell wus about that. o
iQur sales in the spare parts uni

edge and kept telling the whole @efment we had to start doing things better or
there would be layoffs. He said someone was underselling us. | guess | suspecte
that 6s what API X was doing for some
mostly getting on the salesmen, but he alsdedaalking to the buyers. He said

t hat if the sales volume dropped any
He told me specifically that the parts | handled were among the ones hardest hi
and that | was on the list to be first to get laid &fé wanted me to find lower
prices or el s eOfdodrsk, | bad mastly givem Michaawing b .
for parts | already handled because | had access to those.

il went to Michael in a panic |6
selling partsto our customers and told him there were going to be layoffs,
including me. He said not to worry,

sell a few, but that meant | had to start getting drawings for other geatgings
I di dndét haveo. Boddid that amcmyeparta listchegarsto grow
sales agaimalthough not as many as befare.

iSo you knew he was using the dr a

APl ?06 EIll en wanted the criminal i nte

ABy then | di d. wBaillegall Notdlikedstedling. Ik n
thought 16d get fired if the company
then.It was like a store clerk taking some of the product without permission.
That 6s nofThahdpl j ut itangrhalpartrofoasmess. | t 6 s

This was the nail Ellen wanted. Ligaya must have known it was illegal,
but whet her s he di d or not , the ol d

applied. Did she really think taking merchandise in a store was legal as long as it
was a employee stealingl® was amazing how people rationalized their crimes
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to avoid feeling guityfiHow much money have you
APl X?0

il dondédt know. A | ot. o
AHow many drawings thamontPw usually
She counted on her fingebse f or e answeri ng. i Ma

Someti mes more. o

Ellen did the mathThis explained how she could afford the new house
in Morgan Hill. Six thousand a month, sevenityo thousand a year cash, no
doubt undeclared on her taxes. She decided nehdntion taxes. That was
something she could find out later from the I®Srom seized tax returns at the
house She didnét want to scare Ligaya
Ligaya understood the seriousness of her crime yet. Many white cotlaks
were more afraid of the IRS than the FBI.

AfiHow about gifts? Gambling trips
AMi chael is very generous. 0
ifnANnd t hat cash i n your saf e, t h

Mi chael ?0

iYes. We didnot know whamnh ¢lhee bta
there are rules. o

Ellen had what she needed for now. She looked over to Matt, who leaned
over and whispered in her ear. Ellen nodded. Matt took over the questioning.

AiHow often did Juan go to Vegas w
iOnce or tMivicheed 6sedmo busy t o goc
AfAnd does Juan al ways win?bo

AfUsual ly. Heb6s a good poker playe
AWhends the | ast time they went?090
AJanuary. o0

fiJuan didndt go there within the
i Olyqudi dnot as k t hdatl.u a¥whmsdhaMickhael 6t h

coul dndt go, but he paid for the tri

AWhen did he go? What dates?0
AWhich time?o0

AfiHow many times in the | ast month
ATwi ce. The first ti me was about

five days ago. Michael caltl him and said he had some coupon or something
that was going to expire.o
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Matt was the one doing the math this time. The dates coincided with the
murder of Brigham Sullivan and the attack on CIiff. It was coming together.
AiDo you or your?ohusband own a gun

nYes. My husband has one for pr
Constitution says so. The Second Ame
ifYes, |l 6m aware of the Constitut

permit to carry it?2o0gMattraldredhyntibms
is always checked before a raid. There was no record of firearms at the Santo:
home.

AfiHe told me He kegpstietr eidn itthe sa
it.0 Matt knew there was no gun in the safe. Juan must havéhie car.

ADid he take it with him when he
ifiHe flew the first ti me. He coul
the car. | n case he Dbreaks down on

there. There are all kinds of gangstersemdazy peopl e with g
And he drove the second time?0o0
Ya&s .
With the gun?o
I guess. 0

This all made sense. The first killing had been with a rented pickup truck
that hedd gotten from the Swedes. He
improvisad. The second time he went prepared for action. But he must have
switched cars. Cliff had said it was a black SUV.

o 1 2 | B t Bl 14

il n Borsan®@ 0
iYes, ités better for Il ong trips.
AJust a coupl e mor eplaig. D& Hd renbansthera n

car when he was there?bo
AWhy would hPorsdhé st hatPdThe w. He 0 ¢
it had broken down. 0

Mattbs phone buzzed on vibrate. It
agent in St. George handling the attack on Céfiking Mattto call him. He
stood. AExcuse me. I have to make a
Why donot you relax a minute. I 61 1
here. o

As soon as he was out of the room, Matt caBedger.Bergerhad been
standing by for theesults of the searches and intervi@grger told him that the
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FBI Lab had raised a print from the shell casing found near where Cliff said the
SUV was parked.

firThat 6s grtatomkws!l i k dde was ih ¥egasuoa n
cl ai med t leavend at thevtime of ¢he Bullivan case and the attack on
Knowl es. 0o

Berger grew even more excited A Do you keveo heen i f
arrested? Theyol | run it through AFI
check against. o

iYes. He hriginy areest.d naruhimkbefare doing the search at
his house. He has an unregistered gu

Al o6l | get his photo from DMV and
are going to be here tonight. o

iThe Swedes? | thought they weren

fiwhitfield, the detective in Cedar City, told me the B and B got a call.
Theydre coming in tonight. | both casesy
solved by tonight. o

Mattdi dndét bother to get water or
Morgan had beerstanding by outside the interview room and had overheard

Mattds end of the conversation. As s
Brolinbés office to brief them on wha

Il nsi de, Mat t sat down again vand
you cold. Juandés fingerprints were f
to take care of the whistle | owe r wasnot he? Like A

who talks first gets the deal. This is a murder case now. The only question is
whether you kaw about it We know Michael was the mastermind. You can help
yourself now by telling us the whole stayy.

AMurder ?! I donot kSheo put her handstto harn y
face and propped her el bows on the t
She dropped her hands and continued to look down, shaking her head
disgustedly.

Then Ellen realized she was doing something in her lap, below the level
of the table. She stood and reached over, snatching the phone from Santos.

AiHey, y ou c amoé protedted intvaira Ellendopull&daup the

| ast message sent, only seconds ol d.
Santos reached for the phone but Ellen held it out of her reach.
AThis i s eimplahesiewdoe EI hew, dec | bherap d.

a

accessory to murder. Itdéos time to te
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il donot know anything about mu r
anyone. Hebés a good person. I, Il 6m n
that she turned and tried from the room.

Matt turned to EIIl en. ifiLetds arre

AHol d on. For what ? S ha thd mwderd It a
mean.The AUSA tol d us not to or we 6 d

interview. We never Mirandized her. o
iShe justluwmaar ne fl ee. That bés acce
AiThatds not exactly what it said.

of meanings. Besides, the fingerprint only proves he was out on the desert
shooting at some point. o

AActually, I waso6tb|lnuaftfcihnegd tThhee ypr
betting they wil!/l by the end of the

iOkay, so that case isnobt sol i d a
which is a local case at this point anyway. Cliff was never shot and no one has
| D6ed Juant tyerte awherei@lgi ff was. Let 0O

Matt stood, impatiently shifting his weight from one leg to the other
while Ellen talked to the prosecutor. After a long conversation with the lawyer
Ellen laid it out for Matt.

iHe says we ¢ aWebhave anougtets indicthherrfor thee t
fraud and trade secret theft. He sai
wait for the grand jury next week. 0

AnWhat about the murder and the at

AfiHe said it sounds | ike Juan is t
Sullivan case. He said if we can mak
murder in Utah. They have the death penalty and probalbhpsily Mormon
jury. Evenlli ér hewse dbedtki have proof
Deal directed Santos to go kill SullivaBantosmight have just gotten the idea
there. 't 6s not a federal case unl e

committing murder. Same for the attack©liff, except that was on federal land,
so it could be prosecuted federalhere To make a case her
have to show the murder plans started het@ s ai d hedl | C O
Attorneyos d&fd thd nle thdréno Ud eachi diag towdo avlias ¢
on that.o

Matt gritted his teeth at the nev
knowwhat 6 s going on. 0
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Chapter25

Cliff watched Morgan arrive emptyanded, withoutLigaya Santos in
tow, that is.

AWhere i s she?o0naBxooslyi n asked Morg
iShe said she was sick. I tried
going home. I coul dndét physically dr
not to come back until she was notified she could. | made her give me her
employeebady so she canét come back in. o

iDamn. I wanted to see her fired,
Human Resources shook her head and
thought the FBI would arrest her. o

ilf shedd confessed .f{Tatonhwhagpens on t
TV. Hereds Ell en now. 0

Mat t and Ellen entered the room.

discuss the details of the interview, but that it went well. She expected legal
action to be forthcoming soon. Her dour expression convéyeanessage that
there was an unspoken downside. Then she asked Cliff to step outside the roor
for a moment.

In the hall she told CIiff that it was looking like Juan Santos was the
shooter. She couldnét be sure y8Bhwet LC
sai d shedd g e tCliffaso he keonld e orotlie lodkoud, but do &ar as
she knew, Santos had no way of knowing Dave Anderson was actually Cliff
Knowles.

fi | c aARd,t Dbtuetl Ishe gave up the copy
thought.She was getting three hundred per drawimgash Matt took the cash
and their passport¥Ve got tons of ripped off drawingsat 821 They ér e
to be out of busines§he claims she thought she was helping API evade taxes.
That was what Deal told her.find it hard to believe she was that naive. She
admitted figuring iall out latero

ifPeopl e beli eve whShdwag geténgricawhat t o
now?o

il have to get b4 dhkanktthem forihe use @ the c |
room. 16| yotamir e aShe opemedehe doorand gnbtibpned
for Matt. The two agents left.

Cliff went back in to see Brolin and Morgan. Morgan was on the phone.
Before Cliff could give them a further briefing, Morgan hung up excaimed
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with unconcead glee iSeven hundred t housand
That 6s a mont hds woArntdh iafo so rodideysord ium
is out about the raid on APIX. My sales chief sthyeschip companies are calling
with profuse apologies and deni#ifat they knew they were buyifpgusparts.

A couple of them even offered to ship us the APIX parts they had on hand and

buy replacements from us. Theybre p
of f. 0O

Brolin held her hand up and Morgan gave liesouring high five. Then
she heldt toward Cliff, whodutifully repeated the gestur@ | 6 | | cal l
she said, fAithen | etds cel ebrate. Li k

* %k %

That evening CIiff knew better than to ask Ellen when tidictments
woul d be coming down on Deal and
information and revealing it is a felonyt was unlikely she would know the
answer yeanyway There was a lot of work to be done going through the records
and determining how nat the loss to the victim or gain to APIX was from the
document theft. There could be several others involved, too. Ellen told him they
had found that APIX had relationships with over two dozen vendors like those
with Kimball Quartz and Belcher. Ellen gisesl the losses coukventuallybe
proven to be over five million dollarg’he passports for Juan and Ligaya had
been seized, so they werenot goi ng ¢
might flee to the Philippines, where they had both been raidesl; dould sell
their housenereremotely and live quite nicely there. At least their cash had been
seized.

Cliffos real i nterest was i n Juan
had driven him out into the degsbhatitt a
didndét take.|l &hdendsfcedl ophone r ani

telling her than Sandy Berger had driven up to Cedar City to do the interview of
the Swedish couple with Bob Whitfield. The couple was uncooperative at first,
but when they were told they could be detained indefinitely as material withesses
and could be charged as accessories to murder, they gave in quickly. They
admitted meeting a man in a bar where they were drinking. When he found out
they were tourists with a remtuck, he offered them five hundred dollars cash
for the truck and told them their insurance would cover it. Berger had prepared a
photo spread wusing the driverds slic
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They had both picked out Santos immediat&lyey had their probable cause for
murder now. Whitfield was going to present it to the district attofimsy/thing
tomorrow and get a warrauanshould be in custody by the end of the day. The
only question was the role Deal played in the murders. Did he send Juan out for
that purpose or did Juan ad lib? Did Deal even know about it? He sent Juan &
second time, the time CIiff was in Utah, so ifkreew, then at least he would be

an accessory after the fact.

Ellen gave CIiff the newsThis time they gave each othehigh fives
Tommy was in his high chair and started clapping his hands, too. Cliff and Ellen
laughed and of course had to give Tommy Higés as well.

AWhere is Juan now?0 Cliff asked.

ifHe never came back to the house
team left, they locked up. He probably just went home later. | assume Ligaya did,
too. 0O

AYou think she knewatatbaocukk o nh emenfudr

iShe was hbboutthat] Gm sner e of t hat , k
much on the stolen drawing scheme | f shedd known th
involved, | doubt she would have admitted anything. Her whole demeanor
changed when Matttold henitas a mur der case. 0

i Wh a't about De al and his crew?bo
i What about t hem? He 6 s not tied
changes, hedl | have to wait unt il t

trade secret theft.o
Cliff nodded knowingly since he was fdimar with whole process. He
raised his beer bottle and Ellen clinked her wine glass against it.

* % %

As promised, the next day a warrant was issued for the arrest of Juan
Santos on the charge of first degree murder of Brigham Sulllvavas issued
und e r seal so that .tMag gotptheeworsl fromoSaridyd n 6
Berger. He called his wife Gina, who was the supervisor of the violent crime
squad in San Jose to let her know that he had an arrest warrant for a murder ca:
in Morgan Hill. She aged to have two of her fugitive agents on standby to assist
wheneveMatt wanted them. He told her he was going with Ellen to try to spot
him at home. I f he appeared to be t}
agents to assist with the actual arrest.
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Matt and Ellen drove to the Santos home, butRbeschewas nowhere
to be seen. Matt knew that the garage was too full of stuff for the car to be inside,
since hedd | ust Themmiganltighya ussaflyadrowetwastinh e r
the driveway, and thyesaw her come and go twice during the hdbey sat on
the house.

Over the next two days Matt and Ellen checked the house day, night, and
early morning and saw no sign of Juan or the Porsche. He mustiéeaided to
flee. They6d h awugtivetcase. f heewad driving & Borsche
Panamer a, he shoul dnot be t oo har d
considered a pretty classy ride and not many are on the road.

An all-points bulletin or APB was put out on Juan and his car but he
seemedtdbe i n the wi nd.athidevorkplacd ar@ithonse hhatw
entire period. Ligaya continued to come and go, taking the kids to soccer or other
activities in her minivan. Since it was summer they did not have school.

Technically the fugitive huntwa s Matt 6 s case, not
the shots. He decided there was no point in keeping the warrant a secret and trie
to interview Ligaya about her husband. She refused to open the door to him or
talk to him on the phoctmentor %dned fer the | |
murder either, so his hands were tied.

* % %

All the jubilation and high fives turned out to be premature. Two weeks
went by and there was still no sign of Jughen kept Cliff apprised of the status
of the fugitive case. Juanad tried to kill him, after allCliff also kept Tim
Rothmanup to date. |t was | ikely, theyo
Tim at Rachel Wrightdéds house and f ol
probably how he identified Cliff and hisar and followed him when he left for
Las Vegas. They coul dnét see any re
where he was wanted for mur der , but
picture of his car, were all over the news there.

Cliff was beginningto get impatient. Juan had tried to kill hisg what
was the hangip?He also wondered whether Michael Deal had put Juan up to it
and was now trying to identify Dave Anderson. Deal had money and could hire
someone to check out the Cayman Islands comp#nfe succeeded in
identifying him, might he hire someone else to finish the job, or try to do it
himself?
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iwhat 6s the deal on Deal ?06 Cliff
suspense was gnawing at him. ANo cha

i Not yet . He 6 s wuoguht, oafn db uhseiénse stsi, r
lawyer. His punishment has started already.

AnThatos not really what |1 6dm worri

il know. Look, i f you t hink heo

Anderson person you cooked up,heldsdaoir
Alabama with a new scheme. Hiscretaryis cooperating and keeping us in the
|l oop. O

AWhat kind of scheme?0

iSport swkealfs Hroaotiher has been tr
Nike or Adidas or somethingde 6 s g ot t e n Ofixeuassé Detlte big n v €
shot has to be the CED.

Awhy Al abama? | s that the new cen

AfFootball is huge there. Heds goi
to get some coaches or athletes to e
withAPIl X. 0

Cliff harrumphed but said nothing more. He knew there was nothing for
him to do but let the scenario play out.

Ellen continued analyzing the evidence in the APIX case and the AUSA
had begun presenting evidence to the grand jury. Michael Deal amagalig
Santos were sent target lettadvising them that the grand jury was investigating
them. The FBI hated thiengthy process, but it was ubiquitous in white collar
cases. It watoved by lawyers on both sides, whemjoyed workingat a leisurely
pace. Itallowed the defense attorneys to bill more hours than a quick arrest
would permit, and the prosecutors were able to beta test their case piecemee
before a friendlygrandjury and find their own weak spots or witness problems
before going to trial.

API, on the other hand, had no qualms about filing suinediately
Within two daysof the raida civil suit for millions of dollars was filed, naming
Michael and Lori Deal, Ligaya and Juan Santos, APIX, and De@93, Bs
defendantsclaiming fraud, trade sedréheft, violation of contract, and dozen
other causes of action. Cliff was no longer required to do active investigation for
them, but Sally Brolin and her outside litigators contacted him regularly for
clarification on the details of what he had alngddne and found, especially as it
pertained to the vendors like Belcher. They were undecided whether to name any
of them in the suit.
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Cliff was out front mowing his lawrone Saturdaywhen he saw the
neighbors two doors down piling into their minivan witheir kids wearing
soccer clothesThis gave him an idedVhen he finished the yardwork he went
inside and asked Ellen if she knew what league the Santos kids were in. Ellen
di dnot need to ask why. As soon as |
going with that

She called Matt at home to get tl
remembered the names, but wasnot S ul
such a common name it was Eléremensbergd u s
t hat Ligagadswadaoghthe same team as
was some kind of regional team. With a few searches online she was able tc
identify the league and find its website. A little digging produced the team name
and rosterSantos and Deal were botktéd as defenders.

Ellen checked the schedule. The teaas scheduled to plahat dayat
t hr ee , a élaresteadkHigh School Cupertino only a few miles away
the same school that Steve Jobs and Steve Waqzttiak Apple Computer
founders,attended years earliebhe had twdours. She called Matt agaikie
was up for the plan to check out the
might sneak in to see his daughter playey agreed to meet at the school
parking lot at two thirtyThe plan was thatfiMatt and Ellen spotted Juan, they
should wait for backup to make the arrest. If he was there, Juan would likely be
around for hours while the team played and then regrouped for the pizza party
afterward.

Ellen told CIliff the plan. He noddedishacknowledgment, but he was
never comfortable when Ellen made arrests. He knew she was capable but sh
was still the mother of his child and the love of his life. He worried. That was
what FBI spouses do. He watched anxiously as she strapped on her &otst
put on her protective vest.

As soon as Ellen left the house in her Bureat Cliff called Theresa
and asked if he could drop Tommy off for an hour or so. She agreed without
asking why. He drove Tommy over to her house and thanked her for the short
notice help. Then he headed for the high school.

He approached in his Tesla from the west, along Homestead Avenue. He
drove by the front of the school and pulled into tkEL7ot just the other side. He
di dnét see EI Il ends c ashe wasparketh ia thesschoa e t
lot. He got out and walked back to the entrance to the parking lot. Normally
empty on a summer Saturday, it was o
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to see him, so hgtood at the end of the row nearest the streetieshand mostly
blocked from view by the post holding up the roof. The parking stalls were all
covered by a roof that held solar panels, a popular feature now at mastgttigh
Silicon Valley schools.

He scanned the cars nearest him and recognized Matf Blgué s ¢
parked in a slot, but with no one inlitMatt was here, Ellen must be, too, but he
would have expected them to be in their cars looking for the Porsche to arrive.
Possibly Matt had gone over to EI Il en
practice on fixed surveillances.hen he saw Ligayabs mi
Maeva had followed. He still remembered the license plate and bumper stickers.
No one was in that car, eithaince gaméime hadstarted five minutes ago.

Cliff walked casuay al ong the first row |
spotted it finally at the other end of the lot closer to the entrance to the field area.
Quickly he dodged between two cars and peeked again from behind another pos
Unl i ke Matt ods, E | un.eShé Isad maked facirg out. iTihe  t
reflections on the windshield made it difficult to see inside, but eventually Cliff
was confident that there was no one in the car. They must have gone into the
schooltoscanther owd. That meant rsche avhe lbtardin 6
wentin to verifyfJuanwa s n 6t t her e. I f theyob6d see
on it and waited for him to come out rather than risk having him see them and
recognize Matt.

This gave him comfort. Th ad. Thme ar
school, with its crowds of parents and kidsuld be a dangerous place to make
an arrest of an armed murder suspect. Of coilmsaworked at an auto body
shop and probably had ways to get his hands on another car. He mifyivirp
another makewhich is no doubt why Ellen and Matt must have gone inside to
see i f heo sevaenithough theresvasinasign df lyis car

Cliff had gone down one aisle looking for cars he recognized, but there
were still two more aisles. As he gotontothg#te r ow he spotted
Cadill ac. Hedd forgotten that EIl en
same team with the Santos girl.

A few cars down from the Cadillac was a spilifyking black Maserati.

Cliff almost went on by, but something &l n 6 t | 00k The Magehnati t «
lookedoffs o me h o w. He coul dndét place what
to him. The Maserati is Italian and comes new with Pirelli tires but these were
Michelin, the factory standard for Porschiee. had to confirm his suspicions. He

got downbetween the Maserati and the car next to it and lay on his back. He
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squeezed his head under the 4slwng body panel and saw it. On the under edge
of the door panel the black paint job ended; the original pe&it could be seen.

This car hadecentlybeen repainted. He slid out and looked at the front and back
again. It bore the Maserati trident shield on its grille and the word Maserati on
the rear, but these would be available to someone who worked inyasbopl.

He didno6t know the body styles of tt
just by shape which this was, but he had a gut feeling this was the Porsche.

He took a look at the license plate. The number was a gdoeking
Californiaone.Hediddt know Santosb6s | icense p
seen the car or investigated it, but he thought Ellen had told him it was a
personalized plats o maybe this wasndt the car
number began withabedsébwer@dheowtahtat
The | ast Ad leastuesysars age,dongebdfore this car was built. Not
only that, but Cliff could now see that the plate had some wrinkles in it, crumpled
bends that had been hammered out. It must have th&en off some wreck the
body shop had worked on. The shop was supposed to turn in all destroyed ol
unreadable plates to the DMV, but it woulé easy enough to report that the
plate had been missing when it came into the shop.

Juan was here; Cliff wasue of it. He pulled out his phone and called

Ellen.
i What is it, Cliff? 1 6m kinda bus
AHave you spotted Juan yet?0
nNo, | dondt think hebds here, bui
until just a few minutes ago. What o6s
AHedés Herspotted his car. o
ifiHere? Where are you?bo
Al dm in the parking | ot. At the g
AiYoubre here!? Wherebds Tommy? | s
AfHed6s with Theresa. Heds fine. L c
and |6l show you. You can set up on

i C f, yo@i have no business being here. Santos is armed and wanted for
murder. He tried to kill you once. You can ID hilor he probably thinks you
can I f he spots you ¢éo

il k n o w | just wakted towet a look at him so | could be sure he
was the one whwent after mel. 6 | | now. dustwcame on out. He knows what
Matt looks like, too, and if he sek t t first, heol | get

on the car from a distance. 0
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AiThanks for tell i ngdeaneShehpotwitheriog r u
sarcasm on ¢lboked thrduglathe. Iad and thére wereRorsches.
Did it just arrive?o

fHeds disguised it. |1tos repainte
I'tds got a crumpled up |l icense pd at e
belongsonthatcaHe wor ked i n an auto body sh

t hat 0 dricked osit todoak like a Maseraii

iThat bl ack MaVe saw thatlikifow tBdrgne you nzean.
You donét have to s howheMidtobédarélust getc o n
out of there. You should never have

il dm wal ki ng back to mylllotaextdoon w.
Doné6ét worry about me. 0

Cliff headed back to his car. He knew Ellen was right. He did not belong
near the actual eest scea He settled into his car and watched for Matt and
Ellen to appear. He was too far away to see cleadpecially since all the cars
were in deep shade and obscured by other cars. There was nobody else in th
parking lot at the moment. He wasphng it would stay that way if Juan came
out. Ellen and Matt wouldhot try to make the arrest if there were kids and
families around, not with an armed murder suspect. He began to think maybe he
should have disabled the car, let air out of the tires oreunyg, but then
dismissed the thought. If it was the wrong car, that would be rather embarrassing
and if it was the right one, it might cause a shootout or a carjacking there at the
end of the game with a crowd in the parking lot when Santos realizecbhe | d n 6
escapeén his own wheels

* % %

Ellen and Matt had split up to cover more area. They both assumed that

i f Juan was there, hedd be on the s
closest to the parking lot. Ellen was designated to go mingleat group since
Juan didndét know what she |l ooked 1|iKk

trying to spot Juan from a distance.
Ellen calledMatt and said taneet her in the parking lot right aw&ghe
di dndét wa whyout loud with § theapeople around. She headed to the
lot and so did Matt, although he had to walk around the farétike field As
Matt got to the end, beyond the uprights since this field doubled as the main
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football field, Santos saw him and recognized himanhad been mingling with
the otherasamezautios f ans

Santoshad to make a decision and make itfabe di dnét kno
was alone, but he doubted lit.theyhadndét seen him and
there, he would probably be better off hamgback and waiting till the crowd
dispersed. The agents would probably leave, but this had its risks. This was the
last game of the day. If he left his car there until everyone was gone, it would
stand out and might draw suspicidrthe agents stayed bigld. And if he left
with the crowd andhe agents were still there, they would probably spot him in
the crowd. If they had spotted his car and knew he was there, they might have
more agents there in the lot waiting for him now. Or maybe not. Maybe Matt was
alone, just playing a hunch.so, he could outrun him to the lot and there was no
way the fed could catch his Porsche.

He made his choice, the same choice so many wanted felons make: he
ran. He broke from the crowd on the far side of the field. He ir@ctty across
the field through the middle of the soccer game toward the parking lot. This put
him fifty yards closer to the lot than Matt. The crowd gasped and began calling
out !& Hesgnte more colorfulhingsas this man went running through the
game The ref blew the whistle to stop the game play.

Matt noticed the figure running across the field immediately and realized
what was happening. He took off after him. Santos broke through the crowd on
his own teamds si de.EleNmeaowhie, wasrhalfvay t
back to the parking lot and was unaware of what was going on behind her. The
crowd noise just sounded like crowd noise to her, like at any soccer game.

Santos went sprinting past EI Il en
wasandBe di dnot know who he was, eit he
heard Mat't calling AEIlI Il en, t hat 6s hi
Sant os. She was a good runner for a
catch him on foot. She startedn ni ng and yelling at hi

he didnoét.

Santos got to his car five seconds before Ellen got to hers, but she had &
tactical advantage. She had had the foresight to park near the exit facing out
Santos had parked facing in like all thiner cars. By the time he backed out of
his spot and started forward, she had her car in gear and was moving forward
Just in time she drove hearforward, blocking the exit to the lanBantos barely
sl owed. He saw t hat hlluratabaeightpdagestdt a
his direction of travelHe aimed his car for the rear of her vehicle and punched it,
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wrenching the wheel at the last second so that his car strunkaagke,his right

front fender hitting the right rear quarter panelof | e n & 5 | eaasusd
backwardfrom the impagctleavingroom on one sidehe one opposite to where
Santos wasto get around itHer engine sputtered and diad her fuel line had
been momentarilydisrupted Shepulled her gun, jumped out of her car, and
aimed at the Porsche, but Santos was already backing up. She pulled the trigge
The crack of theshotwasearsplitting. The bulletglanced df the steeply sloping
Porschawvindshieldlike a stone skipping acroaspond barely leaving a mark

By this time Matt was at his car, climbing in, but he was at the far end of
the lot. He turned the key and backed out with a screech of tires and then pullec
forward into the same aisle where Santos was backing up. Samppedtand
began going forward again, accelerating at an increditiée Ellen could see he
would beon her within seconds. She dove and rolled between two parked cars as
the Porsche went past her car on the opposite side. Matt was coming fast behin
Sant@, but came to a halt next to Ellen to make sure she was okay. She stood u
and waved him on, making a shooing motion with both hands. He needed no
further encouragement. He took off after Santos, who was now leaving the
parking lot, turning left onto Hons¢ead.

Ellen rushed to her car and saw that the rear axle was knocked out of
alignmentand one wheel was bent.in 1t woul d nShe alsb saw d r i
trail of liquid, probably water and coolant, along the track Santos haend
leading out to the stet, so his car had damage, tbterd r i ver 8 s do o
open, so she sat down and turned t he
could see dashboard lights. She grabbed the mike and pressed the transmit key.

iSi x oh seven t ackut Sixahifoorlislin piéeit ohae e C

mur der suspect. o She | et her finger
AWhat 6s your twenty?o0
At t hat mo me n t Cliffos Tesla scr

opened the door, which was faster than rglldown the windowand yelled,
NnGet in!o
EI'len yelled back | ouder. AcCl i ff,

Al d&dm going with or without you. Y

Ellen threw down the mike and ran around to the other side of the Tesla
and jumped inCliff was moving before she even had her seat belfio8.I i f f ,
go home. Mattdos paid tododo this. He

irThereds no way he cimhis Bedaacar wibtl H
get clog enough to keep him in sightod call in his locatiom. CI i f f was
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on the street and punching it. He hit the first stoplight at Mary on the green, with
no traffic, but he saw cars up ahead
Radio and get a location. Matt should be on the air by 8ee.if hegot on 850

Ellen hit the speed dial button on her phone to get the main San
Francisco switchboard. On weekends it rang at the Communications room where
the radio operator and weekend supervisor sat. It was picked up on the first ring.
She identifiecherself and asked where Matt was. The supervisor started to chew
her out for not answering on the rac
cut him off.

ANo time for t hat . My Bucar i s
Where are we going?bo

i Do N @peat, do NOT pursue a murder subject in your personally
owned vehicle. o6 I n the background E
switchboardadio. She heard him say the subject headed south on Foothill and he
needed assistance.

iSouth on iFto,od hEllll en goedpeated to
it.o She hung up befDammt hkKkemrmmady &ay

fil heard, o Cliff said. He was app
the left was the entrance to Highway 85 north onramp, while Berwaadoon
the right. He could go around on the left or the right. He chose the empty bicycle
lane on the right to blow through the red light at seventy between a FedEx truck
and a Mini Cooper, both turning right from Bernardo onto Homestead. This put
him behind the truck and he had to slam on the brakes to avoid plowing into its
rear.

Ellen gnaskd her teethfuriously as she was thrown back, then forward
straining against the seat bddyt knew it was useless to continue to harangue
Cliff to break off the chse. He was an agent, too, at heart and she knew exactly
how he felt. She wanted to nail that sucker as much as he did, but her lower
testosterone levels did not overpower her judgment the way it did Cliff and other
mal es s h e 06 dShay tcarneeodivewithtthat long ago.

They crossed over the freeway. The next obstacle was the stoplight at the
exit ramp on the far side. CIiff finally had to stegnenthe truck did,sincehe
couldndét see around it. No oamdookeda s |
both ways. Seeing no cross traffic, he punched it again and passed the truck i
the oncoming traffic lane, again blowing through the kel hit green athe next
two lights and within thirty seconds was the left turn lane for Foothill
Expressway.fl hedéd gone right, northward,
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amid heavy traffic, but south was a different story. South headed up into the hills
and the traffic got light as the expressway petered out into a regular residential
street for a mile or sohén rose into the mountains as a country road.

He coul dndét Dblow through the int
di dnodt have |l ong to wait for the |e
open it up. He heard EI | dhéthe wedkand e
supervisor. If the supervisor knew she was not only in her personal car but that

her husband was driving, she coul d
answer, but he also needed to know how far behind they were. She answered.
il ban Foot hi | | sout hbound now, 0 s

saying helloi Wher eb6s the subject?o
AfiYou are to break off the pursuit

Patr ol and the Sheriffodds office. Si X
1022. 6 That was the code for disconti

inAre you going to tell me oOr not
wrong neighborhoods. Mattds my squad

forCHP and the sheriff to catch up. o

After a pregnant pause thgupervisor replied, apparently conceding
def eat Heogave ndbewehicld descriptiort nearly had a collision in
front of a cement factory, allowinyguyento catch up momentarily, but thén
continued south on Foothill. That wamybe fivesecamds beford called you 0

ilal 61| s t a yLet Matt krtowle 6 ath hyrway. about a half
mile behind hmtb She heard the voice imthe th
backgroundnaking the transmission

Cliff now had a good picture of the chase. Santos was entering the curvy
section of the road where he should be able to |déaet t behind i
crash or traffic didndt st opaquariymd THh
been gouging limestone frothe hills above Stevens Creek Reservoirnfore
than eighty years. Foothill snaked between the quarry and the reservoir, which
was now almost dry due to the feygar drought. The road was popular with
yuppie cyclists on their three thousand dollar bieg, but had little motor
vehicletraffic past the reservoir during midday.

He pressed the accelerator to the floor. The Tesla leaped forward,
pressing him and Ellen back against the seats. As he crested the first rise, the c:
actually left the ground foa second before making ground contact again. The
jolt on landingwas surprisingly bearable. He was now at ninety and still
accelerating.
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i Good s hocks, ooffactlyiinfafsoft vaace sb agmatttotbe r
overheard on the phone

AYouodl | getl sbomekg when whispayed t I
back.

Cliff saw a cement truck ahead signaling to turn right into the Lehigh
plant. Theroad was wide here so CIiff slid around him on the left without having
to cross into the oncoming lane, but there wasaapslefthand turnright after
and Cliffhadtoslowtofortf i ve, testing the Tesl ab
hugged thamiddle of the langhrough the turrwithout drifting an inchWhat a
machine!was all Cliff could think.

El | en he areaagaviaadng Wite hisvsiven i the background
He was passing the Sycamore Group Area, a pichic spot that could be reserve
for large groups. Cliff and Ellen both knew it well from geocachiftgey were
now only a quarter mile behind Matt and gaining .fagte Porsche, however,
was out of sight, although Matt said he could catch glimpses of it on the
straighter sections.

ATheydre coming up on Mt . overdhen, 0
phone Santos would have to go left on Mt. Eden Road or right onteeBse
Canyon at the fork. Left meant a very curvy road where he could leave Matt
behind more quickly, but that section was short and led into an expensive
residential area with narrow streets and lots of construction where he could get
bogged down. SteverBanyon was curvy and steep enough, too, and led higher
and deeper into the mountains where he would have more advantage in the lon
run.

AShit! I | o s t, thérradmo,transmisaidn tcominge dver thel
phone il di dnét see whtett hatr thkee wleant k .I
Eden. o

Seconds latet he Tesl a reached the same
Ellen screamed in her excitement. Cliff swung onto Stevens Canyon and openec
her up. The Tesla almost floated through the curves. It was a joyviy dut
Cliff was beginning to feel the anxiety of what was going to happen if he caught
up with Santos. Ellen wasssentiallyalone with a gunand vest. Cliff was
nothing but her chauffeur. Matt was no longer in the picture andrthdgnger
hadany ral lights or siren paving the way for thexa they had moments earlier

After a few seconds she realized she had just yelled driving instructions
to CIliff. The supervisor in San Frar
him she was with anyone elsghe hung up before he cowsgk
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Then it happened. They saw the P
Ellen commanded. CIliff slowed:hey watched as the Porsche turheftl from
Stevens Canyon onto Redwood Gulch.

ANot good, 0 CI i f fonefane secdon atdhe end. Ah a t
the speed wedre goi nogn tchaaltldiss iao nr eicfi p
the other way 0

AHang back. He doesnot know weor
before Hed6d never make this for a Bucar

ANo? Weobr e, w h a taged joyridets overtaking hirtmatd d
eighty miles an hour on a road designed for twinvg? He saw you shoot at
him. He might recognize you in the reaew mirror. Besides, if | hang back |
wonot know whi ¢ hheweachebligtevayddo e@n omdthenge 6 r
we can hang back. o

As if on cue the supervisaralled again A Si x oh seven,
headed your way oBig Basin Wayfrom Los Gatos Can you advise which
direction the subjedt u r ®ig Badin Way was anotheame for Highway 9.

AldD, 0 she replied.

Cliff maintained his position within view. Without warning, the
Porschebfts brake | ights came on and s
tires gripped the pavement with a stunning ferocity. Cliff sSlammed bisoio the
brake pedal as hard as he could and came skidding to a halt, with less than si
inches separating his front bumper
strap dug into EIll ends c h egueezirgthd airs h ¢
from he lungs,but kept her head from hitting the windshiebarely.

The stench of smoking tires and overheated brake lining permeated the
cabin. Shegasped to regain her wind and looked up. 8hed n 6 t know
expect, so she drew her gun in case Santasletbto attack them. Too late she
realized she was holding it up wheBantoscould see it. He held his up in
response. Cliff backed up qui gukhand, b
came dowrand the Porsche took off again. The maneuver hadtbedgtermine
whether the FBI was still on his tadr possibly the Tesla was just some jerk
trying to race.tl had succeede&antosnow knewwho they wereThere was no
being discreet now.

Cliff put it in forward again and followed Santos at a slightlyesa
distancebut still at a frightening speed car coming the other direction pulled
over to the side as CIiff passed by. The road was narrow and the driver of that ca
must have beemtimidated bythe speed of the two oncoming cars. Cliff became
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awarethat they were approaching the daae section of the road. If another car
came from the opposite direction, it would mean a cettaadon collision He

laid on his horn as he and the Porsche approached, hoping that would serve as
warning.

The onelane section was curvy as well as narrow. The Porsche fishtailed
around one curve and its tail took out a wooden post holding two mailboxes. The
Tesla took the curve with no problem. Seconds later the Porsche was through the
one lane section, but as CIliff wabnost to that point an oncoming car saw him
and slammed on its brakes just before entering the narrowed stretch. That ca
skidded to its right and plowed into a caefilied yard, but came to stop without
hitting anything hard. CIliff kept going, missinigat car by inches and came out
just in time to see the Porsche turn righttighway 9

AnControl, t he Por sche 9theadingetoward i ¢
Skyline. 0

AnCopy. Will advise CHP. ThEgyamet
sendingunitt o t he intersection with Skylir

AlD. 0

AOkay, sl ow down, 0 she said, put

el bow as the Tesla made the same ri
Theydére going to block off that end,
Cliff eased off the pedal and slowed to somewhere near the speed limit.
Ellen was right. Hedéd done his duty
pros take overThe highway patrol had the car trapped and knew where it was.
Ellenwantedto get tothe scene, though, to arrest him if she could. She knew the
highway patrol officers would arrest him first on the Utah murder charge, even
though he had just rammed Ell ends ca
ifWebdr e breaking of f pursuit, o E
following behind out of sight at the speed limit. Advise us when it is safe to
approach the roadblock at Skyline. o

iwWe? Do you have someone el se in

ﬁOops,() Cli ff whousdpreer egloitnog Eld eqe
rappe now. O

ﬁNegatlsaldloudwmheo the phone. Al ju

I are breakiAsgsobh pershiet said this,
saying he had just come out onto highway 9 himself at Pierce Road and was
heading toward Skyline, thus contradigtiher. He would be three or four miles
behind.
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fiSi x oh seven, i f you have a ciyv
the scene. There could be a shootout
ANo civilians. No pr obl @dthabanothere ¢

exclamation from her or Cliff would give her away.

Now that he knew Matt was coming up from behind, Cliff decided the
supervisor had been right. Pulling over and waiting was the right thing to do.
Ellen would be disappointed at notbelng e sent at the arre
both in enough danger already. He pulled over onto the shoulder and stopped.

iwhat are you doing?0 she asked.

AfDoi ng what he said. Pull i Mgt obds
got it now and the CH®

iYoudhe one who wanted to chase hij

il know. But wedve done thatHe6¥8e
trappedThat 6s al | I wanted to do. [ don
want you to be either. o

il get paiidnitnoalasr.r elsttbsc my job. Y.
do my job just because I 6m your wife

nl get it. |1 wono6t. But itds ahot

leastone parent to get him past infancy. The guy was right. A civilian has no
placeam possi ble shootout. o

This argument shut Ellen up. She knew he was right. She had wanted
him to go home. Then they saw Matt Nguyen go flying by in his Bureau car.

AThatdéds Matt, o EIll en said needl es

AiYep. Thatds Matt. o

El'l ends phone re finger 8 et lips in a rBdtian top u
signal Cliff to keep quiet.

iSi x oh seven. You are to return
is disabled. The police are there and no ormM& wsh ag®di ng on. 0O

Ell en didnét want t mutes thaRoechd woeld s ¢
be at the roadblock. Her car could be toviexin the high school loand that
could all be straightened out later. Before she could refuse the command, though
she heard Mattds voice once again.

iSubject has stopmedg Themeasss ma
up. I need backup here. Hi ghway 9. H
transmission stopped. Ellen shoved the phone into her pocket and drew her gur
The radiator damage f r o nifinallyitaken itsaathami n g
the Porsche.
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iGo, O EIl | en commanded. Despite h
train of thought s ntnadeiowagem@awithoutdelp, s
in the face of dangeShe and CIiff were cut from the same clothtimately,
they were both warrior the battle of good versus ealnd war ri or s
from battlewhen needetb save their fellow warriors from dangdihey rushed
to their aid.

Cliff peeled out again despite the steep uphill sideee minutedater
they were on the scene. Mattds car W
slightly left to provide him a barrier to hide behind. He was crouching behind the
front of the car, facing the Porsche, which was also stopped in the middle of the
lane. Santos was crouching behind his
between him and Matt. Cliff pulled over to the left shoulder, then turned the car
right to block theotherl ane and to put the ipthess el
protected ara of the car as she got out.

She leaped from the car and took a position behind her enginedsi@ck
shot echoed off the steep hillsides. She looked over toward Matt and saw him
ducking down, head below the top of his car hood, service pistol in hand. Ellen
peeked around the front fender of the Tesla and saw Santos pointing his gur
Mattds direction. Then she heard a
side the exposed side, and sveushing around the rear of the Tesla to a position
of cover.

As Ellen looked over toward CIliff, Matt maneuvered over to the other
end of his car and popped up quickly
window of the Porschshattered. Santos dkexd down behind his car once more
and came crouetvalking tovardEIl | end6s si de. She took
shots in successioQutmanned and outgunneSantos dropped hiseapon He
dropped to his knees and put his hands up.

Ellen and Matt both ruske f or war d, guns pointe
and turn aroundd Ma't t ordered. He didnot war
since the gun was within reachingd t anc e . Sant oysur lmedmp |
up. Now wal k backwar d t owmscomphed Mattv e r
nodded to Ellen and motioned to her to keep the gun trained on Santos as h
holstered his own weap@mdpulledout his handcuffs.

At that moment an unmistakable roar came rushing at them from the
other direction. A motorcyclist was laling downhill, oblivious to the scene
unfolding below. The rider, eman in his twentiesrounded the corner and saw
thethreecars blocking the road. As he braked hard, his bike slid sideways and he
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fell hard, skidding on the pavemeditectly at Ellen He wore a helmet but had
nothing but jeans and a tee shirt for protection below. tHet left arm was
instantly renderé into abrilliant red, a literal blood sausag&llen jumped right
to avoid him as the motorcycle sly on the other siddying flat, wheels first,
coming to a gentle stop right next tiee Tesla. The rider began screaming in
pain one leg contorted like a pretzalshin bone shard visible through the ripped
jeans

Santos saw his chance. Elleas focused on the injured ridéMatt hal
holstered his guand was standing with handcuffs in his gun h&ahtos turned
andsprintedtoward the motorcycle, its engine still running in neutral. Cliff was
at this point standingp watching the arrest from behind the Tesla. He realized
neither Ellen nor Matt could shoot Santos becaudarselfwas directly in the
line of fire. If Santos could get on the cycle, he could make it between the three
cars and escape.

Cliff hurled himslf over the hood of the Tesla just as Santos righted the
cycle and straddled it. Santos tried to duck out of the way as CIiff flew at him,
but Cliffds | eft hanahd pledSphtds ofithetbikei ¢ |
onto the groundCliff landeda knee i n S a n forogeod measurelheren
was no such thing as fighting dirty
much he remembered from his FBI Academy days.

fiRemember me , asshol e? 0 an@twistédfthe g r 1
lock of hair hardSantos emitted a strangled gurgling noise.

Matt joined Cliff seconds later and cuffed the moaning Santos without
further trouble. Ellen already had her phone out and was on the line wits911
the hapless motorcycle rider lay screaming in gdiatt healed to his car, Santos
in tow. CIiff followed closely to make sure he gave Matt no further trouble. At
the car Matt belted Santos in the rear seat, then pulled mait af large plastic
flexcuffs from the glove compartmerda nd pl aced t helws, on
tighteningthemjust enough so that he could hobble, but not run or even walk
normally. That done, he got on thedio and reported to FBI radio that they had
the subject in custody. There was a sharp exchange with the weekend supervisc
who wanted dlthe details, but Matt refused to go into it. He said simply tiiat
two agents had effected the arrest of subject, who surrendered after shots wer
exchanged, but no one was shot or injured except for a motorcyclist who fell
when he came upon the scehke made clear that Ellen had called 911 and an
ambulance and CHP were already on the way.
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Cliff stood there pointing at hi
hereo silently to Matt, who nodded.
course. At somg@oint there would be testimony, so they would have to write up
302s about the whole incident, but for now he said nothing about CIiff to the
supetrvisor.

The supervisor told Matt toender whatever aid they could to the cycle
rider until the ambulance aved or CHP took over, thdmring the subject in for
booking The SAC was coming into the office to start an agevwlved shooting
investigation. ie CHP would try to keep them thea#t day and maybe try to
take the Santos into custody themselves, whathodyin the FBIwanted. Under
no circumstances were the agents to turn custody over to the CHP or give then
the details. Just identify themselves and Santos and state they were taking in th
subject for processing, then leave. The CHP could deal witRdheche and the
investigation of the motorcycle accident. Matt acknowledbedorder

AElI 1l en, 06 Matt called to heWedrfC
supposed to maintain custody and just identify oursel#mt do you want to
d o Wih a head motionéamade clear he was referring to CIiff.

She was bending over the injured rider, pressing his own torn tee shirt
against theopenroad raston his arm. The spot where his leg bone was sticking
through was gruesome to see, but not bleeding much. She loplediunade a
snhap decision.

AncCliff, get out of here now. I 61 |
agent in the car anyway to transport the prisoner. If you go back the way we
came, you shouldndét run into any CHP

This was no ti me ouabhomed @b md vehen yéul 6
can, 0 he sai d, and got into the Tes
scratch on itA moment latehe was gone.
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Chapter26
Two weeks later

Ellen entered the house to be greeted by a rich aroma snaking its way

fromt he kitchen. AWhat are you cooking
ALamb ragout. 't should be ready
cooki es, t oo. Congratul ations on the
AThanks. [ should congratul ate vy

wentinto the bedroom, took off her gun and locked it in the gun box. Tommy
was still way too young to get his hands on it, but she wanted to get herself into
the habit before he got to that point. When she emerged, Cliff put his arm around

her waist and drewdr tight, thenp|l ant ed a |l ingering Kk
nice, o0 she said, opening her eyes a
often. Actually, it was the AUSA who
iléd rather Kkiss you. o
Al should hope pou. tlebs too short

fiThat takes care of Defhny wor d on Juan Sant os

AThe FBI turned him over to Utah
prosecutor there promised to go for the death penalty. That should be announce
tomorrow. Theydve g dhey mah iadictf federallyntigere,s g L
too, on the attack on you and on I nt

AWhat about his ramming you? And

fi Same thing. Probably indict but not bother to go to trial unless he
somehow beats the murder rap.o

id he cooperating? Giving up Deal

ANo. The word I 6m getting is that
want to live his life in prisonrHe doesndét want to assi
guilty because the judge might reduce his sentence to life faroloigeration.
T h at 6 the Wdh arbsecutor thinks is going. oo

AThatds crazy. He wants to get exX
is to fight the government at every stép
ifiAmerican justice at its finest.

t hough, as | ong as wempibyeasénd, offrourse rot u t
go after him on the murder chargéhe word from his lawyer is that the whole

scheme was his and no one at APIX, including Lori, knew the drawings were
stolen. Theywllthought he had a | icense from AP
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AAnd the murder?0

flAgain, according to his lawyerethad no idea Juan was intending to do
violence.He says he told Juan that there was trouble brewing, the Sullivan kid
planning to go to APIthen, later, that Belcher was mied about an upcoming
API consultant comingilut t hatos al | . It was to
take actionthatwayMay be even Ligayabds. 0

AfSo he says,o0o Cliff muttered.

iSo he says, and we donot IPafore a
nowi tds just theabDealdi te coll ar stuff

iSo how much time is he Ilikely to

fLosses are in the neighborhood ¢
You know how it goes. Heodl | probably

fifty grand and getfourteen months and only serve a year. The AUSA and

defense counsel will work out the details including which prison so as not to

inconvenience the defendant and the
Cliff let out a snort of disgustashes rred the ragout

arrest him, at | east?0o

inoOf course not. Heds a busy man
appearance t a time that wonot interfere
entrepreneur . Heol | g ed by thé magskats piinen met e
returns from Al abama. o

i Of cour se. How foolish of me . V

dark-skinned. Rich white guys are entitled to walk into the courthouse next to
their lawyer to get processeat a time and place of their meenience Why
didnét | think of that.o He snorted
Cliff finished setting the table akllen went into the bedroom and
changed her clothes. When she came out she was looking at heriplionej u s t

a text from that Brolin woman. o
AShehstiilhg on you?o
i No . She says to watch the eveni

end.Channel ©
ASports?0 Nei tblysports dah. Maybeeifnthe wetwor&s
started covering geocaching they wou
Cliff dialed in a local station, punched the record button on his TV
remote, and turned off the TV. Dinner was too much of an operation with
Tommy now to try to watch the news while eating. Ellen got Tommy from his
playpen and undertook to get him enscahge his high chair then got out his
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baby food. When they sat down to eat, they took turns feeding him, which
consisted primarily of Tommy delightedly smacking the spoorthe trayand
making the Gerber goop fly. épfeadinga t h
sheet out underneath his highchair, in fact, underneath half the dining room.
Dinner with an infant was an ordeal, but an ordeal Cliff and Ellen both relished,
one they had once thought they would never experience.

After Ellen washed the dishesxd Tommy settled in quietly, they got
around to watching the naeast. They were both too impatient to sit through the
usual reports of murder, politics and weather all interspersed seamlessly with ad:
and the latest viral baby panda video, so theyféastarded to the sports. At first
it seemed nor mal and boring, t he Gi
coverage. Then the announcer mentioned something about the first-upntoer
the Heisman Trophy being caught in a scandal in Alabama. It seemedBhst
Area clothing company offered free signature clothing items to the entire
championship Alabama varsity football team at a local store. Several of the
players showed up and went wild, almost pillaging the place. They were taking
skateboards and wates and all kinds of things besides the clothing they were
supposed to take. The announcer said such gifts to college players violate NCAA
rules and statesports briberystatutes. It endangers their amateur stafie
University of Alabama could béined a get recruiting sanctions, even be banned
from postseason play. The Heisman guy will probably be required to sit out at
least one game. That would probably kill any chance he had at the trophy next
year.

As the story ran, the video in the background stbtthe security camera
footage from the store as half a dozen players, all black, were yanking items off
the racks and stuffing them in large gym bags as the store owner, also black, triec
to stop them. There next to him was a,talim white man in a sti Michael
Deal,frantically pointing and shaking his head. Deal stood helpless as the players
carted out thousands of dollars worth of goolisen the announcer went on to
other stories.

Ellen called Sally Brolin immediately after the story. Brolin tokt that

it wasnot on the news, but she heard
hot el after t he i ncident . He tol d t
wasnot t he i ssue. He had t hreat enece

championship anthe Heisman Trophy chance, too. Bribing a college athlete is a
felony there. He was sitting in an Alabama jail at that very moment, she told
El'l en. You dondédt mess with Al abama f
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Ellen relayed this information to CIiff.
AFitting, 0o wens his only comm
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Chapter27
Four months later

Juan Santos sat in a Utah penitentiary awaiting the appeals process tc
work its way through the systerle 6 d known convicti on
they matched his DNA to a hair thoun
bl ood specks on his boots. The Swed:
GPS system had placed him in Cedar City at the time. The only question was
whether he would get the death penalty or life. He preferred the fortadnad
taken the stand apan s t his | awyerd6s advice anc
Brigham Sullivan with pleasure and would kill again if he got the chance.
Obligingly, they came back with a death penalty verdict in less than two hours.

iSo what ar e t h esked®llen whénithg catecame oap C
in their pillow talk.

iALl I death penalty cases are req
court. Heol | have to wait a year or

AfOoh, bad pun. o

i Good r e s VAhdt |,got thén wandgohDeal, togd she added,

stroking his beard gently with the back of her fingers.

AnWhat now? | heard he was convi c
have a rocket docket when you screw with their team. None of that federal due
process and handringingcrgp. 0

iSentencing was today. Five years
recommended against the mini mum sec.!
cases, the murderers, gaoangers and rapists. A pretty boy white guy like him,
aYankeenoless.Ca f ornia is up north to then

i Ho moly, 0 Cliff sai d, wi t h a | ow v
dollars from a rich corporation and you get a year faderalcountry club, but
give some poor black youngsters free clothing and you do five yearsrharid t
astatepen Only in America. o

AThatds not the best part . The |
He doesnodt have t twonpnoths. Thejudge acknbvwdedged n ¢
that the federal indictment was first and the feds are almost readyafoHe
granted Deal 6s | awyerés motion to
Assuming heos convicted tdb the statetime r [



BEHEAIME 203

concurently with his federal sentencButhes ai d heéd do t hat
actually sentered and had begun serving his federal sentence by that deadline.
Alabama is happy enough to have the feds pay for his incarceration for the next
five years. o

i Wh at happens i f the federal sen
sai d €éo

AiThe AUSAheabos dalmeeady been contac

to now the defense has been stalling
or get transferred or something. o
AiThe wusual. Stall unt il everyone
witnessesdieormmve, attorneys change. It 6s a
nOf course. But now heds going to
gui |l ty. He 6 s beggi ng tohger septences Pealuis o r

desperate to avoid that Alabama pen. The state pen in Alabamagls enough
as it is, but the inmates are Alabama football fans,Tthere could even be few
formerd B a ptayers in there, too. If he managed to make it out alive his Vespel
would be unsealed so bad hedd #@mwver
federal sentence. The AUSA is now holding out for seven years

Al ncredi bl e. o

AAnd you know how sl ow t hesenmrae s h
report done? Deal wonét be all owed t
and the prison systemdeter nes where to send him a
So even if he pleads guilty tomorro
lucky to actually be in custody by the deadline set by the Alabama judge. If he
i snoét , ités five yeaThsAUSAsaB hencgnhgetlithat C
processingexpedited, but will only do so if the victim, API, receives full
restitution. That és millions. Deal n
and cashes in all his 401Ks and IRAs from his previous corpfwiatand his
wi fe does the same. Deal really has

AnTwo defendants begging for maxi.
have to say. And Ligaya?o

AiShe rolling over, t oo. Sheds wor
and the sonv 0 nb& teportd . So far as we can tell
what Juan was goingtodot he mur der , I me an . She
years is plenty. Her kids wild.l be ta
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il tal ked to [To0 mCHéalifHensaya [WoahoSdilvan
sends his thanks to O0the fine peopl e
Tim says hebs fouddd some sort of pea

Al dm gl ad to hear iit. Victimso ri
in the criminal justice system That 6s r e al hgyfor. wope Mwe 0 r
Sullivan included you in those thank
Cliff squeezed her hand. AHe did,
i n St. George, Randy, and the detect

fiDond6t bterourkimod,eJuan might have gotten away scot free if
wehadnot c Yoargreidg savedrthe day.

AiNaw, you would have caught up wi

ANo, actwually, we might not. gt t
parents werdom in the Philippines. Matt seized his Ugassport, but we found
out later that he went to the Philippines Consulate and applied for a Philippines
passport. It was ready and waiting for him there the day we caughtimad
an appointment to pick it uhat Monday and a reservation for a flight to the
Philippines the next dayVe have an extradition treaty with them, but the judges
are so corruptherethat anyone can bribe their way out of custody. We only get
back about thirty percent of fugitives wiiee there, the ones who are native

Filipinos and can blend into the pop
Al o6l | have to send a |l etter of th
i MeBmmm, 0 El |l en sai d, dr owsi ness f |
Cliff waited to see if she was going to say any more but within atmsinu
he could tell from her breathing sh

whispered good night. It had been a very good night.
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Chapter28
Some weeks later

Tommy wasgetting too big for the Snugli nowat least for longer
distancesso the geocdiing had to bén places where the stroller could go.

iS o, Peter,o0o Cliff said to the te
get interested in geocaching?9

i Oh, |l &m i n Boy Scouts and they
trying to makeEagle ScoutThanks for lettingne come along with you guys. |
donot have my own GPS, or even a S m:
for my birthday. We can finally affo

Ell en watched as CIliff and Peter
Shedd b ertheywauld,fbut yoe never knew for sure. It had helped that
Peter had spotted that second geocache ten feet up in the tree. Neither she n
Cliff was really into tree climbing these days. Peter had practically skipped up
the tree and broughtitdowngm r et ur ned it after t he

Cliff had never beem Boy Scout. It had always seemed too goody
goody to him when he was a teen,
enthusiasm was infectious ar@liff wanted this exceptionally bright and
conffident kid to achieve his goal. i Wh a
Cliff asked, suddenlynore attuned to the fatihat not everyone was as fortunate
as he was financially.

AiMy dad died. aMfemoméara fhgacher.
Al thought nshdédewdBhkedomewhere, 0 (
never told me exactly what it was, but she said something about your mom
wor ki ng with her . gapdmplexedexplession fuuroweng hisa t
brow,
il sai d | knew her AfTrhoanh 6vgo rnko,t o t Ehl
as working with someone. 0

ASo how does yoWwr ChhomfkmsweHlI| | en

Peter | ooked over to EIll en for gu
my cases. Youbl| see her at the l&and.
at three. You can meet her. I'tdéds a |

Cliff shrugged and turned back to his GPS unit as they were coming up
on the next geocach&he foursome, if you counted Tommy, continued on the
path for three more geocaches befst@pping to eat the ice cream sandwiches
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Ellen had packed in the insulated bag with a blue ice block. Strollers were a pain
in some ways, but you could sure haul a lot of stuff in them.

iSo, Mr . Knowl es, o Pet er sai d, f
attak ed by a mountain |Iion and saved t
AiFor the fourth ti me, you can cal
Still, it was hard not to |i ke a ki

little too good to be true.

They finished the loop, finding two more geocaches on the way and
reached the trailhead aplamp middleaged worman wearingcut-off jeans and a
white eyeletblouse rushed up to meet them a few feet onto the path. Cliff did not
recognize her.

A El | en shed, anth gave dllen a big hug which Ellen returned.

The woman looked over at Cliff hesitantly and then back at Ellen. Ellen
nodded. The woman walkedover@ i f f and gave him a

Maureen. Thank you so muicthGs Ymeala rdto ntd¢

Nonpl ussed, Cliff replied, NnPet et
fun to introduce someone to geocachi
Ellen and rolled his eyedVhat is it with this wom&hii | t 6 s obvi ous

raised wel | . He told me your h u sRetern d
obvi ousl y ha sMigatagwelblay it omdhickh eruto i t s tr

At that Maureen burst into tears and grabbed Cliff around the middle in a
fierce hug. sfiol 6gmrsroyr.r yT halndkm y o u, t ha
sobbed.

Cliff was now seriously alarmed. Was the woman unhinged? He looked
over at Ellen again pleading for some guidance on how to handle it. Peter was
standing bywatching, obviously embarrassed at hismeoth6 s di spl avy .

AncCl i ff, I want you to meet my f
iMaureen Little. 0

Cli ff |l ooked at her and stild]l di d

iMaureen Smart, o0 EIll en added.

The shock of it hit Cliff like a mudslideMaureen looked up at him
fearfully andlet go. He saw her expression and then looked over at Peter who
was almost cringing novwCliff looked down at Maureen again, who had stepped
back. Then he lunged forward and grabbed her. His muscled arms encircled he
and squeezed in a crushing embracehsag shehad just given him, his chin
resting on the crown of her head.
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He lifted his headknoughto speak A Ma lr ed¥nu s houl di
sorry. Be proud. Téaswelldivhseyws. ri ght t o
Ellen pulled a small packet of Kleenex from tteoller bag. They were
all going to need it.
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